
 
Chief Executive   
Ian Davidson  
 
 

www.tendringdc.gov.uk 
Minicom: 01255 475566  

 
 
 
 
 

 
IAN DAVIDSON, CHIEF EXECUTIVE, TOWN HALL, STATION ROAD, CLACTON-ON-SEA, ESSEX, CO15 1SE.  TELEPHONE (01255) 686868 

 

PLANNING POLICY AND LOCAL PLAN 
COMMITTEE 

 
DATE: Tuesday, 18 April 2023 

TIME: 6.00 pm 

 

VENUE: Committee Room  - Town Hall, 
Station Road, Clacton-on-Sea, CO15 
1SE 

 

 
 
MEMBERSHIP: 
 

 

Councillor Turner (Chairman) 
Councillor Fairley (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Allen 
Councillor Bush 
Councillor Chapman BEM 
 

Councillor Chittock 
Councillor Fowler 
Councillor Nash 
Councillor Winfield 
 

 

AG
EN

D
A

Public Document Pack

http://www.tendringdc.gov.uk/


  
Most Council meetings are open to the public and press. The space for 
the public and press will be made available on a first come first served 
basis. Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the 
meeting date and the Council aims to publish Minutes within five working 
days of the meeting. Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large 
print, in Braille, or on disc, tape, or in other languages. 
 
This meeting will be filmed by the Council for live and/or subsequent 
broadcast on the Council’s website. The whole of the meeting will be 
filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items, and the 
footage will be on the website for up to 24 months (the Council retains 
one full year of recordings and the relevant proportion of the current 
Municipal Year). The Council will seek to avoid/minimise footage of 
members of the public in attendance at, or participating in, the meeting. 
In addition, the Council is obliged by law to allow members of the public 
to take photographs, film, audio record and report on the proceedings at 
public meetings. The Council will only seek to prevent this should it be 
undertaken in a disruptive or otherwise inappropriate manner. 
 
If you have any queries regarding webcasting or the recording of 
meetings by the public, please contact Ian Ford Email: 
iford@tendringdc.gov.uk or Telephone on 01255 686584. 
 
 

 

 
 DATE OF PUBLICATION: Thursday, 6 April 2023  

 



AGENDA 
 
  
1 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions  
 
 The Committee is asked to note any apologies for absence and substitutions received 

from Members. 
  

2 Minutes of the Last Meeting (Pages 1 - 12) 
 
 To confirm and sign as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting of the Committee, 

held on Monday 23 January 2023. 
  

3 Declarations of Interest  
 
 Councillors are invited to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Personal 

Interest, and the nature of it, in relation to any item on the agenda. 
  

4 Questions on Notice pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 38  
 
 Subject to providing two working days’ notice, a Member of the Committee may ask the 

Chairman of the Committee a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has 
powers or duties which affect the Tendring District and which falls within the terms of 
reference of the Committee. 
  

5 Public Speaking (Pages 13 - 16) 
 
 The Council’s Public Speaking Scheme for the Local Plan Committee gives the 

opportunity for members of the public and other interested parties/stakeholders to speak 
to the Council’s elected members on the Local Plan Committee on any specific agenda 
item to be considered at that public meeting.  
  

6 Report of the Director (Planning) - A.1 - Conservation Area Character Appraisal and 
Management Plans for Great Clacton, Lawford, Bradfield and Ramsey (Pages 17 - 
228) 

 
 To report to Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee another set of four ‘Conservation 

Area Appraisal and Management Plans’ prepared for the Council by Essex Place 
Services, and for the Committee to agree a recommendation to Cabinet that they be 
published for consultation. 
 

 
 



 
Date of the Next Meeting 
 
The next meeting of the Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee wil be held on a date 
to be decided in due course.. 
 

 
 

Information for Visitors 
 
 
 

FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 

There is no alarm test scheduled for this meeting.  In the event of an alarm sounding, please 
calmly make your way out of any of the fire exits in the room and follow the exit signs out of the 
building. 
 
Please heed the instructions given by any member of staff and they will assist you in leaving the 
building and direct you to the assembly point. 
 
Please do not re-enter the building until you are advised it is safe to do so by the relevant member 
of staff. 
 
Your calmness and assistance is greatly appreciated. 
 



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

23 January 2023  

 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE PLANNING POLICY AND LOCAL PLAN 
COMMITTEE, 

HELD ON MONDAY, 23RD JANUARY, 2023 AT 6.00 PM 
IN THE COMMITTEE ROOM, TOWN HALL, STATION ROAD, CLACTON-ON-SEA, 

CO15 1SE 
 
Present: Councillors Turner (Chairman), Fairley (Vice-Chairman), Allen, Bush, 

Chapman BEM and Fowler 
Also Present: Councillors Bray (Portfolio Holder for Planning), Casey (except item 

32), M E Stephenson (except item 32) and White (Chairman of the 
Planning Committee) 

In Attendance: Gary Guiver (Director (Planning)), Ian Ford (Committee Services 
Manager), Paul Woods (Planning Officer), Will Fuller (Planning 
Officer) and Emma Haward (Leadership Support Assistant) 

Also in 
Attendance: 

Hana Loftus (HAT Projects) 

 
 

24. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Chittock, Nash and 
Winfield. There were no substitutions. 
 

25. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 
It was RESOLVED that the Minutes of the last meeting of the Committee held on 10 
October 2022 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

26. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest made by Members on this occasion. 
 

27. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE PURSUANT TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 38  
 
No questions on notice pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 38 had been submitted on 
this occasion. 
 

28. PUBLIC SPEAKING  
 
Pursuant to the provisions of the Council’s public speaking scheme for the Planning 
Policy & Local Plan Committee, no member of the public had registered to ask at this 
meeting a question regarding the matters contained in the reports of the Director 
(Planning). 
 
No member of the public attended the meeting to make a statement on the matters 
contained in the reports of the Director (Planning). 
 

29. REPORT OF DIRECTOR (PLANNING) - A.1 - LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 
2023 - 2027  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

23 January 2023  

 

The Committee considered a report of the Director (Planning) (A.1) which sought its 
agreement to publish a new ‘Local Development Scheme’ (LDS) to update the proposed 
timetable for preparing planning documents, including the Local Plan Review and the 
Development Plan Document (DPD) for the Tendring Colchester Borders Garden 
Community (TCBGC). 
 
Members were aware that the LDS was designed to set out the process for preparing 
key planning documents. It included the anticipated timetable of consultation periods, 
examinations and expected dates of adoption for the Local Plan Review and the 
TCBGC DPD. Publishing the LDS ensured that stakeholders, including members of the 
public, Town and Parish Councils, landowners and developers, partner organisations 
and the Planning Inspectorate were kept aware of the timetable the Council was 
working to and could organise their time and resources accordingly. The LDS was 
usually updated to cover three-year cycles of Plan preparation. 
  
The Committee was informed that, following the adoption of Section 1 of the Local Plan 
in January 2021 and Section 2 in January 2022, the main focus of the LDS was now the 
5-year review of the Local Plan as well as the TCBGC DPD.  
 
It was reported that the review of the Local Plan would follow the same statutory 
process as the preparation of the Local Plan itself. A provisional timetable which 
covered the period 2023-2026 was proposed, which would enable the updated Local 
Plan to be examined by a Planning Inspector and adopted before January 2027. 
 
The Committee was advised that the timetable for the TCBGC DPD had also been 
updated, reflecting the stages that had now been completed to date and the revised 
timescale for the subsequent steps, with adoption of that document anticipated to occur 
in the winter of 2023/24. 
 
The LDS also included broad timescales for the following Supplementary Planning 
Documents and Neighbourhood Plans: 
 

 Hartley Gardens SPD 
 Jaywick Sands Design SPD 
 Open Space SPD 
 Climate Change SPD 
 Elmstead Market Neighbourhood Plan and Neighbourhood Development Order 
 Ardleigh Neighbourhood Plan 
 Brightlingsea Neighbourhood Plan 
 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule 

 
During the consideration of this item the Chairman extended an invitation to the 
Planning Portfolio Holder (Councillor Bray) and the Chairman of the Planning Committee 
(Councillor White) (both present at the meeting) to address the Committee. 
 
Members requested the Director (Planning) to initiate, as soon as practicable, reviews of 
the following matters:- 
 
Walton-on-the-Naze Regeneration Framework; and 
Haven Gateway Watercycle Study. 
 

Page 2



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

23 January 2023  

 

Having considered and discussed all of the information contained in the Officer report 
(A.1):- 
 
It was moved by Councillor Bush, seconded by Councillor Fairley and:- 
 
RESOLVED that the updated Local Development Scheme 2023-2027, as attached as 
Appendix 1 to item A.1 of the Report of the Director (Planning), be approved for 
publication on the Council’s website. 
 

30. REPORT OF DIRECTOR (PLANNING) - A.2 - JAYWICK SANDS PLACE PLAN 
CONSULTATION REPORT  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director (Planning) (A.2) which sought its 
comments on the initial consultation in relation to the Jaywick Sands Place Plan which 
would inform the preparation of a first proper version of the Place Plan for further 
consultation and adoption as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 
 
Members recalled that the purpose of the Place Plan was to provide a long-term 
strategy for the regeneration of Jaywick Sands. As part of producing the regeneration 
strategy, a series of public consultation events had taken place from 5 September 2022 
to 27 October 2022. 
 
The Committee was informed that the feedback had shown showed that people 
appreciated the beach and sense of community and the character and uniqueness of 
the community (including the built form). The residents felt that derelict houses and plots 
should be demolished and used for new functions and also wanted improvement and 
maintenance of the public realm, including dealing with fly-tipping, potholes and 
maintaining the green/open space and street lighting. There was strong support from for 
making Brooklands a one-way street if resident parking issues could be solved. Most 
owners wanted to make improvements to their properties but requested help to do so. 
Some renters wanted to move elsewhere, others wanted to stay in Jaywick Sands. 
There was more support for building new homes on vacant/derelict plots than on 
greenfield land.  
 
However, concerns had been expressed by residents about the design of new homes, 
particularly in relation to disabled access. The responses were divided on whether flood 
risk was a concern with over half the respondents stating they would not move away 
from Jaywick Sands, or were otherwise unsure, even if flooding was more common. 
 
Most respondents had identified a lack of shops and services locally, with the provision 
of a small supermarket being the most popular suggestion for additional shops, followed 
by the need for healthcare. 
 
Importantly, the Environment Agency had commented that it would not support any 
strategy that would lead to a net increase in population. For example, any new housing 
off Lotus Way would, in their view, need to rehouse existing residents. However, the 
Environment Agency did support the replacement dwellings policy as set out in the 
Council’s consultation draft Jaywick Sands Design Guide SPD. The Environment 
Agency’s position, if upheld, would have a significant impact on the direction of the 
Place Plan and how much new development could take place.   
 

Page 3



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

23 January 2023  

 

Members were advised that all comments received would be considered in producing a 
first proper version of a Place Plan, which would itself, be the subject of consultation and 
adoption as a SPD in due course. 
 
At the invitation of the Chairman, the Planning Portfolio Holder (Councillor Bray) and the 
Chairman of the Planning Committee (Councillor White) addressed the Committee on 
the subject matter of this item.  
 
Having considered and discussed all of the information contained in the Officer report 
(A.2):- 
 
It was moved by Councillor Fairley, seconded by Councillor Chapman BEM and:- 
 
RESOLVED that the contents of this report be noted. 
 

31. REPORT OF DIRECTOR (PLANNING) - A.3 - JAYWICK SANDS DESIGN GUIDE 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director (Planning) (A.3) which:- 
 
(i) sought its comments on the Jaywick Sands Design Guide Supplementary Planning 

Document (SPD) Draft April 2022 consultation exercise; and  
 
(ii) sought its approval to recommend to Cabinet that the document be adopted with 

the proposed alterations. 
 

It was reported that the following feedback had been received during the consultation 
period:- 
 
Public and non-statutory bodies 
 
The comments from the public and non-statutory body response could be summarised 
as follows:- 
 
- Seafront development must include disabled access to the sea wall and 

promenade;  
- Designs of buildings should be flood proof and have aesthetic design in keeping 

with a seaside resort; 
- Consideration should be made to make the new properties wheelchair accessible 

allowing for appropriate access in the case of flooding; 
- 4 storey buildings are not conducive with a seaside town; 
- Building companies should install solar panels as standard; 
- Limited and in many cases impossible access for disabled people to local 

amenities, shops, dental surgeries and doctors;   
- Disabled access must be fully considered in the future; 
- Cycle parking – cycle garage, cycle hangars, security of cycling storage should be 

included; and 
- Developer contributions should be used towards improving the Jaywick-Clacton 

cycle route. 
 
Statutory consultees responses:- 
 

Page 4



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

23 January 2023  

 

 Affinity Water: no specific comments, welcome mention and continued consistent 
application of Policy PPL5: Water Conservation, Drainage and Sewerage from the 
Tendring Local Plan; 

 Coal Authority: no comments; 
 Historic England: no specific comments; 
 Marine Management Organisation: no specific comments, standard advice 

regarding the Coastal Concordat reiterated; 
 National Highways: no comments; and 
 Natural England: no specific comments. 
 Essex Police: no comment 
 
Essex County Fire and Rescue Service (ECFRS) had submitted a number of detailed 
comments, the key issues in relation to this document being that it noted that the design 
guide discussed and considered climate change over the longer term.  ECFRS agreed 
that climate change was a vital consideration due to the increased vulnerability in the 
Jaywick area and the possible range of impacts arising for vulnerable residents in the 
area from climate change. ECFRS supported engagement with communities. ECFRS 
also had advise consideration of:- 
 
- suitable principles in design to avoid deliberate fire setting;  
- road widths to be accessible whilst not impeding emergency service vehicle 

response  through safe access routes for fire appliances including room to 
manoeuvre (such as turning circles); 

- the inclusion of electric vehicle charging points is welcomed, however, the position 
of the charging points should be considered in relation to fire spread to properties in 
the event of a fire in an electric vehicle; 

- support the proposed provision of off street (on plot) parking;  
- the location of storage of refuse should consider the potential for fire spread in 

event of an accidental or deliberate fire within stored refuse. 
 
The NHS Suffolk and North East Integrated Care Board had supported the objectives of 
the SPD. However, they had made the following comments:-  
 
 The need to ensure the community is fully engaged in future plans, particularly, 

people impacted by inequalities; 
 NHS England will not support new health facilities within a flood risk zone, however, 

a health hub, possibly using community infrastructure, may be possible; 
 Significant new development of houses would require section 106 contributions to 

mitigate the impact on the local surgery. 
 
Essex County Council (ECC) was supportive of the document but had made a series of 
detailed comments and suggested changes to each section of the document as follows:- 
 
 Would like to see Local Plan policies referred to in each guidance section (Shaded 

box); 
 Introduction - Refer to Local Plan Policies PPL1  and PPL10; 
 Page 4 - Note that car and cycle parking standards are not ‘Essex County Council’ 

standards but are ‘Essex Parking Standards’; 
 Page 7 - Further define ‘High quality frontage’; 
 Page 29 – clarify that the Shoreline Management Plan is a government document 

and the responsibility of the Environment Agency; 

Page 5



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

23 January 2023  

 

 Page 32 – update reference to PPG (Planning Practice Guidance) 3 to reflect new 
PPG referencing; 

 Page 39 – clarify whether TDC seeks, or has sought, to withdraw permitted 
development rights; and 

 Page 41 - The introductory text to this section in the third paragraph should refer to 
ECC as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) responsible for surface water 
management. The Essex SuDS Design Guide should also be referenced. Include 
reference to the Essex Climate Action Commission (ECAC), which is a formal 
independent cross-party commission established in October 2019. The ECAC’s 
formal role is to identify ways where we can mitigate the effects of climate change, 
improve air quality, reduce waste across Essex and increase the amount of green 
infrastructure and biodiversity in the county; and explore how we attract investment 
in natural capital and low carbon growth. 

 
ECC’s comments had also suggested that the following requirements be included in the 
SPD:- 
 
 Development is built to the highest standards of energy efficiency, water efficiency 

and renewable energy generation; 
 All buildings are net zero carbon; 
 Proposals must demonstrate the application of the ‘energy hierarchy’ to reduce 

energy demand for heating, lighting, and cooling and minimise carbon dioxide 
emissions using an energy assessment tool proportional to the scale of the 
development; 

 Proposals must minimise carbon emissions associated with operational energy and 
construction, including materials; and 

 All buildings must be designed to reduce energy demand and maximise fabric 
energy efficiency including such measures as: building orientation; high levels of 
insulation of roofs, floors, and walls; maximising air tightness; and using solar gain 
through window/door orientation whilst avoiding overheating. 

 Section 7B: should state that all new development should incorporate SuDS 
(Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems) and have regard to the Essex SuDS Design 
Guide. Reference should be made to rainwater harvesting, grey-water recycling etc 
to mitigate surface water flood risk. Further, all minor developments should manage 
runoff off using porous surfaces or otherwise discharge from the site should be 
limited to 1-year greenfield rates or 1 l/s, whichever is greater. 

 Section 7C: ECC seek wording similar to the below to be included regarding green 
infrastructure. Proposals will be encouraged that seek to conserve, and where 
appropriate enhance the green infrastructure of Jaywick Sands, demonstrating how 
they:- 
  
- conserve and where appropriate enhance designated green spaces and/or 

create new green/open spaces where appropriate.  
- Improve the connectivity between wildlife areas and green spaces through green 

corridors and/or improvements to the Public Rights of Way (PRoW) and cycle 
and footpath networks.  

- enhance the visual characteristics and biodiversity of green spaces in close 
proximity to the development through biodiversity/environment net gain.  

- ensure their landscape schemes, layouts, access and public open space 
provision and other amenity requirements contribute to the connectivity, 
maintenance and improvement of the Green Infrastructure Network.  

Page 6



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

23 January 2023  

 

- take into consideration the principles of Sustainable Drainage (SuDS) and 
natural flood management techniques, which will enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems.  

- consider the multi-functional use and benefits of local green spaces as part of 
the Green Infrastructure network.  
 

The Environment Agency was supportive of the document but had in addition the 
following comments:- 
 
 Comments on the stated flood depths are from most recent modelling. Ensure 

source of modelling is included in notes; 
 Does not support any net increase in people living within the areas of Jaywick 

Sands within Flood Zone 3; 
 Appendix worked examples should mention flood resilient construction; and 
 Minor comments on referencing to updated Planning Practice Guidance and other 

minor wording changes (not substantive). 
 
The Committee was informed that the Council’s proposed response to the above 
comments was as follows:- 
 
Page/section 
ref 

Change Reason 

Page 4, Page 
37,  

Replace ‘Essex County Council Highways 
standards’ with ‘Essex Parking Standards’ 
throughout. 

Using correct 
terminology 
following comment 
from Essex County 
Council 

Page 7, 
section 2A 

Amended guidance on what a ‘high quality 
frontage 

Comment from 
Essex County 
Council 

Page 32 Change reference to Planning Practice 
Guidance 3 to Planning Practice Guidance: 
Flood Risk and Coastal Change and add 
hyperlink to 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-
and-coastal-change 

For accuracy 

Page 37 Change ‘car charging point’ to ‘electric car 
charging point’. 

For clarity following 
comment from 
Essex County 
Council 

Page 37 Change ‘Secure dedicated cycle storage’ 
to ‘Secure dedicated cycle storage, which 
could be in the form of a cycle hangar or 
cycle garage, and should include electric 
bike charging facilities’. 

Comment from 
Colchester Cycling 
Campaign 

Page 41 Third paragraph –reference added to 
Essex County Council as the Lead Local 

Comment from 
Essex County 

Page 7

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change


 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

23 January 2023  

 

Flood Authority (LLFA) responsible for 
surface water management. Included 
reference to the Essex Climate Action 
Commission  
(ECAC) 

Council 

Page 42 
section 7B 

Amendment to first guidance point to read       
‘…engineering mains drainage must be 
limited to 1-year greenfield rates, or 1 
litre/second, whichever is greater. Add 
guidance point to read ‘Development must 
have regard to the Essex SuDS Design 
Guide when designing sustainable 
drainage systems.’ Add guidance point to 
read ‘Development should incorporate 
rainwater harvesting and grey-water 
recycling where possible.’ 

Comment from 
Essex County 
Council 

Generally Many community members raised 
concerns about accessibility to properties 
with raised ground floors. Further guidance 
on this has been included, i.e. how to meet 
and interpret requirements of Part M of the 
Building Regulations and to require:  
- Internal stairs where required to access 
habitable space above a certain level.  
- Lift access for multi-family development 
(i.e. flats).  
- Design of external stairs to be non-slip 
and not to use metal handrails or steps. 

Community 
comments 

Generally EA provided further detailed data and flood 
levels for 0.5% AEP in text and diagrams 
have been updated accordingly. Source of 
modelling included in references. 

Comment from 
Environment 
Agency 

Generally Section 1 has been updated to clarify how 
guidance applies to development that 
results net increase and development that 
would result in no net increase. 

Comment from 
Environment 
Agency 
(response to EA 
request adapted to 
align with wider 
Place Plan 
strategy) 

Appendix Add reference to flood resilience 
construction to worked examples 

Comment from 
Environment 
Agency 

 
At the invitation of the Chairman, a local Ward Member for West Clacton & Jaywick 
Sands, Councillor Casey, addressed the Committee on this item. 

Page 8



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

23 January 2023  

 

During the consideration of this item the Chairman also extended an invitation to the 
Planning Portfolio Holder (Councillor Bray) and the Chairman of the Planning Committee 
(Councillor White) (both present at the meeting) to address the Committee. 
 
Having considered and discussed all of the information contained in the Officer report 
(A.3):- 
 
It was moved by Councillor Allen, seconded by Councillor Fowler and:- 
 
RESOLVED that the Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee – 
 
a) endorses the Jaywick Sands Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 

(SPD) with the Officers’ recommended alterations; and 
 
b) recommends to Cabinet that the SPD (forming Appendix 1 to item A.3 of the Report 

of the Director (Planning)) be adopted, subject to the fourth bullet point of guidance 
“2A: Landscape character and visual impact” being amended to read as follows:- 

 
“Visual separation between Tudor Estate and Village/Brooklands & Gardens should 
must be maintained.” 

 
c) further recommends to Cabinet that the Director (Planning) be authorised to make 

any necessary minor, or consequential, amendments to the SPD before the final 
adopted version is published. 

 
32. REPORT OF DIRECTOR (PLANNING) - A.4 - CONSERVATION AREA CHARACTER 

APPRAISAL AND MANAGEMENT PLAN: BRIGHTLINGSEA HALL AND ALL 
SAINTS CHURCH  
 
The Committee considered a comprehensive report of the Director (Planning) (A.4) 
which reported to it the Brightlingsea Hall and All Saints Church Conservation Area 
Appraisal and Management Plan prepared for the Council by Essex Place Services, and 
requested that the Committee agreed a recommendation to Cabinet that it be published 
for consultation purposes. 
 
Alterations to Boundaries 
 
The boundary currently included the listed church, its surrounding churchyard, and the 
Hall with historic barn complex which was now occupied by businesses. 
 
It was proposed that the area be extended to include the pair of early nineteenth century 
dwellings to the south of the area. They contributed positively to the historic character 
and appearance of the area. Their location and proximity to the road created a sense of 
a gateway for the Conservation Area. They were prominent in views towards the Church 
to the north-west. The building was red brick with details such as the flat headed arches 
at ground floor level, and single polychromatic diamond above the original central 
entrance. The simple but decorative detail added to the quality and character of the 
building and Conservation Area. Although some changes had occurred, such as the 
loss of original windows and roofing, and timber lean to extensions on both sides, the 
building still made a positive contribution. It was considered, therefore, that the 
Conservation Area and building would both benefit from inclusion within the boundary. 
 

Page 9



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

23 January 2023  

 

Designated Heritage Assets 
 
There was one designated heritage asset within the Brightlingsea Hall and All Saints 
Church Conservation Area, the Grade I Listed Church of All Saints (List UID: 1337182). 
 
This building had been listed due to its special architectural and historic interest under 
Section 1 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 
Proposed non-designated heritage assets 
 
Local listing was an important tool for local planning authorities to identify non-listed 
buildings and heritage assets which made a positive contribution to the locality. This 
Appraisal had identified heritage assets, which made a positive contribution to the 
Conservation Area and could be considered for local listing in the future. This list was 
not exhaustive, and further buildings could be identified as non-designated heritage 
assets through the planning application process. Buildings and features within the 
Conservation Area which were considered to be non-designated heritage assets 
included: 
 

 Brightlingsea Hall 
 All Saints Church Lych-gate 

 
Heritage at Risk 
 
The Grade I Church of All Saints was included on Historic England’s Heritage at Risk 
Register, as being in a ‘very bad’ condition and at immediate risk of further rapid 
deterioration or loss of fabric, with no solution agreed. As a key, landmark building of the 
Conservation Area, it was important that a solution was agreed to work towards taking 
this building off the register. 
 
Archaeology 
 
Throughout the Conservation Area there was the potential for a multitude of below-
ground heritage assets yet to be discovered. In general, the appraisal promoted a 
cautious approach to development which might disturb or destroy those assets. 
 
Assessment of significance 
 
A detailed assessment of significance of the Conservation Area had considered the 
following features: 
 

 Layout 
 Building materials and boundary treatments 
 Listed buildings and non-designated heritage assets 
 Other buildings 
 Landscaping and open spaces 
 Views 

 
Opportunities for Enhancement 
 

Page 10



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

23 January 2023  

 

This identified the issues facing the Conservation Area. A large number of the issues 
were common to all Conservation Areas throughout the District, but where they were 
unique, that was highlighted as follows:- 
 

 the Conservation Area could use better interpretation to complement that already in 
place within the Church building. 

 on-street parking detracted from the historic character of the Conservation Area. 
 the Conservation Area suffered from the loss of, or inappropriate use of, 

architectural detailing such as UPVC windows and doors, rainwater goods and 
external paintwork. 

 the public realm and green spaces could be better utilised. 
 
Management Proposals 
 
As outlined above, there were a wide range of issues facing this Conservation Area, 
many of which shared common themes with other Conservation Areas previously seen 
by the Committee. This section recommended management proposals, which 
addressed those issues in both the short and long term such as:- 
 
 the preparation a Local Heritage List of non-designated heritage assets was 

suggested for this Conservation Area.  
 the Council was encouraged to use its enforcement powers to prevent inappropriate 

development. 
 the monitoring of trees and additions to tree planting within public open space was 

recommended. 
 publishing guidance for homeowners and businesses in Conservation Areas could 

help owners identify appropriate alterations to their properties within Conservation 
Areas. 

 the timely renewal of these Conservation Area Appraisals could help to monitor 
change within the Conservation Areas more accurately. 

 further interpretation could help with legibility. 
 
Funding Opportunities 
 
 Heritage Lottery Fund 
 Section 106 Agreements 
 Partnership Schemes in Conservation Areas 
 
Having considered and discussed all of the information and advice contained in the 
Officer report and its appendices:- 
 
It was moved by Councillor Chapman BEM, seconded by Councillor Allen and:- 
 
RESOLVED that the Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee: 
 
a) endorses the new Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan for 

Brightlingsea Hall and All Saints Church (Appendix 1 to item A.4 of the Report of 
the Director (Planning)); 

 
b) recommends to Cabinet that the above document be published for consultation with 

the public and other interested parties; and 
 

Page 11



 Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee 
 

23 January 2023  

 

c) notes that Conservation Area Appraisals and Management Plans for the District’s 
remaining Conservation Areas will be brought before the Committee in due course 
and before the new financial year. 

  
 The meeting was declared closed at 8.00 pm  
  

 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 12



 

PUBLIC SPEAKING SCHEME – PLANNING POLICY & LOCAL PLAN 

COMMITTEE  

JANUARY 2016 

 

GENERAL 

The Public Speaking Scheme (“the Scheme”) is made pursuant to Council Procedure 

Rule 40 and gives the opportunity for a member of the public and other interested 

parties/stakeholders to speak to the Council’s elected members on the Planning Policy 

& Local Plan Committee on any specific agenda item to be considered at that public 

meeting. 

The Scheme covers both questions and statements to the Committee on a particular 

agenda item.  Any individual wishing to speak must contact Committee Services (see 

details below). 

NOTICE OF QUESTION 

If an individual wishes to ask a question, at the Planning Policy & Local Plan 

Committee meeting, prior notification of that question must be received.  The principle 

is to provide the Chairman (or an Officer, if the Chairman decides appropriate) the 

ability to fully answer questions, which have been received in advance. 

Notice of a question is received by delivering it in writing or by email to 

Committee Services on democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk, by midday on 

Thursday 13 April 2023. 

At the meeting, you will be given an opportunity to read out your question to the 

Committee and an answer will be provided.  Supplementary questions are not 

permitted and there is no debate by the Committee at this stage. 

STATEMENTS 

Advance notification of the content of a statement on specific agenda items is not 

required, but to assist the running of the agenda, notification of wishing to speak should 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5

mailto:democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk


be given prior to the meeting.  Please contact Committee Services (email 

democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk or telephone 01255 686584). 

NUMBER AND TIMING OF QUESTIONS 

At any Planning Policy & Local Plan Committee meeting an individual is limited to 

asking one question or making a statement per agenda item.  On each agenda item, 

no public speaker may speak for longer than three minutes. 

Consistent with the Council Procedure Rules, the time allocated for receiving and 

disposing of questions shall be a maximum 45 minutes.  Any question not disposed of 

at the end of this time shall be the subject of a written response, and published with 

the minutes of the meeting. 

SCOPE OF STATEMENTS OR QUESTIONS 

Please be straightforward and concise and keep your comments to the content 

of the agenda item.  Please be courteous and do not make personal remarks.  

You may wish to come to the meeting with a written statement of exactly what 

you wish to say or read out, having checked beforehand that it will not overrun 

the three minutes allowed.  

Any question or statement which is not directly related to an agenda item for that 

meeting of the Committee will be rejected.  For questions, any rejection will be 

communicated in advance of the meeting by Officers, and for statements made at the 

meeting, this will be confirmed by the Chairman. 

The Council also reserves its right to reject questions or statements if in its opinion the 

content is defamatory, frivolous or offensive or requires the disclosure of confidential 

or exempt information.  

PLANNING POLICY & LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE MEMBERS & POINTS OF 

CLARIFICATION 

No public speaker can be questioned by the Committee however, through the 

Chairman, relevant points of clarification arising out of the public speaking can be 

requested at the specific agenda item, before the debate commences.  Points of 

clarification can be given by Officers, with the Chairman’s permission. 

WHO DO I CONTACT FOR MORE INFORMATION 

The Council’s website will help you access documents (web: www.tendringdc.gov.uk) 

If you have a query with regard to public speaking, or wish to register to speak, please 

email democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk or telephone 01255 686584. 

If your query is in relation to the Local Plan, please contact: 

Page 14

mailto:democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk
http://www.tendringdc.gov.uk/
mailto:democraticservices@tendringdc.gov.uk


Tendring District Council, Planning Services, Town Hall, Station Road, Clacton-on-

Sea, Essex CO15 1SE Tel: 01255 686177 email: planning.policy@tendringdc.gov.uk 

Monitoring Officer, Tendring District Council, in consultation with Head of 
Planning and Chairman of the Planning Policy & Local Plan Committee  

(Council Procedure Rule 40)  

(January 2016) 

 

Page 15

mailto:planning.policy@tendringdc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
PLANNING POLICY AND LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE 

 
18 APRIL 2023 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR (PLANNING) 

 
A.1.  CONSERVATION AREA CHARACTER APPRAISAL AND MANAGEMENT PLANS FOR 

GREAT CLACTON, LAWFORD, BRADFIELD AND RAMSEY  
(Report prepared by William Fuller) 

 
PART 1 – KEY INFORMATION 
 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

To report to Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee another set of four ‘Conservation Area 

Appraisal and Management Plans’ prepared for the Council by Essex Place Services, and for the 

Committee to agree a recommendation to Cabinet that they be published for consultation.  

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

As Members will recall, Brightlingsea Hall and All Saints Church Conservation Area Appraisal was 

considered at this Committee in January 2023 where a decision was made to progress that appraisal 

to Cabinet and then to public consultation.  

 

This report asks Members to consider the next Conservation Area Appraisals of Great Clacton, 

Lawford, Bradfield and Ramsey. The Committee is asked to consider these appraisals and to agree 

a recommendation to Cabinet to publish them for consultation. 

 

The Conservation Area Appraisals are those of: 

 

 Great Clacton Conservation Area, 

 Lawford Conservation Area, 

 Bradfield Conservation Area, and, 

 Ramsey Conservation Area. 

 

Once these Appraisals have been considered at this Committee, there will only be three Appraisals 

left to assess. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That the Planning Policy and Local Plan Committee: 
 

a) endorses the new Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plans for Great 
Clacton (Appendix 1), Lawford (Appendix 2), Bradfield (Appendix 3) and Ramsey 
(Appendix 4) Conservation Areas; 

 Page 17

Agenda Item 6



b) recommends to Cabinet that the above documents (forming Appendices 1, 2, 3 and 4) 
be published for consultation with the public and other interested parties; and 
 

c) notes that Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plans for the District’s three 
remaining Conservation Areas will be brought before the Committee in due course. 
 

 
PART 2 – IMPLICATIONS OF THE DECISION 
 
DELIVERING PRIORITIES 
 

The Conservation Area Appraisals will support the Corporate Plan 2020-24 (aligned with the core 

themes of Tendring4Growth and Community Leadership) through delivery of interventions aimed at: 

 

 Delivering High Quality Services  

 Community Leadership Through Partnerships  

 Building Sustainable Communities for the Future  

 Strong Finances and Governance 

 A Growing and Inclusive Economy 

 

 
RESOURCES AND RISK 
 
Resources: TDC Officers are leading on this project with the input of Essex County Council Place 

Services under a service level agreement.  

Adoption of the Conservation Area Appraisals will assist in attracting external funding for heritage 

related activity in the District.  Potential sources of funding include: 

 National Heritage Lottery Fund 

 Section 106 Agreements  

 Partnership Schemes in Conservation Areas with Historic England 

Risks: The adoption of the Conservation Area Appraisals supports the Council’s duties to maintain 

and enhance heritage assets and so reduces the risk of the district’s heritage assets being 

diminished or lost. 

 

 
LEGAL 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), paragraph 185 states: 

  

“Plans should set out a positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the historic 
environment, including heritage assets most at risk through neglect, decay or other threats. This 
strategy should take into account: 
 
 (a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets, and  
 putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 

Page 18



 (b) the wider social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits that conservation of the 
 historic environment can bring; 
 
 (c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
 distinctiveness; and 
 
 (d) Opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic environment to the 
 character of a place.” 
 

Consideration of any legal implications of actions proposed in the strategy will be needed in due 

course.  

 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 

Crime and Disorder: Heritage assets are, unfortunately, vulnerable to crime. Having a strategy for 

promoting heritage assets in the district should contribute positively to their maintenance. 

 

Equality and Diversity: The recommendations in this report are aimed at benefitting all who live, 
shop, work and visit the District.  
 

Health Inequalities: There is a growing wealth of evidence that demonstrates the role heritage plays 

in improving mental wellbeing and physical health.  People who visit heritage sites reported higher 

life satisfaction and happiness scores, as well as lower anxiety (Department for Culture Media and 

Sport 2015).  Across Essex there are a number of schemes and organisations to encourage and 

support healthy activity, such as Active Essex and Healthy Life Essex. Tendring’s heritage provides 

a positive platform to encourage people to enjoy the outdoors and take positive steps for their 

personal health and wellbeing. Heritage Trails, for example, are already established in Harwich and 

Dovercourt, Frinton-on-Sea, Clacton- on-Sea, Jaywick Sands and Walton- on-the-Naze, they 

encourage walkers to take routes through the historic environment. Promoting these to new groups 

and partnering with healthy organisations can open heritage to new audiences and increase 

wellbeing. 

 

Area or Ward affected: All, with a focus on those where Conservation Areas are being 

reassessed. 

 

Consultation/Public Engagement: Members will recall that it was agreed at the October 

Committee meeting to send the first five Conservation Area Appraisals to public consultation. 

Officers are in negotiation with Place Services on the exact arrangements for this. It is anticipated 

that this will take place at the end of April – after the closure of the Tendring Colchester Borders 

Garden Community Garden Community Development Plan Document consultation – for a period of 

six weeks. 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 19



PART 3 – SUPPORTING INFORMATION  
 
BACKGROUND 
 

Members will recall that the Council’s Heritage Strategy was considered by the Local Plan and 

Planning Policy Committee on 29th October 2019. At that meeting it was resolved that the Committee 

noted the Strategy and comments made by Members at the meeting.  

 

On the 20th of March 2020 Cabinet agreed to formally adopt the Council’s Heritage Strategy. This 

Strategy contained a number of actions which were envisaged to be carried out by the Council and 

its partners throughout the lifetime of the Strategy. Two of these actions were for Officers to update 

Conservation Area Appraisals and prepare a ‘Local List’ of non-designated heritage assets within 

the District. 

 

After identifying the first twelve Conservation Areas to be assessed in 2021, Members then agreed 

the thirteenth Appraisal at Brightlingsea Hall in January of this year. 

 

Members are now presented with the next four draft Conservation Area Appraisals (Nos. 14, 15, 16 

and 17); 

 

 Great Clacton Conservation Area, 

 Lawford Conservation Area, 

 Bradfield Conservation Area and 

 Ramsey Conservation Area 

 

Officers intend to review the last three remaining Council’s Conservation Areas as soon as possible 
in the new Municipal Year.  
 

 
CONSERVATION AREA APPRAISALS 
 
Each of the Conservation Area Appraisals share a broadly similar structure. At the start of each 
Appraisal a section detailing the context and general character of the Conservation Area and the 
evolution of the Conservation Area is given. 
 
The following areas of assessment are specific to each Conservation Area so have their own section 
headings. 
 
Alterations To Boundaries 
 
At Great Clacton, to the south of the churchyard and east of the twentieth century vicarage, mid-
twentieth century housing has been augmented with a new development of further bungalows at the 
northern end of Nightingale Way, on previously undeveloped land. These are characterful in design 
and have been carefully detailed but are not of sufficient architectural quality to merit inclusion in the 
Conservation Area. It is also proposed to omit an area of unkempt scrubland directly fronting Valley 
Road and a tarmacked area behind this surrounding the Army Cadets’ building located off Valley 

Page 20



Road. The map on page 4 of the Appraisal shows the proposed amended Conservation Area 
boundary. 
 
For Lawford the proposed addition to the Conservation Area includes the Ogilvie Hall and early 
twentieth century social housing with some later infill development.  
 
The boundary of the Conservation Area shall be expanded eastwards along Wignall Street to include 
Nos. 11-16 Wignall Street on the southern side of the road. Together these buildings form a pleasing 
and uniform group on the approach to the historic core of Lawford. The buildings are of special 
historic interest and some architectural interest, representing a period of time when social housing 
was expanded in response to a post First World War national housing crisis.  
 
The boundary change would also include the 1909 Ogilvie Hall, which is in the Arts and Crafts style 
and plays a prominent role in the approach to the historic core of Lawford. 
 
At Bradfield it is proposed to revise the boundary to remove Old Hall House, Harwich Road, from the 
Conservation Area [Figure 4]. Built since the previous appraisal, Old Hall House [Figure 3] is not 
considered to reflect the prevailing character of the Conservation Area due to its construction date, 
massing, and appearance. 
 
Minor alterations are also proposed to the northern edge of the Conservation Area’s boundary to 
remove an outbuilding associated with Greenacres (a modern dwelling which is not within the 
Conservation Area boundary) on Station Road from within the Conservation Area. Other minor 
amendments are proposed to rationalise the Conservation Area boundary against existing plot 
boundaries. These are depicted on the map on the following page. 
 
At Ramsey the modern properties in Windmill Close have been excluded. The west boundary of the 
designation has been moved to the lane adjacent to White House Harm. Windmill Close, and the 
properties within it, are not considered to contribute to special interest nor do they form part of the 
historic settlement. 
 
A large portion of the Conservation Area has been removed to the south of the village. This area 
holds no architectural or historic interest in its own right and is better considered as part of the 
settlement’s setting. 
  
Three modern properties at the east of the Conservation Area have been removed from the 
designation. 
 
The junction of The Street, Main Road and Wrabness Road has been added. This confluence of 
roads, and the triangular junction, have been in place since at least the mid-nineteenth century and 
form the gateway to this part of the Conservation Area. Marsh View and Revans have also been 
incorporated into the extension of the designation here. Whilst altered, the buildings form part of the 
historic building stock and termination of the former village envelope. Revans was also formerly the 
village store and one of the commercial buildings located on this road junction. 
 
Other minor changes to the boundary have resulted from a tightening of the designation to take 
account of property boundaries which makes for more practical management of the designation. 
 
Designated Heritage Assets 
 

Page 21



The Appraisals make note of the listed buildings, scheduled monuments and registered parks and 
gardens in each Conservation Area. 
 
Proposed Non-designated heritage assets. 
 
Members will note that there is some overlap between these Appraisals and the Local List project 
which came before Members in October last year. Each of the Conservation Area Appraisals 
proposes a number of buildings to be considered on the Council’s Local List. 
 
These buildings have been identified as they are either considered to be good examples of their type 
or architectural style, are prominent local landmarks, demonstrate use of local materials or design 
features, or are connected to local historical events, activities or people, and are all relatively 
complete in their survival. 
 
At Great Clacton 
 

 11 North Road  
 17 North Road (The Great Clacton Surgery)  
 9 StJohn’s Road (Foxes Garden and Furniture Shop) 
 397 and 399OldRoad (Vacant shop and Liberal Democrats office)  
 395 Old Road  
 Former Public Convenience (Old Road, adjacent to The Ship public house)  
 406 and 404 Old Road  
 Old Mill Cottage, 402 Old Road  
 Eaglehurst, 6 Valley Road  
 Great Clacton Methodist Church and adjacent semi-detached cottages on Valley Road  
 17 Valley Road • Sudbury House, Nightingale Way (outside of the Conservation Area 

boundary)  
 

At Lawford 
 

 Hall Farm 
 Ogilvie Hall 
 The Old School, Church Hill 
 Woodman, Church Hill 
 Almshouses 
 11-16 Wignall Street 
 The Old Laundry 

 
At Bradfield 
 

 Bradfield Place 
 Strangers’ Home 
 The Church of St Lawrence Lychgate 

 
At Ramsey 
 

 The Castle Public House; 
 12-14 The Street (excluding Owl Cottage which is Grade II Listed); 

Page 22



 18 The Street (The Gables); 
 24-27 The Street; 
 The former Methodist Chapel; 
 Old Mill Cottage; 
 28-29 The Street (The Old Ramsey Cash Stores); 
 The Windmill House; and 
 Swan House. 

 
Heritage at Risk 
 
There are no buildings or features in the Great Clacton Conservation Area which are on Historic 
England’s Heritage at Risk Register. However, Grade II listed 383 Old Road appears to have been 
unoccupied for several years and is in a neglected state, thus this building could be considered at 
risk. Grade II listed Great Clacton Hall also appears to be unoccupied following the closure of the 
Abbey Care Home formerly on these premises, though appears to be in a reasonable state of 
external repair. 
 
At the time of writing in 2023, no buildings within the Lawford or Bradfield Conservation Areas feature 
on the national list of Heritage at Risk published by Historic England. 
 
There are no buildings or features in the Ramsey Conservation Area which are on Historic England’s 
Heritage at Risk Register. However, Grade II* listed Ramsey Windmill appears to have been 
unoccupied for several years and this building could be considered at risk. Given the condition of the 
Conservation Area, and the issues identified, this appraisal recommends the inclusion of Ramsey 
Conservation Area on Historic England’s Heritage at Risk Register. 
 
Archaeology 
 
Throughout these Conservation Areas there is the potential for a multitude of below-ground heritage 
assets yet to be discovered. In general, the appraisals promote a cautious approach to development, 
which might disturb or destroy these assets. 
 
Assessment of significance 
 
A detailed assessment of significance of each of the Conservation Areas is then presented. These 
Conservation Areas are split into distinct character areas. Each assessment considers the following 
features: 
 

 Layout 
 Building materials and boundary treatments 
 Listed buildings and non-designated heritage assets. 
 Other buildings 
 Landscaping and open spaces 
 Views 

 
Opportunities for Enhancement 
 

 At Great Clacton, due to its location, there are issues with traffic through the Conservation 
area 

Page 23



 All of the Conservation Areas would benefit from Interpretation of the historic features in the 
area 

 At Great Clacton there are a number of vacant buildings in the Conservation area 
 All areas suffer from loss of architectural detailing. 
 Gt Clacton and Lawford also have street furniture that requires attention and inappropriate 

signage. 
 Road surfacing is of poor quality particularly in Great Clacton 
 At Great Clacton and Bradfield there are areas of poorly kept public open space 
 All of the Conservation Areas suffer from inappropriate modern development 

 
Interestingly, in this section whilst considering Ramsey Conservation Area there is a like-for-like 
photographic study of views throughout the village.  
 
Management Proposals 
 

 Production of a list of local non-designated heritage assets 
 The council using Article 4 Directions and its enforcement powers within all Conservation 

Areas 
 Production of heritage guidance leaflets for residents and business owners 
 The Council should work closely with the Highways Authority to address street clutter and 

signage in Great Clacton and Lawford Conservation Areas 
 Bradfield would benefit from heritage interpretation within the Conservation Area. 

 
Funding Opportunities 
 

 Heritage lottery fund 

 S106 Agreements 

 Partnership Schemes in Conservation Areas 

 
 
CONCLUSION 
 

Taking into account the discussion had at this meeting, Members of the Planning Policy and Local 

Plan Committee are asked to recommend to Cabinet that the three Conservation Areas to be put to 

a six-week public consultation.  

 

 
APPENDICES 
Appendix 1 – Great Clacton Conservation Area Appraisal 

Appendix 2 – Lawford Conservation Area Appraisal 

Appendix 3 – Bradfield Conservation Area Appraisal 

Appendix 4 – Ramsey Conservation Area Appraisal 

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

None 

 

Page 24



Great Clacton Conservation Area
Character Appraisal and Management Plan
Client:
Tendring District Council

Date:
January 2023

P
age 25



22

Disclaimer

All reasonable efforts have been made to obtain permission for use of images within this report.  Materials and 
images used in this report which are subject to third party copyright or require reproduction permissions have 
been reproduced under licence from the copyright owner. This is except in the case of material or works of 
unknown authorship (as defined by the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988)  or the copyright holder is 
unknown after all reasonable effort has been made to seek licence to reproduce. 

All maps within this document are subject to copyright. © Crown copyright 2019 OS 100019602. You are permitted 
to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the 
data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Any person who wishes to apply to reproduce any part of this work or wishing to assert rights in relation to material 
which has been reproduced as work of unknown authorship in this document should contact Place Services at 
enquiries@placeservices.co.uk 

P
age 26



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 33

Contents

1. Introduction      5
1.1 Summary      5
1.2 Purpose of Appraisal    6
1.3 Planning Policy and Guidance   6
1.4 Designation of the Conservation Area  9
1.5 Proposed Boundary Revision   9 

2. Great Clacton Conservation Area  10
2.1  Context and General Character   10
2.2  Origin and Evolution    11
2.3 Designated Heritage Assets   25
2.4 Non-Designated Heritage Assets   26
2.5 Heritage at Risk     27
2.6 Archaeological Potential    27 

3.	 Assessment	of	Significance	 	 	 29
3.1 Summary      29
3.2	 Significance	of	buildings	 	 	 	 30
3.3 Character Analysis     32
3.4 Views       38
3.5 Setting of the Conservation Area    40 

4. Opportunities for Enhancement   42
4.1	 Road	Traffic	 	 	 	 	 	 42
4.2 Interpretation      42
4.3 Vacant Buildings     42
4.4 Loss of Architectural Details   43
4.5	 Public	Realm		 	 	 	 	 43
4.6 Unsympathetic additions    45
4.7 Inappropriate Modern Development  45
4.8	 Neutral	Contributors		 	 	 	 46 

5. Management Proposals    47
5.1 Positive Management    47
5.2 Positive Management: Longer Term  50
5.3 Funding Opportunities    52 

6. Appendices      53
6.1 Designated Heritage Assets   53
6.2	 Bibliography	 	 	 	 	 	 55
6.3 Legislation, Policy and Guidance   56
6.4 Glossary       57

P
age 27



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 44

Figure 1 Map showing Great Clacton Conservation Area (with proposed boundary changes)

P
age 28



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 55

1. Introduction

1.1 Summary

This Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan provides 
an overview of the Great Clacton Conservation Area, outlining its 
designation	history,	alterations	to	the	boundary,	and	a	description	
of	its	special	interest.	This	appraisal	also	considers	buildings,	green	
spaces	and	features	which	contribute	to	the	Conservation	Area’s	
character	and	appearance.	It	also	highlights	the	significance	of	
heritage	assets	within	the	Conservation	Area	and	the	contribution	
that these, along with their setting, make to its character. The 
understanding	of	significance	can	be	used	to	help	manage	future	
change.

Conservation	Area	designation	provides	broader	protection	than	the	
listing	of	individual	buildings	as	it	recognises	all	features	within	the	
area which form part of its character and appearance. This ensures 
that planning decisions take the enhancement and preservation of 
the area into consideration. 

Great	Clacton	Conservation	Area’s	significance	is	predominantly	
derived from its historic and architectural interest. Great Clacton is a 
settlement with early medieval origins. The twelfth century Grade I 
listed Church of St John the Baptist in the north of the Conservation 
Area would once have dominated the medieval village which 
developed	around	the	bishop’s	manor.	It	remains	an	important	
landmark today, and its churchyard provides a tranquil and important 
public	green	space.		The	architectural	interest	of	the	area	also	
derives	from	three	Grade	II	listed	timber	framed	and	plastered	public	
houses/former	inns	and	other	Grade	II	listed	buildings	on	St	John’s	
Road, Old Road and Valley Road.

Figure 2 The Grade II listed Queen’s Head former public house and The Plough on North Road

P
age 29



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 66

1.2 Purpose of Appraisal

This	document	is	to	be	used	as	a	baseline	to	inform	future	change,	
development and design with regard to the sensitivities of the 
Conservation Area and its unique character and appearance. 

The appraisal recognises designated and non-designated heritage 
assets	within	 the	Conservation	Area,	which	contribute	 to	 its	special	
interest, along with their setting. It also recognises non-designated 
heritage assets within the setting of the Conservation Area which 
contribute	to	its	special	interest.		It	considers	how	the	area	developed,	
in	terms	of	its	building	styles,	forms,	materials,	scale,	density,	roads,	
open spaces, views, landscape, landmarks, and topography. These 
qualities are used to assess the key characteristics of the area, 
highlighting the potential impact future developments may have upon 
the	significance	of	heritage	assets	and	the	character	of	Great	Clacton.	
This	assessment	is	based	on	information	derived	from	documentary	
research and analysis of the area itself, as well as a review of the 
previous	Conservation	Area	Appraisal	published	in	2006.

This appraisal enhances understanding of the Conservation Area and 
its development, informing future design. Applications that demonstrate 
an understanding of the character of a Conservation Area are more 
likely to produce appropriate designs and positive outcomes for agents 
and their clients. 

It is expected that applications for planning permission will also consult 
and	follow	the	best	practice	guidance	outlined	in	Section	6.2.	

1.3 Planning Policy and Guidance

The legislative framework for the conservation and enhancement of 
Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings is set out in the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (HMSO 1990). In 
particular, Section 69 of this act requires Local Planning Authorities to 
designate	areas	which	they	consider	to	be	of	architectural	or	historic	
interest as Conservation Areas, and Section 72 requires that special 
attention	should	be	paid	to	ensuring	that	the	character	and	appearance	
of these areas is preserved or enhanced. Section 71 also requires the 
Local	Planning	Authority	 to	 formulate	and	publish	proposals	 for	 the	
preservation and enhancement of these areas. 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) highlights good 
design	as	one	of	twelve	core	principals	of	sustainable	development.	
Sustainable	 development	 relies	 on	 sympathetic	 design,	 achieved	
through an understanding of context: the immediate and larger 
character of the area in which new development is sited.   

National planning policy in relation to the conservation and 
enhancement of heritage assets is outlined in Chapter 16 of the 
Government’s	National	Planning	Policy	Framework	 (Department	 for	
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, 2021).

This	 assessment	 follows	 best	 practice	 guidance,	 including	 Historic	
England’s	revised	Historic England Advice Note 1: Conservation Area 
Appraisal, Designation and Management (2019) and Good Practice 
Advice in Planning 3: The Setting of Heritage Assets (2017). 

P
age 30



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 77

The Great Clacton Conservation Area is located within Tendring 
District. Local planning policy is set out in the Tendring District Local 
Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond Section 2 (2022). Policies which are 
relevant to the historic environment include:

Policy SPL 3 - Sustainable Design 
Policy PP 8 - Tourism 
Policy PPL 3 - The Rural Landscape 
Policy PPL 7 - Archaeology 
Policy PPL 8 - Conservation Areas
Policy PPL 9 - Listed Buildings 
Policy PPL 10 - Renewable energy generation and energy efficiency 

The Conservation Area is located within the Clacton-on-Sea 
Development Boundary.

Figure 3 Buildings on St John’s Road (looking west)

P
age 31



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 88

Figure 4  Aerial view of the Great Clacton Conservation Area showing it in its wider context

P
age 32



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 99

1.4 Designation of the Conservation Area

Great	 Clacton	 Conservation	 Area	 was	 first	 designated	 in	 1983.	 A	
Conservation	 Character	 Area	 Appraisal	 was	 adopted	 by	 Tendring	
District Council in March 2006, derived from a document produced for 
the	Council	by	consultants	Smith	Stuart	Reynolds	in	2001.	

1.5 Proposed Boundary Revision

The 2006 Appraisal included suggested changes to the Conservation 
Area	boundary	and	proposed	Article	4	Directions	but	these	were	not	
implemented,	and	the	boundary	remained	as	designated	in	1983.	The	
2006	suggestions	for	boundary	revisions	were	reviewed	as	part	of	this	
appraisal,	and	changes	to	the	boundary	of	the	Conservation	Area	are	
proposed in light of these, and as the result of new development which 
has taken place since 2006.

To the south of the churchyard and east of the twentieth century vicarage, 
mid-twentieth	 century	 housing	 has	 been	 augmented	 with	 a	 new	
development	of	further	bungalows	at	the	northern	end	of	Nightingale	
Way, on previously undeveloped land. These are characterful in design 
and	have	been	carefully	detailed	but	are	not	of	sufficient	architectural	
quality to merit inclusion in the Conservation Area. It is also proposed 
to	omit	an	area	of	unkempt	scrubland	directly	fronting	Valley	Road	and	
a	tarmacked	area	behind	this	surrounding	the	Army	Cadets’	building	
located	off	Valley	Road.	The	map	on	page	4	of	this	report	shows	the	
proposed	amended	Conservation	Area	boundary.

P
age 33



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1010

2. Great Clacton Conservation Area

2.1  Context and General Character

Great Clacton is situated in the south of Tendring District, and 
forms part of the larger coastal town of Clacton-on-Sea. The Great 
Clacton	Conservation	Area	is	relatively	small,	urban	in	character	and	
represents the historic core of the village settlement which developed 
around	the	medieval	church	and	nearby	manor	house	and	along	the	
main roads: Old Road (to the south, formerly known as Brook Street)1, 
St	John’s	Road	(to	the	west),	Valley	Road	(which	runs	east	to	west,	
formerly known as Holland Road)2 and North Road (to the north). 

Modern	 commercial	 development	 on	 North	 Road	 just	 beyond	 the	
Conservation	Area	boundary	and	on	St	John’s	Road	has	eroded	the	
historic	village	character	of	 the	Conservation	Area.	There	has	been	
more sympathetic new housing introduced on Old Road and to the 
rear	of	 the	street	 fronting	buildings.	Road	 traffic	through	 the	area	 is	
heavy and constant, which detracts from how the area is experienced 
and	from	the	setting	of	all	the	street	fronting	listed	buildings.

1	 It	was	still	shown	as	such	on	the	25	inch	Ordnance	Survey	(OS)	map	published	in	1923.
2	 The	name	Valley	Road	first	appears	on	the	1923	OS	map.

Figure 5 Approach to the medieval church

P
age 34



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1111

2.2  Origin and Evolution

The following section provides an overview of the history of the 
Conservation Area its environs.

Prehistory (-500000 – 43)

Relatively	little	is	known	about	the	prehistoric	archaeology	within	the	
Great Clacton Conservation Area however the prehistory of the wider 
area	is	well	documented.	The	cliffs	and	foreshore	at	Clacton-on-Sea	
have	 yielded	 abundant	 animal	 and	 plant	 fossil	 remains,	 as	well	 as	
extensive	Palaeolithic	deposits	of	struck	flints	which	gave	its	name	to	
the	 ‘Clactonian’	flint	 industry.	The	numerous	 river	valleys	 that	cross	
the	Tendring	area	and	the	coast	would	have	been	especially	favoured	
in	providing	a	predictable	source	of	 food	 (from	hunting	and	fishing)	
and water, as well as a means of transport and communication in 
the prehistoric period. The free-draining sand and gravel soils were 
preferable	 locations	 for	 settlement	 and	agriculture	 and	 coincidently,	
also	 provide	 favourable	 conditions	 for	 the	 formation	 of	 cropmark	
features,	where	below	ground	archaeological	features	show	as	a	visible	
trace	on	the	surface	and	can	be	recorded	through	aerial	photography.	
Recorded cropmark features suggest that there are numerous Neolithic 
and	Bronze	Age	monuments	across	the	Tendring	District	with	notable	
examples at St Osyth to the west. Some material remains relating to 
ritual	activity	have	been	recovered	from	the	surrounding	area	from	the	
Neolithic to Iron Age period though none from within the Conservation 
Area. 

Roman (43 – 410)

The Romano-British occupation of the Great Clacton area is also 
relatively unknown with only a single Roman coin recovered north of 
the	Conservation	Area.	Roman	brick	and	limestone	are	incorporated	
into	 the	 walls	 of	 the	 parish	 church,	 however,	 and	 further	 building	
material recovered in the area surrounding the church could indicate 
the	material	came	from	a	nearby	source.	

Early Medieval (410 – 1066)

Great and Little Clacton are ancient parishes that originated as a single 
estate in the Anglo-Saxon period. For taxation purposes they were 
treated as a single unit until the mid-sixteenth century although they 
each	had	their	own	parish	church	by	the	twelfth	century.	It	is	thought	
likely that in the tenth century or earlier, Great and Little Clacton and 
part	of	what	was	to	become	known	as	St	Osyth	made	up	a	large	Anglo-
Saxon	estate	owned	by	St	Paul’s	Cathedral.	By	around	1000	Clacton	
was	a	separate	manor	owned	by	the	Bishop	of	London.3 The name 
Clacton	 is	 thought	 to	be	Anglo-Saxon	 in	origin,	simply	translated	as	
‘the	village	of	Clacc’s	people’	however	Great	Clacton	is	not	separately	
documented until the medieval period and the location of the Anglo-
Saxon settlement is unknown. Though not accurately located, the 
remains	of	a	possible	high-status	burial	suggests	there	was	settlement	
3	 Ed.	Christopher	C.	Thornton,	Herbert	Eiden,	VCH	Essex,	Volume	XI	-	Clacton,	Walton	and	
Frinton: North-East Essex Seaside Resorts (2011), p.226.

P
age 35



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1212

in the Anglo-Saxon period close to or within the Conservation Area. 
It	 is	 thought	 that	Clacton	Hall	was	probably	established	prior	 to	 the	
Norman conquest of 1066. The exact relationship of the medieval 
manor	house	to	eighteenth	century	Great	Clacton	Hall	is	unclear	but	
there	was	certainly	a	house	on	the	present	site	by	1656.4 Outside of 
the Conservation Area, the less important manor houses including 
Cann	Hall	in	the	north-west	corner	of	Great	Clacton	and	a	sub-manor	
of	Colbaynes	Hall	located	near	the	western	boundary	were	medieval	
in	origin	but	date	to	after	the	conquest.5

From the early medieval period to the late nineteenth century most of 
the	land	in	the	parishes	of	Little	and	Great	Clacton	was	held	by	the	
manor of Great and Little Clacton, and so their landownership and 
economies were linked for much of their history. Both parishes had 
similar agricultural economies until the seaside resort of Clacton-on-
Sea was developed in the 1870s, although Great Clacton developed 
a	small	fishing	industry	in	the	medieval	period.6 There was a landing 
place,	one	ship,	a	master	and	four	mariners	and	fishermen	living	at	
Great Clacton in 1565.7 

4	 Ibid.,	p.242.
5	 Ibid.,	p.234.	Timber	forming	part	of	Cann	Hall	has	been	dated	to	1512	using	dendrochronolo-
gy. Roger Kennell, The Place-Names of Great Clacton (Essex Society for Archaeology & History, 2016 
(e-book).
6	 Ed.	Christopher	C.	Thornton,	Herbert	Eiden,	VCH	Essex,	Volume	XI	-	Clacton,	Walton	and	
Frinton: North-East Essex Seaside Resorts (2011), p.234.
7	 Ibid.,	p.258.

Although no major highways passed through Great Clacton, the 
roads to Little Clacton (to the north) St Osyth (to the west) and Little 
Holland	(to	the	east)	are	presumed	to	be	ancient	and	were	significant	
to the development of Great Clacton.8 

Medieval (1066 – 1540)

Large areas of local woodland may have survived until the eleventh 
century	but	appear	to	have	been	cleared	by	the	later	medieval	period.	
The manor of Great and Little Clacton had two parks including one 
in the south-west of Great Clacton known as Alton Park, the latter 
recorded in 1313 and which descended with Clacton Manor until the 
mid-seventeenth century.9 The Conservation Area encompasses the 
historic village core, clustered around an open area formed where 
the roads joined and crossed each other. The scale and grandeur 
of the Norman parish church gives some indication of the relative 
importance of the settlement in the medieval period. The village 
conforms to a typical medieval settlement pattern where the church 
and manorial hall are located in close proximity. The development of 
a	village	seems	to	have	been	encouraged	by	the	bishops	of	London	
in	the	fifteenth	century	and	by	1444	small	parcels	of	land	belonging	
to	 the	manor	 (demesne	 land),	 probably	 near	 the	 centre	 of	Great	
Clacton,	were	being	leased	to	tenants,	apparently	as	building	plots.10  
8	 Ibid.,	p.230.
9	 Ibid.,	pp.228	and	247.
10	 Ibid.,	p.235.

P
age 36



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1313

In	 the	mid-fifteenth	 century	 there	 are	 records	 of	 rents	 from	 several	
parcels of land and new houses which included a cottage at the church 
gate, land in the Hall yard, land on the west side of the churchyard and 
a	parcel	of	land	between	a	smithy	and	the	lord’s	garden.11 

The Church of St John the Baptist is the only medieval monument to 
survive within the Conservation Area. In the medieval period it was 
dedicated to St Nicholas rather than St John, the latter dedication 
first	 recorded	 in	 the	mid-eighteenth	 century.12 A chapel to the north 
of	the	church	appears	to	have	been	built	at	the	time	of	the	church’s	
construction	or	soon	after,	possibly	for	private	use	by	the	lord	of	the	
manor.	The	three	bay	church	nave	with	round	arch	headed	windows	is	
the	main	survival	from	the	twelfth	century.	Inside	the	building	a	piscina	
survives from the fourteenth century and the octagonal font dates to 
the	 fifteenth	 century.	The	 nave	 roof	 is	 of	 a	 form	 common	 between	
around	1350	and	1450.	The	west	 tower	was	added	 in	 the	fifteenth	
century	and	superseded	an	earlier	timber	framed	belfry.13

11	 Ibid.,	p.235.
12	 Ibid.,	p.277.
13	 Ibid.,	p.281.

Figure 6 Medieval Church of St John the Baptist

P
age 37



1414

Figure 7 Chapman and Andre map of 1777. The map depicts the Church of St John the Baptist with its parsonage to the south and Great Clacton Hall to the north and the Ship Inn can be seen directly to the 
south of the main road junction.

P
age 38



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1515

In 1507, the vicarage lay to the east of a road near Clacton Hall, 
thought	 probably	 to	 be	 the	 site	 of	 the	 nineteenth	 century	 vicarage	
which was demolished and replaced (on the same site) with the 
current vicarage in 1974. In 1810 the vicarage was noted to have a 
brick	front	with	lath	and	plaster	rear	and	side	elevations,	and	to	have	
a	 thatched	 and	weatherboarded	 stable.14 The Parsonage is clearly 
marked	on	Chapman	and	André’s	map	of	Essex	(1777),	and	shown	
as the vicarage from the 1st edition OS map of 1876 onwards. 

Great	Clacton	had	no	proper	harbour	but	due	to	its	proximity	to	the	coast	
it is thought that from the medieval period and later, communication 
with	London	and	other	parts	of	Essex	may	have	been	by	sea	with	a	
landing	place	recorded	at	Conyber	 in	1565	(the	 location	of	which	 is	
unknown).15

Post	Medieval	(1540	–	1901)

In	1545	Clacton	manor	was	exchanged	by	the	church	for	land	owned	
by	the	Crown	in	Worcestershire,	Herefordshire	and	Gloucestershire.	
In 1548 the manor was granted to Princess Mary (later Queen) and 
in	1553	to	Thomas	Darcy,	1st	Baron	of	Chiche	(which	became	known	
as St Osyth) and passed through successive generations of the same 
family until the mid-nineteenth century when it passed to the Trustees 
of W F Nassau (died 1857), who were still in possession in the 1930s.16  

14	 Ibid.,	p.277.
15	 Ibid.,	p.230.
16	 Ibid.,	p.241.

Christopher	Saxton’s	Map	of	Essex	(1576)	shows	the	church	at	Great	
Clacton	but	generally	provides	 little	detail	 for	 the	county	other	 than	
some of the larger mansions and certain estates which are shown as 
enclosed	 (or	 impaled)	 indicating	private	 land	belonging	 to	someone	
with	significant	wealth.

The	 earliest	 surviving	 buildings	 in	 the	 Conservation	 Area	 include	
the	timber	framed	Ship	Inn,	and	the	buildings	at	403	Old	Road	(The	
Maltings)	and	1-3	St	 John’s	Road	which	abut	one	another	and	are	
thought to date to the sixteenth century or earlier. The former was 
converted to a shop in the 1980s. The latter was a single house called 
Turland in the 1950s.17	The	Ship	Inn	was	probably	originally	built	as	a	
dwelling	but	was	recorded	as	an	inn	by	the	later	1700s.18 Smuggling 
was prevalent along the isolated local coast in the eighteenth and 
nineteenth	 centuries.	There	 is	 reputed	 to	 be	 a	 bricked-up	 entrance	
to a tunnel in the cellar of The Ship which was part of a network used 
to	hide	smuggled	contraband	before	it	was	moved	to	Colchester	and	
London.	Other	tunnels	were	also	said	to	connect	the	Queen’s	Head	
Hotel to the house called Three Chimneys opposite, and Great Clacton 
Hall to the church.19

17	 Ibid.,	p.238.
18	 Ibid.,	p.238.
19 https://www.clactonhistory.co.uk/smuggling-tales-great-clacton/

P
age 39



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1616

Forge Cottage on Valley Road, originally a hall house and which 
became	 the	 local	 Smithy,	 has	 also	 been	 dated	 to	 the	 sixteenth	
century or earlier and has a later outshot to the rear. Of the same 
date	is	The	Queen’s	Head	on	St	John’s	Road	and	the	corner	of	North	
Road	which	was	originally	built	as	a	dwelling,20 and extended in the 
eighteenth	century.	By	1704,	it	had	a	brewhouse	and	a	stable	yard.21 
The	brewhouse	is	likely	to	have	been	what	is	now	The	Plough	to	the	
20	 VCH	Essex	Volume	XI,	p.259.
21	 Ibid.,	p.259.

rear	 of	 the	 hotel	 which	 has	 been	 dated	
to circa 1700.22  Both The Ship and the 
Queen’s	 Head	were	 licenced	 from	 1769,	
and	 The	 Ship	 was	 acquired	 by	 John	
Cobbold	of	Ipswich	in	1800,	passing	to	his	
descendants	and	Cobbold’s	brewery,	who	
owned it through the nineteenth century 
and	later	also	acquired	the	Queen’s	Head.23

Number	 383	 Old	 Road	 (also	 known	 as	
Brook	Villa)	has	been	dated	to	circa	1679	
and	was	built	as	a	farmhouse	possibly	by	
its	first	known	owner	William	Angier	(died	
1671).24 It is reported that in 1832, Revenue 
Officers	came	 to	 the	house	searching	 for	
smuggled goods.25 

The Mansion House which was located in the centre of Great Clacton 
before	it	was	demolished	in	the	1960s	was	either	built	or	encased	in	
brick	in	around	1720.26

22	 Ibid.,	p.238.	and	James	Bettley	and	Nikolaus	Pevsner,	Essex	(Pevsner	Architectural	Guides:	
Buildings of England), (Yale University Press) 2007, p.401.
23	 VCH	Essex	Volume	XI,	pp.259-260.
24	 Ibid.,	p.240.
25 https://www.clactonhistory.co.uk/smuggling-tales-great-clacton/
26	 VCH	Essex	Volume	XI,	p.237.

Figure 8 Grade II listed Forge Cottage on Valley Road which has been dated to the sixteenth century or earlier

Figure 9 Portrait of John Cobbold of 
Ipswich who acquired the Ship Inn in 
1800, by George Frost (1820) (Ipswich 
Borough Council collection)

P
age 40



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1717

Great	Clacton	Hall	was	built	or	rebuilt	in	the	eighteenth	century	for	the	
Schutz	 family	who	bought	 the	house	and	demesne	 lands	 in	1717.27 
It	 is	a	 two-storey	 timber	 framed	and	plastered	house	of	 three	bays	
with a tiled roof, a central chimney stack and stair. Dormer windows 
to the roof were removed in the 1980s and the large extension on the 
north side of the house was added in the late 2000s.28	A	number	of	
historic	farm	buildings	and	ranges	associated	with	Great	Clacton	Hall	
are depicted on the 1777 map and structural remains of the former 
post-medieval	buildings	and	yards	have	been	uncovered	north	of	the	
church.	A	 relatively	 large	 complex	 of	 buildings	 is	 still	 shown	 to	 the	
north-east	of	the	hall	on	the	1st	Edition	OS	map	published	in	1876	and	
these	were	still	in	place	by	the	time	of	the	1923	OS	map.	

The	1777	map	shows	the	village	clustered	around	a	 ‘square’	 to	 the	
west of the church at the intersection of the main roads, The Ship 
directly	to	the	south	of	the	intersection,	and	with	further	buildings	more	
sparsely	ranged	along	St	John’s	Road,	Valley	Road	and	Old	Road.

Great	 Clacton	 was	 connected	 to	 Colchester	 by	 the	 operation	 of	 a	
carrier’s	cart	which	started	to	run	from	soon	after	1730,	and	a	carrier	
service continued into the late nineteenth century.29 The 1777 map 
shows settlements at several greens in Great Clacton including Rush 
Green in the south-west, on the northern edge of Alton Park, and at 
27	 Ibid.,	p.266.
28	 Ibid.,	p.242.
29	 Ibid.,	p.231.

Magdalen Green which lies to the south of the Conservation Area 
along Old Road. The area to the west of Great Clacton featured 
extensive greens until the nineteenth century.30

30	 Ibid.

Figure 10 Late nineteenth/early twentieth century view south along North Road with The Plough Inn on the right 
hand side

P
age 41



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1818

Three	Chimneys	 lies	on	 the	western	boundary	of	 the	Conservation	
Area	and	is	a	timber	framed	house	with	a	painted	brick	principal	façade,	
and	 plastered	 to	 the	 rear.	 It	 has	 been	 dated	 to	 the	 seventeenth	 or	
eighteenth century and had a new garden laid out in 1847.31 It takes its 
name	from	Three	Chimneys	Farm	shown	on	the	first	edition	Ordnance	
Survey	map	published	in	1876.

Weatherboarded	Saddlers	Cottage	(No.	5)	on	St	John’s	Road	dates	
to the eighteenth century and has the fascia of a former shop front 
on the left-hand side. The shop sign was still present in the 1980s.32  
Number	9	St	John’s	Road	which	is	a	former	cottage	or	pair	of	cottages	
now in use as a shop, also dates to the eighteenth century as do the 
three, three-storey former houses of Church House. What today is the 
barber’s	shop	at	the	western	end	of	this	range	was	first	converted	to	a	
double-fronted	shop	in	1883.33

The	 village	 was	 considered	 vulnerable	 to	 invasion	 during	 the	
Napoleonic	Wars	and	a	signal	station	was	built	at	Great	Clacton	 in	
1795,	with	three	Martello	towers	built	along	the	Clacton	coast	in	the	
first	decade	of	the	nineteenth	century.34

31	 Ibid.,	p.238.
32	 The	sign	is	shown	on	an	image	of	Saddlers	Cottage	taken	in	1985	by	Essex	County	Council.
33	 Ibid.,	p.238.
34	 Ibid.,	p.229.

Figure 11 Late nineteenth/early twentieth century image of the Ship Inn showing the windmill demolished circa 
1918 (Clacton and District Local History Society)

P
age 42



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1919

A	windmill	was	in	place	at	Bull	Hill	Farm	to	the	east	of	Old	Road	by	
1756 and seems to have continued in use until 1833. This mill, which 
appears on the 1777 map, lay further to the east of the road than a mill 
that succeeded it in the nineteenth century.35

The Church of St John the Baptist was restored in the nineteenth 
century.	The	spire	of	the	west	tower	was	rebuilt	in	1810	and	a	balustrade	
replaced	 the	 former	 battlements	 in	 1913.	 Amongst	 other	 changes	
carried out in the nineteenth century was the introduction of two new 
galleries in 1837. A later phase of works was carried out from 1865-6 
by	Edward	Charles	Hakewill	(died	1872),	who	rebuilt	the	east	wall	and	
introduced	 three	new	Norman-style	windows,	and	added	a	 two	bay	
north aisle to the chancel. He also introduced septaria stonework to 
the external masonry, which was previously rendered.36

The	 first	Wesleyan	 	Methodist	 Chapel	 was	 built	 in	 1824	 on	 Valley	
Road		and	is	marked	as	such	on	the	1876	OS	map.	This	building	was	
superseded	by	the	current	Methodist	church	on	the	same	site,	in	1863,	
enlarged to include a schoolroom in 1876, and further extended in the  
mid-twentieth century.37

35	 Ibid.,	p.256.
36	 Ibid.,	p.281.	Septaria	is	a	mix	of	rock,	mineral	and	organic	matter	formed	within	layers	of	
limestone sediment.
37	 Ibid.,	p.286.

Beyond	 the	 southern	 boundary	 of	 the	 Conservation	 Area,	 two	
almshouses	were	built	and	endowed	by	James	Maskell	on	Old	Road,	
in 1827 and the vicar James Silvester added a third almshouse in 
1908.	The	nineteenth	 century	 almshouses	are	 shown	as	 ‘Maskell’s	
Almshouses’	on	the	1876	OS	map.	These	were	sold	around	1936	and	
replaced	by	houses	at	215	and	217	Coppins	Road.	The	almshouses	
on	Old	Road	were	subsequently	demolished.38  The Workhouse was 
also	located	on	Old	Road,	at	Clacton	Green	built	around	1750	which	
became	disused	 in	1835	when	 the	Tendring	Union	workhouse	was	
opened. It was demolished in the 1940s.39

Also on Old Road, some way south of the current Conservation Area 
was	 the	National	School,	 founded	by	 the	church	and	built	 in	1860,	
eventually	taken	over	and	replaced	by	Essex	County	Council	in	1930.	
The	old	school	building	was	used	as	a	shoe	factory	after	the	Second	
World War.40

38	 Ibid.,	p.270.
39	 Ibid.,	p.272.
40	 Ibid.,	p.272.

P
age 43



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2020

Figure 12 First Edition Ordnance Survey Map published 1876 showing the northern part of the Conservation Area including Great Clacton Hall and the church and showing the former rural character of the 
surrounding area

P
age 44



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2121

Figure 13 First Edition Ordnance Survey Map published 1876 showing the southern part of the Conservation Area including the farm once associated with Three Chimneys, the first Methodist Chapel on 
Valley Road and the windmill demolished circa 1918 

P
age 45



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2222

The	broad	pattern	of	settlement	in	Great	Clacton	remained	the	same	
until the development of Clacton-on-Sea in the 1870s, which initially 
only	 affected	 the	 coastal	 area.41 The economy remained mainly 
agricultural	until	the	development	of	the	seaside	resort,	led	by	Peter	
Bruff,	 an	 engineer	 from	 Ispwich.42	 The	 railway	 (a	 branch	 line	 from	
Thorpe-le-Soken)	 to	 Clacton-on-Sea	 was	 opened	 by	 the	 Tendring	
Hundred Railway in 1866. The nineteenth century also witnessed the 
emergence of industrial activity in the area surrounding the village, 
including	a	 brickworks	 north	 of	Magdalen	Green	 (in	 operation	 from	
1886	to	1921,	possibly	 longer)43 and a three storey steam mill. The 
steam	mill	on	Old	Road	was	built	 in	1867	by	Charles	Beckwith	and	
was	sold	 in	1894	 to	Henry	Bromley,	miller	and	baker.	Having	been	
updated	with	new	machinery,	 in	1909	the	mill	was	destroyed	by	fire	
and	was	 rebuilt,	 still	 trading	as	Bromley	and	Co	Ltd	 in	1929.44 The 
nineteenth century windmill shown on the 1876 and 1897 OS maps, 
was demolished circa 1918.45

41	 Ibid.,	p.237.
42	 Ibid.,	p.248.	and	Bettley	and	Pevsner,	Essex,	p.54.
43	 VCH	Essex	Volume	XI,	p.258.
44	 Ibid.,	p.256.
45	 Ibid.,	p.256.

Modern	(1901	–	now)

In	1939,	Great	Clacton	Hall	belonged	 to	H	S	Cousins.46 During the 
twentieth century, and particularly following the Second World War, 
there was much residential development which overtook Great 
Clacton,	and	areas	such	as	Magdalen	Green	were	subsumed	within	
Clacton-on-Sea.47 

Given its coastal location, Clacton needed extensive defensive features 
during	the	Second	World	War	and	road	barriers	were	emplaced	around	
the junction at St Johns Square, with a Spigot Mortar emplacement 
positioned at the corner of the graveyard of St Johns Church. 

Within the Conservation Area, the modern development of shops with 
flats	above,	located	on	the	east	side	of	North	Road	and	the	north	side	
of	St	John’s	road,	was	built	in	the	1960s,	and	replaced	a	demolished	
group	of	medieval	buildings	which	had	been	subdivided	and	used	as	
shops in the late nineteenth or early twentieth century.48 In the current 
century,	 new	 housing	 has	 been	 developed	 at	 various	 sites	 on	Old	
Road,	to	the	rear	of	buildings	on	St	John’s	Road,	and	a	further	small	
development	 of	 houses	 now	borders	 the	 historic	 churchyard	 to	 the	
north, in the direct setting of the church and Conservation Area. 

46	 Ibid.,	p.241.
47	 Ibid.,	p.237.
48	 Ibid.,	p.238.

P
age 46



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2323

Figure 14 Second Edition Ordnance Survey Map published 1897 showing the Conservation Area little changed from the first edition map

P
age 47



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2424

The Church of St John the Baptist underwent repairs in 1959 and 1981, 
and was closed from 1986 until 2002.49	Having	undergone	significant	
deterioration,	the	church	was	restored	by	Gerald	William	Barrett	from	
1997-2000 which included removal of most of the nineteenth century 
furnishings	and	the	installation	of	a	new	stone	floor.50

49	 Ibid.,	pp,.280-281.
50	 Ibid.,	p.281.

Figure 15 Great Clacton Hall and the tower of St John the Baptist in 1955 (G W Martin, Essex Record Office reference 
IM_8_86_1_28)

Figure 16 383 Old Road in 1985 (Essex County Council) Figure 17 404 and 406 Old Road in 1985 (Essex County 
Council)

Figure 18 Great Clacton Hall in 1985 prior to addition of 
a large extension on the north side in 2002 (Essex 
County Council)

Figure 19 Saddlers Cottage in 1985 showing former 
shop sign (Essex County Council)

P
age 48



Great Clacton Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2525

2.3 Designated Heritage Assets

There are twelve designated heritage assets within the Great Clacton 
Conservation	Area	 which	 contribute	 to	 its	 special	 architectural	 and	
historic interest. These include the Grade I listed Church of St John 
the	Baptist,	Grade	II	listed	Great	Clacton	Hall,	the	Grade	II	listed	public	
houses	The	Plough	and	The	Ship	Inn	and	the	former	Queen’s	Head	
Hotel.	Other	designated	assets	include	domestic	buildings	and	former	
dwellings	that	have	been	adapted	for	commercial	use,	some	of	which	
are	timber	framed	buildings	re-fronted	to	reflect	changing	architectural	
tastes.	The	listed	buildings	in	the	Conservation	Area	provide	a	good	
representation of medieval and post-medieval English architectural 
history.

A full list of all the designated assets within the Conservation Area is 
included in Appendix 6.1. 

These	 buildings	 have	 been	 listed	 due	 to	 their	 special	 historic	 and	
architectural	interest	as	defined	by	Section	1	of	the	Planning	(Listed	
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

Further	 information	 about	 the	 listing	 process	 can	 be	 found	 on	 the	
Historic England website.

Listed	buildings	are	protected	by	government	legislation	and	there	are	
policies	in	place	to	ensure	that	any	alterations	to	a	listed	building	will	
not	affect	its	special	interest.	It	is	possible	to	alter,	extend	or	demolish	a	
listed	building	but	this	requires	listed	building	consent	and	sometimes	
planning permission. 

WAY

OLD
 R

OAD

VALLEY ROAD

PUFFINSDALE

W
IN

D
M

IL
L 

PA
R

K

ST JOHN'S ROAD

RAMPLINGS AVENUE

35

2

7

3

87

12

7

1

5
79

5

4

6 2

9

6

7

1

5
8

3

3

1

5

1

21

3
7

31 2 4
18

16

23
38

14

59

11
25

25

15

48

34

29

14

16

16

19

32

15
11

30

26

17

42

17

28

10

57

28

53

18

41

11

2215

17

2a

21

23 31

54

PO

8b8a

3a

74

64

35

34

32

18

15

25

44

54

9a

11

90

12

14

32

to

34

11 15

20

11

67

33
27

25

38
46

31

The

14a
12a

406

402

383

395
397

405

PCs

387

440
444

448

438

29a
25c 25a

361

363 371

390

377

381

130

134

128

357

126

Hall

Leng

(PH)

Mews

(PH)

355a

Abbey

1 - 3

Flats

1 to 7

1 to 4

Church

Shelter

Factory

Ship Inn

Vicarage

Rockledge

El Sub Sta

408 to 422

St John the

Sodbury House

Windmill Court

Baptist's Church

Community Centre

Grade I Listed Building
Grade II Listed Building
Great Clacton
Conservation Area

±0 25 50
Metres

Figure 20 Map showing the location of the designated heritage assets within the Conservation Area

P
age 49

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/apply-for-listing/listing-process/


2626

2.4 Non-Designated Heritage Assets

Every	building,	space	and	feature	within	a	Conservation	Area	makes	a	
contribution	to	its	character	and	special	interest,	be	it	positive,	neutral	
or negative. 

Heritage	 assets	 are	 defined	 in	 Planning	 Policy	 as	 ‘A	 building,	
monument,	site,	place,	area	or	landscape	identified	as	having	a	degree	
of	significance	meriting	consideration	in	planning	decisions,	because	
of	its	heritage	interest.’	51

Not	all	heritage	assets	are	listed,	and	just	because	a	building	is	not	
included on the list does not mean it is of no heritage value. Buildings 
and	 other	 structures	 of	 the	 built	 environment	 such	 as	 fountains,	
railings,	signs	and	landscaping	can	make	a	positive	contribution	to	the	
appreciation	of	an	area’s	historic	interest	and	its	general	appearance.

Local listing is an important tool for local planning authorities to 
identify	non-listed	buildings	and	heritage	assets	which	make	a	positive	
contribution	to	the	locality.	At	present	there	is	no	approved	local	list	for	
Tendring	District.	This	document	has	identified	heritage	assets	which	
make	a	positive	contribution	to	the	Conservation	Area	and	could	be	
considered for local listing in the future. This list is not exhaustive, and 
further	buildings	may	be	identified	as	non-designated	heritage	assets	
through the planning application process. 

51 NPPF, p.67.

Buildings and features within the Conservation Area which are 
considered	to	be	non-designated	heritage	assets	include:

• 3-11 North Road

•  17 North Road (The Great Clacton Surgery)

• 9	St	John’s	Road	(Foxes	Garden	and	Furniture	Shop)

• 397	and	399	Old	Road	(Vacant	shop	and	Liberal	Democrats	office)

• 395 Old Road

• Former	 Public	 Convenience	 (Old	 Road,	 adjacent	 to	 The	 Ship	
public	house)

• 406 and 404 Old Road

• Old Mill Cottage, 402 Old Road

• Eaglehurst, 6 Valley Road

• Great Clacton Methodist Church and adjacent semi-detached 
cottages on Valley Road

• 17 Valley Road

• Sodbury	 House,	 Nightingale	 Way	 (outside	 of	 the	 Conservation	
Area	boundary)

P
age 50



2727

2.5 Heritage at Risk

There	are	no	buildings	or	features	in	the	Great	Clacton	Conservation	
Area	 which	 are	 on	 Historic	 England’s	 Heritage	 at	 Risk	 Register.	
However,	 Grade	 II	 listed	 383	 Old	 Road	 appears	 to	 have	 been	
unoccupied for several years and is in a neglected state, thus this 
building	 could	 be	 considered	 at	 risk.	 Grade	 II	 listed	Great	 Clacton	
Hall	also	appears	to	be	unoccupied	following	the	closure	of	the	Abbey	
Care	Home	formerly	on	 these	premises,	 though	appears	 to	be	 in	a	
reasonable	state	of	external	repair.	

2.6 Archaeological Potential

The Conservation Area comprises the medieval Church/Hall complex 
and the core of the historic village which is medieval in origin. The 
survival	of	the	Church,	post-medieval	buildings	and	historic	road	layout	
are an important, well-preserved resource.

The	 discovery	 of	 an	 Anglo-Saxon	 burial	 in	 a	 barrow	 found	 in	
association	with	a	glass	drinking	cup,	broken	tiles	and	charred	wood	
provides	evidence	for	a	high-status	grave	and	a	possible	Anglo-Saxon	
settlement within or close to the Conservation Area.

Excavation adjacent to the Conservation Area shows that the graveyard 
of St John the Baptist once extended further north and that a chapel, 
possibly	a	private	chapel	associated	with	the	manor,	lay	north	of	the	
church. The area north of the church has potential for further remains 
relating to the church, chapel and churchyard. Within the church 
itself,	 excavations	below	floor	 level	 have	demonstrated	 the	survival	
of structural remains associated with the earlier phases of the church.

The scale and importance of the Norman parish church gives some 
indication of the relative importance of Great Clacton in the medieval 
period. Early medieval settlement evidence is limited though some 
has	been	revealed	to	the	north	of	the	church.	Further	evidence	for	the	

P
age 51



2828

medieval	 settlement	can	be	expected	 to	survive	around	 the	church	
and may also include remains of the medieval manorial site. Structural 
remains	 of	 the	 later	 post-medieval	 manorial	 complex	 have	 been	
uncovered north of the church.

The	eastern	extent	of	the	churchyard	borders	a	cropmark	feature	of	a	
square enclosure of unknown date and origin, and associated features 
may	 be	 preserved	 within	 the	 existing	 churchyard.	 Roman	 building	
material is commonly found incorporated into medieval church walls, 
the	quantity	of	Roman	building	material	found	in	later	archaeological	
features	adjacent	to	the	church	may	be	related	to	the	destruction	of	
the	medieval	chapel,	but	may	also	indicate	the	presence	of	a	nearby	
available	source	of	material,	possibly	from	a	former	Roman	building	
or villa.

In	recent	years	there	has	been	a	number	of	small-scale	archaeological	
investigations that have provided information on the nature, scale and 
quality of surviving archaeological remains within the Conservation 
Area. The low density of features and the low quantity of material 
remains from the sites investigated suggest that any settlement 
evidence is concentrated within the core of the historic village. The 

settlement	has	been	occupied	since	the	medieval	period	and	it	can	be	
anticipated	that	further	below-ground	archaeological	remains	survive	
within the Conservation Area. Whilst settlement evidence is more 
likely	 to	be	sited	along	the	street	 frontage,	 the	backyard	areas	may	
contain evidence for ancillary activity, such as wells, cess-pits, yards 
and middens, as well as industrial activity.  

Much of the land surrounding the Church is in use as a graveyard 
which will have truncated any surviving archaeological remains 
within those areas. However, survival of archaeological remains is 
demonstrated closer to the existing church and is likely in any areas of 
less	disturbance.	

The soil-type within the Conservation Area is conducive to the 
survival	 of	 bone,	 shell	 and	 ceramics,	 and	 there	 is	 the	 potential	 for	
palaeoenvironmental	 deposits	 to	 be	 preserved	 within	 waterlogged	
deposits. The potential for these is high within the areas of undeveloped 
land	bordering	the	stream	which	flows	up	to	Old	Road.	Waterlogged	
deposits	can	also	be	anticipated	within	deeper	features	such	as	wells	
and cess-pits. 

P
age 52



2929

3. Assessment	of	Significance
 

3.1 Summary

The	Great	Clacton	Conservation	Area	is	notable	for	its	historic	village	
character and appearance which largely derives from the medieval 
Grade I listed church of St John the Baptist to the north-west with 
its churchyard providing an important open green space enhanced 
by	historic	tombs	and	memorials;	and	the	cluster	of	listed	buildings	
at the heart of the Conservation Area, mostly placed around the 
junctions	of	North	Road,	St	John’s	Road,	Old	Road	and	Valley	Road.	
These	are	a	mixture	of	predominantly	two	storey	timber	framed	and	
plastered	public	houses	and	houses.	Grade	II	listed	Great	Clacton	
Hall to the north of the church and Church House to the west date to 
the	eighteenth	century	and	some	of	the	older	timber	framed	houses	
were	re-fronted	with	brick	and/or	render	in	the	eighteenth	century	to	
reflect	changes	in	architectural	taste.	Some	of	the	listed	buildings	
which	originated	as	dwellings	have	been	adapted	for	commercial	
purposes and the majority of commercial premises within the 
Conservation	Area	are	located	on	St	John’s	Road	and	North	Road.

With	some	notable	exceptions,	modern	development	within	the	
Conservation Area and immediately in its setting has somewhat 
eroded the historic character, coupled with poor quality surface 
treatments to roads and pavements as well as unsympathetic and 
poor quality street furniture (for example, street lighting, signage and 
bollards)	adding	to	this	issue. Figure 21 The churchyard of St John the Baptist which provides a valuable green space in the Conservation Area 

P
age 53



3030

3.2 Significance	of	buildings

Where	visible	from	areas	of	public	realm,	the	buildings	within	the	
Great	Clacton	Conservation	Area	have	been	assessed.	The	map	
on	page	31	(Figure	22)	should	be	read	in	conjunction	with	the	key	
notes	opposite.	These	outline	the	broad	descriptions	of	positive,	
neutral	and	negative	attributed	to	buildings	within	the	Conservation	
Area.	It	should	be	noted	that	just	because	a	building	is	positive	it	
does	not	mean	it	cannot	be	enhanced.	Some	positive	buildings	
may have intrusive aspects (such as inappropriate windows) and 
are	addressed	in	the	management	plan.	The	buildings	identified	
as	‘Positive	with	opportunity	for	enhancement’	tend	to	have	more	
bespoke	or	fundamental	issues	that	are	not	generally	observed	or	
widespread across the area.

Positive:	these	are	buildings	that	have	been	identified	as	
positive	contributors	to	the	character	or	appearance	of	the	
Conservation	Area.	Whilst	identified	as	positive	there	are	likely	
to	be	enhancements	which	can	be	made	to	better	reveal	the	
architectural	interest	of	the	building	and	improve	its	contribution	
to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 
These general enhancements are noted in the management 
plan.	One	example	would	be	the	replacement	of	windows	where	
the	buildings	have	uPVC.	The	upgrade	of	these	items	would	be	
beneficial	as	a	general	rule.	

Positive	with	opportunity	for	enhancement: these are 
buildings	have	been	highlighted	as	they	are	positive	contributors,	
however,	they	have	been	compromised	due	to	intrusive	
alterations	or	additions.	These	buildings	can	be	enhanced	
through the removal, replacement or redesign of intrusive or 
unsympathetic alterations. 

Neutral:	These	buildings	make	no	beneficial	or	adverse	
contribution	to	the	character	or	appearance	of	the	Conservation	
Area. 

Negative:	These	buildings	make	an	adverse	or	intrusive	
contribution	to	the	character	or	appearance	of	the	Conservation	
Area. 

Other:	It	was	not	possible	to	view	these	buildings	from	the	public	
realm	to	ascertain	their	contribution	to	the	Conservation	Area.	

P
age 54



3131

WAY

OLD
 R

OAD

VALLEY ROAD

PUFFINSDALE

W
IN

D
M

IL
L 

PA
R

K

ST JOHN'S ROAD

RAMPLINGS AVENUE

35

7
1

2

7

3

87

12

7

1

5 79

5

4

6 2

9

1

6

7

1

5
8

3

3

1

5

1

21

3
7

31 2 4
18

16

23
38
40
42

14

59

57

11
25

25

15

15

48

61

34

29

14

16
19

16

19

32

15

11

11

30

26

17

42

17

28

10

57

28

53

18

41

11

2215

17

2a

21

23 31

54

PO

8b8a

3a

82

74

64

35

34

32

18

15

25

44

54

9a

11

90

12

14

32

to

34

11 15

20

11

67

33
27

25

38
46

31

The

14a
12a

406

402

383

395
397

405

PCs

387

440
444

448

29a
25c

361

363 371

390

377

381

130
134

128

357

126

Hall

Leng

(PH)

Mews

(PH)

355a

Abbey

1 - 3

Flats

1 to 7

1 to 4

Church

Shelter

Factory

Ship Inn

Vicarage

Rockledge

El Sub Sta

408 to 422

St John the

Sodbury House

Windmill Court

Baptist's Church

Community Centre Positive Building
Positive Building, in
need of enhancement
Neutral Building
Negative Building
Other Building or
Structure (Not Seen)
Great Clacton
Conservation Area

±0 25 50
Metres

Figure 22 Map showing significance of buildings within and neighbouring the Conservation Area

P
age 55



3232

3.3 Character Analysis

Summary of character 

The character of this small Conservation Area derives from its historic 
village form with a relatively low density of predominantly two storey 
buildings,	many	set	to	the	front	of	their	plots,	directly	fronting	the	
road. These comprise the linear form of development along the four 
main roads which converge close to the landmark medieval church 
to the north-west. A looser grain of development is apparent along 
Old Road and Valley Road than is experienced at the commercial 
centre of the Conservation Area. Today the Conservation Area is also 
characterised	by	the	steady	flow	of	road	traffic	along	its	main	through	
routes. 

Land usage

Land use is largely residential and commercial along the main road 
routes with the exception of the Grade I listed church of St John 
the Baptist and its churchyard, the latter of which provides the only 
notable	area	of	public	green	space.

Landmark	buildings

Due to the height of its tower, the church is the only landmark 
building	that	has	prominence	and	visibility	from	a	distance	from	

both	inside	and	outside	the	Conservation	
Area, particularly in views from the south 
where the land slopes away as one heads 
southwards along Old Road. The church 
is screened from view when heading east 
along	St	John’s	Road	and	here	the	large	
horse-chestnut tree on the western edge 
of the churchyard provides more of a focal 
point. The Ship Inn also has prominence 
at the centre of the Conservation Area 
and	the	Queen’s	Head	(which	has	been	
converted	to	business	units	and	flats)	
defines	the	junction	of	St	John’s	Road	and	
North	Road,	retaining	the	former	pub’s	
hanging and painted signage.

Local Building Materials, Details and 
Boundary Treatments

The medieval church is exceptional within the Conservation Area for 
the	use	of	mixed	rubble	stone	and	septaria	in	its	construction,	with	
dressings and details of limestone, Roman and twentieth century 
brick.	The	roof	of	red	clay	tile	is,	however,	reflective	of	many	other	
buildings	within	the	Conservation	Area.	The	twelfth	century	recessed	
north and south door surrounds of the church include details such as 
roll moulded round headed arches and stone columns with moulded 
bases	and	cushion	capitals.	The	fifteenth	century	tower	features	

Figure 23 The south doorway of St John 
the Baptist church showing a variety of 
materials and detailing

P
age 56



3333

a	nineteenth	century	timber	weatherboarded	upper	stage	with	a	
balustrade,	and	grey	fish-scale	tiles	to	the	octagonal	spire.

Although	less	common	than	clay	tile,	slate	roofs	can	also	be	found	
throughout the Conservation Area including the roof of The Plough 
(Grade II listed) on the western side of North Road. 

Timber	framed	buildings	are	also	a	feature	of	the	Conservation	Area.	
The	Plough	is	plastered	and	features	exposed	timber	framing,	which	
can	also	be	seen	on	The	Ship	Inn.	Other	timber	framed	buildings	in	
the Conservation Area are largely faced in render which conceals 
their	frames	including	the	Grade	II	listed	building	at	1-3	St	John’s	
Road housing the Thai Vintage Restaurant and adjacent dwelling. 
Weatherboard	is	also	used	as	a	facing	material,	painted	white	on	
eighteenth century Grade II listed Saddlers Cottage. Render is also 
used	as	a	finish	on	brick	buildings	including	eighteenth	century	
Great	Clacton	Hall	and	where	timber	framed	buildings	have	seen	the	
introduction	of	brick	infill	such	as	at	the	seventeenth	and	eighteenth	
century	house	called	Three	Chimneys	on	St	John’s	Road.

Red	brick	also	features	throughout	the	Conservation	Area	exemplified	
by	a	pair	of	late	nineteenth	or	early	twentieth	century	two	storey	red	
brick	former	houses	(numbers	19	and	19A),	to	the	east	of	Three	
Chimneys	on	the	south	side	of	St	John’s	Road	and	on	the	two	storey	
1960s	commercial	development	of	shops	with	flats	above	on	North	
Road	and	St	John’s	Road,	the	latter	with	a	concrete	tiled	parapet	roof	
and	some	timber	weatherboard	detailing	to	first	floor.	A	pair	of	single	
storey	painted	brick	shops	with	twentieth	century	shop	fronts	and	
slate	roofs	at	numbers	399	and	397	Old	Road	adjoin	an	attractive	
early	nineteenth	century	two	storey	house	at	number	395	(extended	
in	the	twentieth	century)	in	red	brick	laid	in	rat-trap	bond	(where	the	
bricks	are	laid	on	edge).	

Figure 24 Number 395 Old Road in red brick laid in Rat Trap bond, with numbers 399 and 397 to the north

P
age 57



3434

Directly to the south of The Maltings on the west side of Old Road 
is	a	small	modern	development	of	five	houses	in	a	traditional	style	
emulating eighteenth classical century architecture, with chimneys, 
sliding	sash	windows	and	predominantly	finished	in	red	brick	(one	
with render) with clay tile roofs.

Many	windows	in	the	Conservation	Area	are	of	a	traditional	timber	
framed	form	but	there	are	a	regrettably	high	number	of	uPVC	
replacement windows and doors including those on a terrace of 
nineteenth	century	rendered	brick	cottages	at	3-11	North	Road	
(adjacent to The Plough), and to the modern extension to Great 
Clacton	Hall.	These	windows	are	also	ubiquitous	on	shops	and	the	
new housing developments within and adjacent to the Conservation 
Area.

The eighteenth century Grade II listed Church House features 
classical detailing of triglyphs and metopes, a dentilled cornice, 
and	fluted	and	plain	columns	to	its	entrance	porticos.	The	building	
houses	a	barber’s	shop	(The	Barber	Royal)	with	a	twentieth	century	
shop	front	on	the	western	side,	whilst	flats	occupy	the	remainder.	
What	appears	to	be	an	early	nineteenth	century	pair	of	houses	
(now	a	single	building)	at	number	9	St	John’s	Road	features	an	
early twentieth century shop front with a canopy at the western end 
supported	by	an	iron	post	with	an	Ionic	order	capital	and	scrolled	
bracket.	Grade	II	listed	The	Maltings	on	the	west	side	of	Old	Road,	
is	an	attractive	timber	framed	house	which	has	been	dated	to	the	
seventeenth	and	eighteenth	centuries	with	a	principal	façade	of	
painted	brick	with	timber	vertical	sash	windows.	It	features	a	classical	
moulded door surround, and former shop window on the right hand 
side	of	the	ground	floor	which	has	been	dated	to	the	twentieth	
century.

Many	buildings	in	the	Conservation	Area	directly	front	the	pavement	
with	no	boundary	treatments	but	red	brick	boundary	walls	can	be	
found including examples at Three Chimneys (the wall surmounted 
with	plain	timber	picket	fencing),	Saddlers	Cottage	(a	low	height	
boundary	wall	of	red	brick	and	septaria)	and	nineteenth	century	
Eaglehurst	at	number	6	Valley	Road.	The	twentieth	century	Vicarage	
to	the	south	of	the	churchyard	is	set	back	within	a	large	garden	plot	
with	large	mature	trees	and	shrubs	bounded	by	a	timber	fence,	
with	hedging	and	a	low	height	brick	boundary	wall	directly	fronting	
the pavement. With almost no historical precedent within the 
Conservation Area, the modern houses on Old Road have traditional 
black	painted	metal	railings	to	their	front	boundary	and	another	
recent development of three terraced two-storey houses known as 
Old	Valley	Mews	on	Old	Road	features	modern	black	painted	metal	
railings on a paved plinth. 

Figure 25 Mature trees and shrubs around the Vicarage and at the western end of Valley Road which make a 
positive contribution to the Conservation Area

P
age 58



3535

Landscaping,	Open	Spaces	and	Public	Realm

When	facing	east	on	St	John’s	Road,	the	view	terminates	with	a	large	
horse-chestnut tree which marks the entrance to the churchyard of 
St John the Baptist, entered via a tarmacked path with a car park on 
the	south	side.	The	churchyard	provides	the	only	public	open	green	
space in the Conservation Area with a footpath running through it 
from east to west that provides access to a large development of 
twentieth century housing to the east of the Conservation Area. 
Within	the	churchyard,	mature	trees,	shrubs	and	grass	sit	comfortably	
alongside the peppering of gravestones and monuments which form 
the setting of the Grade I listed church. There is an attractive avenue 
of lime trees leading to the south porch of the church and there is 
a strong sense of enclosure on the south side of the churchyard. It 
is	more	open	to	the	north	beyond	the	church	and	now	overlooks	a	
new development of houses just outside of the Conservation Area 
boundary.	Mature	trees	around	the	Vicarage	and	on	neighbouring	
land	which	fronts	Valley	Road	make	a	positive	contribution	to	the	
character and appearance of the Conservation Area.

An	area	of	public	realm	in	front	of	The	Ship	is	paved	and	bounded	by	
detracting	concrete	bollards	and	there	is	a	tarmacked	car	park	to	the	
east	of	the	pub.	To	the	east	of	Eaglehurst	is	a	tarmacked	alleyway	
giving access to a twentieth century housing development around 
Windmill Park (the historic site of the windmill). Next to the alleyway 
is	a	small	area	of	unkempt	scrubland	directly	fronting	Valley	Road	
and	a	tarmacked	area	behind	this	surrounding	the	Army	Cadets’	
building.	It	is	proposed	that	the	Conservation	Area	boundary	should	

be	amended	to	exclude	these,	which	detract	from	its	character	and	
appearance.

Contribution	by	Key	Un-Listed	Buildings

The following non-designated heritage assets are considered to 
make	a	positive	contribution	to	the	character	and	appearance	of	the	
Conservation Area:

Eaglehurst	at	number	6	Valley	Road,	is	set	slightly	below	pavement	
level. This is a large, attractive later nineteenth century former house 
in	the	style	of	a	medieval	hall	house	with	two	gabled	crosswings,	one	
of	which	is	jettied.	The	building	is	of	red	brick	but	with	a	plastered	
finish	to	the	first	floor	with	timber	frame	detailing.	A	corner	tower	in	
the angle of the central range and eastern crosswing is a typically 
eclectic	Victorian	architectural	flourish.	This	building	first	appears	on	
the	Ordnance	Survey	map	published	in	1897.	

The Great Clacton Methodist Church on Valley Road dates to 
1863, replacing an earlier chapel on the same site of 1824.  The 
church	is	one	of	the	more	interesting	nineteenth	century	buildings	in	
the	Conservation	Area.	It	is	in	a	pared	back	Gothic	style	with	narrow	
lancet	windows	and	has	an	irregularly	shaped	central	gable	to	the	
principal	façade,	which	forms	the	main	entrance.	A	circular	window	
above	the	entrance	doors	has	been	replaced	with	modern	stained	
glass	of	a	simple	design.	The	church	appears	to	have	been	extended	
to the rear and has an area of garden laid to lawn on the east side of 
the	building	with	a	flat	roofed	outbuilding	at	the	rear	of	the	plot.	There	

P
age 59



3636

is an attractive pair of two storey early nineteenth century semi-
detached	houses	directly	to	the	west	of	the	church,	set	well	back	from	
the	street,	parts	of	the	front	gardens	of	which	have	been	tarmacked	
to provide space for car parking.

Numbers	3-11	North	Road	are an appealing terrace of four two 
storey	houses	which	first	appear	on	the	First	Edition	OS	map	
published	in	1876.	As	noted	above,	they	have	suffered	from	the	
introduction	of	uPVC	windows	and	doors,	but	otherwise	make	a	
positive	contribution	to	the	Conservation	Area.

Number	9	St	John’s	Road	(Foxes	Furniture	Shop)	appears	to	be	
an early nineteenth century two storey rendered former house with 
vertical sash windows to the upper storey, converted to shops with 
accommodation/storage	above	in	the	twentieth	century.	The	shop	
canopy	on	the	western	end	of	the	front	façade	features	a	cast	iron	
column	and	bracket	which	are	attractive	architectural	details.	

Neighbouring	numbers	19	(the	former	Post	Office)	and	19A	St	
John’s	Road	in	red	brick	date	to	the	later	nineteenth	century/
early	twentieth	century.	These	buildings	could	be	enhanced	by	the	
sympathetic	restoration	of	their	façades	including	the	shop	front,	to	
remove and replace the detracting uPVC windows and doors.

The	former	Public	Convenience (eastern side of Old Road, 
adjacent	to	The	Ship	public	house)	in	red	brick	with	a	clay	tiled	roof	
and	timber	frame	detailing	to	the	front	gable	was	erected	in	1929	
by	Clacton	Urban	District	Council.	Having	already	been	closed	for	
several	years,	by	2017	the	building	had	been	converted	for	domestic	Figure 26 The Great Clacton Methodist Church on Valley Road, built in 1863

P
age 60



3737

or commercial use including the insertion of a large tripartite uPVC 
front	window,	but	appears	to	have	remained	empty.	It	has	the	
potential	to	be	a	good	example	of	adaptive	re-use	of	an	historic	
building.

397	and	399	Old	Road are an attractive pair of single storey 
nineteenth	century	painted	brick	buildings	with	twentieth	century	
shop fronts and a slate roof located on the west side of Old Road 
(respectively	a	vacant	shop	and	the	Liberal	Democrats	office).	
Number	399	would	benefit	from	more	sympathetic	signage.	

395	Old	Road	adjoining	the	above,	is	a	distinctive	early	nineteenth	
century	two	storey	red	brick	house	with	a	slate	roof	(with	rendered	
twentieth century extensions to the rear and on the south side). The 
brick	is	laid	in	an	unusual	rat-trap	bond	(bricks	laid	on	edge).

Numbers	406	and	404	Old	Road situated further south, on the 
western side of the street are a pair of two storey white painted 
rendered late eighteenth or early nineteenth century cottages with 
vertical	timber	sash	windows	and	a	hipped	slate	roof.	Number	406	
has	side	extensions	and	retains	a	front	boundary	wall	in	red	brick	
whilst	number	404	has	a	replacement	boundary	wall	in	yellow	brick	
with	a	red	brick	coping.

Old Mill Cottage at 402 Old Road on the east side of the road is a 
dwelling historically associated with the windmill thus has important 
local	historical	associations.	It	has	been	unsympathetically	much	
altered	and	extended	in	the	twentieth	century	but	nevertheless	
has	architectural	interest	and	is	likely	to	retain	fabric	dating	to	the	

Figure 27 Number 406 Old Road adjoining number 404 to the right

eighteenth century or earlier. There is also potential archaeological 
interest relating to this site.

17 Valley Road	is	a	mid-nineteenth	century	single	storey	pebble	
dashed	house	with	three	bay	windows	and	an	ornate	timber	porch	
located	just	beyond	the	Conservation	Area	boundary	on	the	north	
side	of	Valley	Road	which	makes	a	positive	contribution	to	the	setting	
of the Conservation Area. 

P
age 61



3838

3.4 Views

Key	views	are	identified	on	Figure	30.	Note	the	views	included	are	a	selection	
of	key	views;	this	list	is	not	exhaustive	and	there	may	be	other	views	of	
significance.	Any	proposals	for	development	within	the	Conservation	Area,	or	
its	environs,	should	consider	the	views	below	and	any	others	which	may	be	
relevant	or	highlighted	as	part	of	a	bespoke	assessment	of	that	proposal.

Views of the church of St John the Baptist are important to understanding the 
historic	village	character	of	Great	Clacton	and	its	significance,	and	the	church	
tower acts as a marker for the settlement. The church tower appears in longer 
range views when travelling north and uphill on Old Road, west along Valley 
Road	when	nearing	the	Ship	Inn,	and	can	be	seen	through	a	gap	between	a	
small terrace of four twentieth century houses and the 1960s shops on the 
east side of North Road. 

Views	east	along	St	John’s	Road	are	terminated	by	the	boundary	of	
the	churchyard,	marked	by	a	large	horse-chestnut	tree.	Attractive	views	
encompassing	Church	House,	the	listed	buildings	on	the	corner	of	St	John’s	
Road	and	Old	Road,	Saddlers	Cottage	and	the	Queen’s	Head	can	be	gained	
when looking west from the eastern edge of the churchyard. 

Views	between	The	Ship	Inn	and	Church	House	and	the	Maltings	are	also	
important to understanding the historic nature of the Conservation Area, as 
are kinetic views along Valley Road which, when travelling west, take in the 
Great Clacton Methodist Church, Eaglehurst, Forge Cottage, the Ship Inn and 
The	Maltings	against	a	clear	sky	backdrop.	

Travelling south on North Road, views encompass the Plough and the 
Queen’s	Head	and	are	terminated	by	Numbers	9	and	19	St	John’s	Road.	

Figure 28 View north along Old Road towards the centre of the Conservation Area and the church 
tower

Figure 29 View west along Valley Road towards the historic village centre

P
age 62



3939

RAMPLINGS AVENUE

OLD
 R

OAD

W
IN

D
M

IL
L 

PA
R

K

PUFFINSDALE

VALLEY ROAD

WAY

NIG
HTING

ALE

MARTINSDALE

ST JOHN'S ROAD

126

359

42

The Queen's Head
Hotel

Flats

355a

134

130

381

377

390

371363

361

31

7

46
38

25
2729b

3

33

67

11

1 2

1511

25c

1

34

Factory

5

1
3

Mews

1 - 3

438

448

444
440

32

Church

3

148

12

5

1

90

387

11

9a

Vicarage

Shelter

PCs

Ship Inn

7 405

54

6

397
395

383

44

25

15

1

18

32

34

35

64

74

82

408 to 422

Windmill Court

402

406

9

268a
12b

14a

PO

54

3123

21

2b
4

Community Centre

5

17

975

1

15 22

11

2

7

Court

3
1 to 7

24

41

18

53

Sodbury House

Rockledge

28

57

10

PO

Baptist's Church
St John theHall

Abbey

7

28

2

17

42

17

26

30

11

11

15

32

19

16

19

32 to 36

1

16

14

29

34

61

15El Sub Sta

25

25

7 57

59

14

50

53

23

16

Great Clacton
Proposed
Conservation Area
Great Clacton
Conservation Area
Existing Boundary

±0 25 50
Metres

Figure 30 Map showing key views

P
age 63



4040

Great Clacton Conservation Area

3.5 Setting of the Conservation Area 

The	NPPF	describes	the	setting	of	a	heritage	asset	as:	

The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent 
is not fixed and may change as the asset and its surroundings 
evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative 
contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to 
appreciate that significance or may be neutral.

Historic England Good Practice Advice Note on the Setting of 
Heritage Assets (2017) indicates that the setting of a heritage asset 
is the surroundings in which the asset is experienced. It notes 
‘Where	that	experience	is	capable	of	being	affected	by	a	proposed	
development	(in	any	way)	then	the	proposed	development	can	be	
said	to	affect	the	setting	of	that	asset’.

Historic	England’s	advice	note	on	setting	includes	a	‘(non-exhaustive) 
check-list	of	potential	attributes	of	a	setting	that	may	help	to	elucidate	
its	contribution	to	significance'.	As	the	advice	note	states,	‘only	a	
limited	selection	of	the	attributes	listed	will	be	of	a	particular	relevance	
to	an	asset’.

This	checklist	has	been	used	to	inform	this	assessment.	

© Place Services 2023

The historically rural and agricultural setting of the Conservation Area 
has	been	overtaken	by	modern	housing	and	small-scale	commercial	
development	on	all	sides	and	thus	it	is	difficult	to	gain	a	sense	that	
the coast lies less than two miles to the south of the church. There 
are no long-range views from within the Conservation Area that 
reveal this aspect of its location. 

Overall, the setting of the Conservation Area makes a limited 
contribution	to	its	significance,	however,	the	topography	of	the	
setting	makes	some	contribution	to	how	that	significance	is	revealed,	
particularly where Old Road rises uphill from the south towards the 
centre	of	the	village,	affording	views	of	the	church	tower.	This	and	
other kinetic views into the Conservation Area on the main approach 
roads	are	described	in	Section	3.4	and	contribute	to	setting	and	
significance.	

The	Conservation	Area	and	its	immediate	setting	is	also	accessible	
and	permeable	with	strong	patterns	of	vehicular	and	pedestrian	
movement along the main through routes that converge within the 
area. However, twentieth century housing developments to the east 
of	the	Conservation	Area	are	less	permeable	reflecting	the	mid-
century proliferation of cul-de-sacs designed to discourage through 
traffic	and	thus	promote	safer	areas	for	families	with	children	to	live	
in. The prevailing domestic land use of the setting has generally 
limited	building	heights	to	two	storeys	which	has	been	beneficial	in	
retaining	a	sense	of	openness	and	permeability	and	the	ability	to	
appreciate designated and non-designated heritage assets against a 
clear	sky	backdrop,	in	particular	the	church	tower.

P
age 64



4141

There is just one designated heritage asset located in the setting of 
the Conservation Area:

• Grade II listed Yew Trees (List UID 1111527) to the west along St 
John’s	Road

The following non-designated heritage assets are located within the 
setting of the Conservation Area:

• 17 North Road (the Great Clacton Surgery) is located just 
beyond	the	Conservation	Area	boundary.	It	is	a	later	nineteenth	
century	classically	detailed	house	with	a	two	storey	bay	window,	
in	fair	faced	gault	brick.	The	clay	tile	roof	still	present	to	the	bay	
has	unfortunately	been	replaced	with	cement	tile	on	the	main	
roof.		Providing	one	of	the	only	examples	of	a	building	from	this	
period in the setting of the Conservation Area, it makes a positive 
contribution	to	the	street	scene.	

• The	Mill	is	situated	approximately	50	metres	beyond	the	
Conservation	Area	boundary	on	the	west	side	of	Old	Road.	This	
is an impressive three storey former corn mill dating to the early 
twentieth	century	(on	the	site	of	a	previous	corn	mill	built	in	1867).	
It	is	of	white	painted	brick	with	a	black	weatherboarded	lucam	(the	
projecting	housing	for	a	hoist	pulley),	and	has	been	converted	
to	house	office	units.	Its	tarmacked	plot	is	bounded	by	a	white	
painted	timber	picket	fence.	The	Corn	Mill	was	associated	with	
the nineteenth century windmill formerly located to the east of Old 
Road demolished circa 1918.

• Sodbury	Hall	is	located	to	the	east	of	the	Vicarage	at	the	northern	
end	of	Nightingale	Way.	Dating	to	1892,	it	was	designed	by	
architect J O Smith in the Queen Anne style with tall chimneys 
and	retains	its	impressive	rooftop	belvedere.	The	house	has	been	
converted	to	flats	and	has	suffered	from	some	unsympathetic	
additions	and	alterations	including	a	large	double	garage	and	
uPVC windows, however, it remains an important local nineteenth 
century	building.

Figure 31 The Mill on Old Road in the setting of the Conservation Area

P
age 65



4242

4.  Opportunities for Enhancement

The	following	opportunities	for	enhancement	have	been	identified	
and	are	summarised	below	in	brief.	The	list	is	in	no	way	exhaustive	
and	neither	are	the	opportunities	identified	unique	to	Great	Clacton	
with	many	being	shared	with	other	Conservation	Areas.

4.1 Road	Traffic

As noted in the character summary, there is constant and heavy road 
vehicle	traffic	through	the	centre	of	Great	Clacton	which	reflects	the	
high level of connectivity of the Conservation Area with the wider local 
area. However, the noise and congestion arising from this detracts 
from	the	Conservation	Area’s	historic	village	character	and	the	ability	
to	appreciate	its	significance	and	the	significance	of	individual	listed	
buildings	which	line	the	main	routes.	Any	opportunities	to	disperse	
through	traffic	to	alternative	routes	would	be	beneficial.

4.2 Interpretation

Due to the amount of development surrounding Great Clacton which 
knits it into the wider area of Clacton-on-Sea, the Conservation Area 
would	benefit	from	a	well-designed	interpretation	board,	perhaps	
upon entry to the churchyard, which explains the history of the village 
from	its	medieval	origins	and	which	highlights	its	historic	buildings.	

4.3 Vacant Buildings

Vacant	buildings	can	have	a	negative	impact	on	the	character	and	
appearance of the Conservation Area and without occupation, regular 
maintenance	and	repair	they	may	suffer	from	criminal	damage	as	
well	as	water	ingress	leading	to	losses	of	historic	fabric	and	features.	
The following heritage assets were vacant at the time of survey in 
October	2022:

• Grade II listed Great Clacton Hall – there is an opportunity to 
enhance	the	significance	of	this	heritage	asset	by	re-instating	
its use. Ideally, the detracting uPVC windows to the extension 
would	be	replaced	by	timber	framed	windows	sympathetic	to	
the	host	building.	There	are	also	opportunities	to	improve	the	
area	of	garden	and	hard	landscaping	around	the	building	which	
has a very neglected feel and reveals nothing of the history of 
the	building	and	its	former	grounds.	The	car	park	directly	to	the	
north of Great Clacton Hall also detracts from its setting and 
significance.	

• Grade II listed 383 Old Road – the site is currently protected 
by	unsightly	Heras	fencing	and	the	front	garden	is	overgrown,	
with a large spoil heap from excavations on site. It is clear 
that	renovation	work	has	been	undertaken	on	the	outbuildings	
adjoining	the	house	but	the	property	seems	to	have	been	vacant	
for several years.

• Number	19	St	John’s	Road	–	this	was	formerly	the	Post	Office	
and	is	now	a	vacant	shop	which	would	benefit	from	a	new	use.	
The	shop	front	could	be	markedly	improved	by	replacement	of	the	
detracting uPVC windows and door.

P
age 66



4343

• Former	Public	Convenience	(Old	Road,	adjacent	to	The	Ship	
public	house)	was	vacant	at	the	time	of	survey	but	there	was	
evidence	of	work	being	carried	out	to	the	interior	of	the	building	
suggesting	a	new	use	may	be	imminent.	The	appearance	of	this	
building	would	be	enhanced	by	the	replacement	of	the	uPVC	
window	with	a	timber	alternative.

• Number	397	Old	Road	is	another	vacant	shop,	which	appears	to	
be	in	good	decorative	order.

4.4 Loss of Architectural Details

Many	windows	in	the	Conservation	Area	are	of	a	traditional	timber	
framed	form	but	there	are	a	regrettably	high	number	of	uPVC	
replacement windows and doors. These are of a poor quality material 
which	cannot	be	used	to	sympathetically	reflect	traditional	detailing	
and	profiles,	and	often	historic	glazing	patterns	are	lost	when	
windows are replaced. This detracts from the historic character and 
appearance	of	individual	buildings	and	from	that	of	the	Conservation	
Area as a whole. 

Poor quality plastic rather than traditional painted metal rainwater 
goods	are	also	found	on	many	buildings	in	the	Conservation	Area,	
including	some	listed	buildings	(for	example	The	Queen’s	Head).	As	
well	as	having	a	poor	quality	appearance,	they	are	also	less	robust	
than	traditional	metal	rainwater	goods	and	may	be	at	higher	risk	of	
failure leading to the risk of water ingress and damage to historic 
fabric.

4.5 Public	Realm

	Street	Furniture	(including	lampposts,	signage,	bins,	bollards)	

Street furniture throughout the Conservation Area is generally of poor 
quality, and unsympathetic in character, particularly with regard to 
streetlights,	bollards	and	bins.	These	would	be	enhanced	through	
replacement with traditional and consistent models which respect the 
historic character of the area. 

Although	some	traditional	hanging	and	painted	signs	have	been	
retained	to	public	houses	and	shops,	there	is	also	the	opportunity	for	
improvements	to	be	made	to	shop	signage	(including	to	the	1960s	
commercial development), where:

• It has proliferated (for example on the Thai Vintage restaurant at 
1-3	St	John’s	Road	which	is	a	listed	building);

• Is	overly	large;

• Is	internally	illuminated;

• Features poor quality and unsympathetic plastic fascia and 
lettering	which	dominate	the	facades	of	buildings	and	harm	the	
overall historic character of the streets (for example, as seen on 
Reg’s	Fish	&	Kebab	on	St	John’s	Road	and	The	Royal	Barber	at	
Church House). 

The	use	of	temporary	vinyl	advertising	banners	affixed	to	buildings	in	
the	Conservation	Area	should	be	resisted.	

P
age 67



4444

Hard Landscaping 

Road and pavement surfaces are generally of poor quality tarmac 
and of patched, inconsistent and poor appearance throughout the 
Conservation Area. No vestiges of historic surface materials appear 
to have survived. Where there are areas of paving stones rather 
than tarmac surfaces, for example to the front of the Thai Vintage 
Restaurant, these are sometimes of poor quality, are cracked and in 
poor	condition.	Areas	of	block	paving	have	been	introduced	in	the	
Conservation	Area,	for	example	to	the	car	park	of	The	Queen’s	Head	
and	the	parking	area	of	a	new	development	to	the	rear	of	Number	19	
St	John’s	Road,	which	are	not	sympathetic	to	the	historic	character	of	
the Conservation Area. 

Hard landscaping can have a particularly harmful impact on the 
character	of	an	area	where	areas	of	private	front	gardens	have	been	
paved over in a piecemeal approach and are inconsistent with their 
neighbours	and	adjoining	paving	(for	example	at	the	Maltings	and	
the terrace of four early twentieth century houses on the east side of 
North Road).

Open Spaces 

There	appears	to	be	only	one	managed	public	open	green	space	
in the Conservation Area which is the churchyard. As elsewhere, 
this	features	tarmac	paths	which	do	not	reflect	the	historic	character	
and appearance of the Grade I listed church. The single storey pre-
fabricated	twentieth	century	church	hall	to	the	west	of	the	church	is	of	
poor architectural quality and materials. Although it is acknowledged 
to	be	a	vital	and	valued	community	facility	it	detracts	from	the	
churchyard	setting	of	the	listed	building	and	its	significance.	

There	is	a	small	area	of	unkempt	private	scrubland	on	Old	Road	
located	to	the	south	of	Number	395	which	would	benefit	from	
management	and	maintenance.	It	is	proposed	to	revise	the	boundary	
of	the	Conservation	Area	to	omit	another	area	of	unkempt	scrubland	
directly	fronting	Valley	Road	and	a	tarmacked	area	behind	this	
surrounding	the	Army	Cadets’	building.

Trees and Planting 

Appropriate	levels	of	maintenance	need	to	be	ensured	and,	where	
required, opportunities for enhancement sought to maintain and 
manage the trees within the Conservation Area which are primarily in 
the	churchyard	but	also	on	private	land	at	the	western	end	of	Valley	
Road. 

P
age 68



4545

4.6 Unsympathetic	additions

There are numerous satellite dishes and some air conditioning 
units	on	the	principal	facades	of	buildings	in	the	Conservation	Area	
including	to	listed	buildings	(for	example	Church	House)	which	
detract from the character and appearance of the heritage assets.

4.7 Inappropriate Modern Development

Not all modern development in and around the Conservation is 
inappropriate	by	any	means,	however,	there	are	a	number	of	
examples	of	post-war	infill	and	backland	development	within	the	
Conservation Area and within its immediate setting which have had 
a negative impact on its historic village character and appearance. 
Most	notable	amongst	these	is:	

• The large one and two storey commercial development just 
outside	the	Conservation	Area	boundary	on	the	east	side	of	
North Road, the scale, massing, design and materials of which 
are entirely unsympathetic to the historic core. The setting of 
Great	Clacton	Hall	has	been	greatly	eroded	by	this	commercial	
development and its car park to the rear. Due to erosion of the 
hall’s	historic	setting	and	alterations	to	the	building	itself	including	
the	addition	of	a	large	modern	wing	at	the	north	end,	it	is	difficult	
to discern the historic nature of Great Clacton Hall.

• Directly	to	the	North	of	number	406	Old	Road,	a	mid-twentieth	
century	social	housing	development	of	two,	two	storey	blocks	
of	flats	which	have	the	appearance	of	two	pairs	of	large	semi-
detached	houses	faced	in	red	brick	at	ground	floor	level	and	hung	
with	red	pantiles	to	the	upper	floor,	with	hipped	roofs	of	the	same	
material. They have replacement uPVC casement windows. The 
two	blocks	are	arranged	on	two	sides	of	a	large	communal	front	
garden	laid	to	lawn	and	bounded	with	a	timber	fence.

• Also on North Road, a poor quality single storey rendered former 
industrial	building	set	back	within	a	gravelled	yard	which	is	
currently in use as The Iron Works Gym.  

More recent housing developments, whilst of an appropriate form, 
incorporate	poor	quality	materials	such	as	uPVC	rather	than	timber	or	
aluminium framed windows and cement tile rather than clay tile roofs. 
It	is	recommended	that	a	recent	development	of	bungalows	at	the	
northern end of Nightingale Way to the east of the Vicarage should 
be	omitted	from	the	Conservation	Area.	Although	these	have	been	
carefully	detailed,	they	do	not	reflect	the	traditional	form	or	materials	
of	buildings	in	the	Conservation	Area	nor	of	other	housing	in	the	local	
area. 

P
age 69



4646

4.8 Neutral	Contributors

A	number	of	buildings	and	plots	are	currently	considered	to	make	
a	neutral	contribution	to	the	character	and	appearance	of	the	
Conservation	Area.	The	dilution	of	positive	buildings	amongst	those	
which are neutral leads to an underwhelming and indistinctive overall 
character.	Notable	areas	which	make	a	neutral	contribution	are:

• The	1960s	development	of	shops	with	flats	above	on	North	Road	
and	St	John’s	Road

• The terrace of four mid-twentieth century houses on the east side 
of North Road

• The Vicarage

• Twenty-first	century	developments	on	Old	Road	including	Ship	
Mews, Old Valley Mews and Mascot Court. 

 

 

P
age 70



4747

5. Management Proposals

There are a range of issues facing the Great Clacton Conservation 
Area, many of which share common themes. This section seeks to 
recommend	management	proposals	which	address	these	in	both	the	
short and long term.

5.1 Positive Management

The	first	set	of	proposals	relate	to	positive	management	and	focus	on	
good practice and improved ways of working with the Local Planning 
Authority.	These	are	generally	low	cost	and	can	be	implemented	
within a short timeframe, typically within one or two years. 

Local Heritage List

Tendring District Council is in the process of developing the local 
heritage	list.	Suggestions	have	been	made	within	this	document	of	
buildings	to	be	considered	for	inclusion	on	this	list.

Article 4 Directions 

Article	4	Directions	are	additional	planning	controls	which	can	be	
introduced	by	a	Local	Planning	Authority	to	revoke	certain	Permitted	
Development	Rights.	Permitted	Development	Rights	allow	building	
owners to carry out certain works to their properties without the need 
for planning permission and are set out within the General Permitted 
Development Order (GPDO). 

Article 4 Directions served on properties within the Conservation 
Area would introduce the need to apply for planning permission for 
certain	works	and	this	would	allow	the	Council	to	better	preserve	
and	enhance	the	area	by	ensuring	high	quality	design	and	use	
of traditional materials. An example of an Article 4 Direction that 
would	be	beneficial	would	be	the	removal	of	Class	A	of	the	GPDO	
which	would	limit	changes	to	front	elevations	of	buildings	such	as	
replacement windows and doors. 

Enforcement 

Where the necessary permission is not sought for alterations which 
are not contained within the General Permitted Development Order, 
the Local Planning Authority should consider its enforcement powers. 
This could assist in reinstating any lost character or architectural 
features	whose	loss	may	have	a	negative	cumulative	effect	on	the	
Conservation	Area,	as	well	as	avoiding	a	precedent	being	set	for	
similar, uncharacteristic works. 

General	Maintenance:	Public	Realm	and	Highways

Through the agreement of standard good practice within the 
Conservation	Area	between	relevant	Local	Authority	teams	and	
other	landowners,	long	term	goals	can	be	set	to	promote	good	
design	within	the	public	realm.	This	could	include	elements	such	
as improvements to the quality and appearance of materials used 
on road and pavement surfaces to enhance local character and 

P
age 71



4848

distinctiveness, and likewise avoiding excessive road markings or 
signage;	and	agreeing	standard	forms	of	street	furniture	based	on	
local historic examples to ensure consistency over time as elements 
are introduced or replaced. This will have a long-term positive impact 
on the Conservation Area. 

Heritage Statements, Heritage Impact Assessments and 
Archaeological Assessments 

In	accordance	with	the	NPPF	(Para.194),	applicants	must	describe	
the	significance	of	any	heritage	assets	affected,	including	any	
contribution	made	by	their	setting.	The	level	of	detail	should	be	
proportionate	to	the	assets’	importance	and	no	more	than	is	
sufficient	to	understand	the	potential	impact	of	the	proposal	on	their	
significance.	

All applications within the Conservation Area and immediate setting 
require an appropriately detailed Heritage Statement. Any application 
without	a	Heritage	Statement	should	not	be	validated.	This	includes	
development outside the Conservation Area. Where appropriate, 
views	must	be	considered	within	Design	and	Access	or	Heritage	
Statements.	This	should	be	in	accordance	with	Historic	England’s	
Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 3: The Setting of Heritage 
Assets (2017). Applications which fail to have assessed any impact 
upon	views	and	setting	should	not	be	validated.	

The key views analysed within this document are in no way 
exhaustive. The impact of any addition, alteration or removal of 
buildings,	structures,	trees	or	highways	on	key	views	should	be	
considered to aid decision making. This includes development 
outside	the	Conservation	Area.	Where	appropriate,	views	must	be	
considered within Design and Access or Heritage Statements. This 
should	be	in	accordance	with	Historic	England’s	Good	Practice	
Advice in Planning Note 3: The Setting of Heritage Assets (2017). 

Figure 32 Poor quality surfaces and street furniture detract from the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area

P
age 72



4949

Applications which fail to have assessed any impact upon views and 
setting	should	not	be	validated.	This	is	particularly	important	for	the	
development of any sites allocated for development as part of the 
Local Plan process as the change to the setting of the Conservation 
Area	should	be	fully	assessed,	understood	and,	where	necessary,	
mitigated.

Tree Management 

Trees	that	are	either	located	in	a	Conservation	Area,	covered	by	
a Tree Preservation Order or planning condition have a degree of 
protection. 

Where	a	tree	is	protected	consent	must	be	given	by	the	Council	
in	writing	before	you	do	any	works	to	it	including	cutting	down,	
uprooting, topping, lopping, severing roots, wilful damage or 
destruction.	The	Council	must	be	notified	of	any	intended	works	to	
trees	through	the	submission	of	a	Notification	of	Proposed	Works	to	
Trees in a Conservation Area. 

Where	trees	contribute	to	local	amenity	and	the	character	or	
appearance of the Conservation Area their retention and appropriate 
management	will	be	encouraged.	If	felling	is	necessary	due	to	the	
condition of the tree (dead, dying or dangerous) then an appropriate 
replacement	tree	should	be	planted.	

New	Development	

To	be	successful,	any	future	development	needs	to	be	mindful	of	
the local character of the conservation area, while at the same time 
addressing	contemporary	issues	such	as	sustainability.	

Historic England and CABE guidelines state that successful new 
development will: 

• Relate to the geography and history of the place and the lie of the 
land;	

• Sit happily in the pattern of existing development and routes 
through	and	around	it	(including	public	footpaths);	

• Respect	important	views;	

• Respect	the	scale	of	neighbouring	buildings;	

• Use	materials	and	building	methods	as	high	in	quality	of	those	
used	in	existing	buildings;	and	

• Create new views and juxtapositions which add to the variety and 
texture of their setting. 

Tendring District Council should guide development in a positive 
manner	by:	

• Engaging with developers at an early stage through the Pre-

P
age 73



5050

Application Process and Local Plan Process to ensure modern 
development is high quality in design, detail and materials. 

• Ensuring medium-large scale development schemes are 
referred to a CABE Design Review (or similar) to ensure that 
new	buildings,	additions	and	alterations	are	designed	to	be	in	
sympathy	with	the	established	character	of	the	area.	The	choice	
of	materials	and	the	detailed	design	of	building	features	are	
important	in	making	sure	it’s	appropriate	to	a	conservation	area.	

• Seeking opportunities for developers to make a positive 
contribution	to	the	wider	historic	environment	through	Section	106	
Agreements. 

Neutral Elements 

The	dilution	of	positive	buildings	amongst	those	which	are	neutral	
leads to an underwhelming and indistinctive overall character. 
Tendring District Council must not allow for the quality of design to 
be	‘averaged	down’	by	the	neutral	and	negative	elements	of	the	built	
environment.	Officers	must,	where	possible,	seek	schemes	which	
enhance	the	built	environment.

Public	Facing	Resources	

The	preservation	and	enhancement	of	private	properties	can	be	
improved	through	the	publication	of	resources	aimed	to	inform	

property	owners	and	members	of	the	public.	An	introductory	
summary	of	the	Conservation	Area	Appraisal	in	the	form	of	a	leaflet	
or	factsheet(s)	is	a	simple	way	to	communicate	the	significance	
of	the	area	and	ensure	members	of	the	public	are	aware	of	the	
implications of owning a property within a Conservation Area. Poor 
maintenance	leads	to	the	deterioration	of	the	fabric	of	the	built	
environment and results in a loss of architectural details. Improved 
awareness	of	simple	maintenance	and	repair	would	be	conducive	to	
the	preservation	of	Great	Clacton’s	built	heritage.

5.2 Positive Management: Longer Term

These	proposals	are	also	focused	around	positive	management	but	
either	take	longer	to	implement	or	are	better	suited	to	a	longer	time	
frame.

Conservation Area Boundary

Revisions	to	the	Conservation	Area	boundary	have	been	proposed	
within this appraisal in accordance with the NPPF (2021) and Historic 
England Advice Note 1: Conservation Area Appraisal, Designation 
and Management (2019).

The	Conservation	Area	should	be	reviewed	regularly	to	monitor	
change	and	inform	management	proposals.	The	boundary	should	be	
assessed	as	part	of	this	review	to	ensure	it	is	robust	and	adequately	
protects	the	significance	of	the	area.

P
age 74



5151

Character Appraisal and Management Plan 

The	Conservation	Area	Character	Appraisal	should	be	reviewed	
regularly to monitor change and inform amendments and additions to 
the Management Plan. 

Public	Realm	and	Highways	

The	Highways	Department	should	be	engaged	to	conduct	an	
assessment of existing signage within the Conservation Area with 
a	view	to	‘de-clutter’	the	historic	environment.	Other	case	studies	
have found this was a cost-neutral exercise due to the scrap value of 
signage and posts. 

Collaboration	between	the	Highways	Department	and	Local	
Planning Authority should ensure the maintenance and replacement 
programme for street furniture (including lampposts) and hard 
surfacing	reflects	the	character	and	local	distinctiveness	of	the	
Conservation Area. 

Improved	Understanding	and	Awareness	

At	present	there	is	no	interpretation	(information	boards,	signage,	
interactive QR Codes) within the Conservation Area aimed at 
improving	understanding	and	awareness.	This	would	be	an	effective	
way	to	improve	awareness	and	re-establish	the	identity	of	Great	
Clacton as a historic settlement. 

Heritage at Risk 

Currently	there	are	no	assets	on	Historic	England’s	Heritage	at	Risk	
Register.	However,	it	is	advised	that	officers	devise	a	system	to	
monitor	the	status	of	the	two	Grade	II	listed	buildings	(Great	Clacton	
Hall	and	383	Old	Road)	identified	in	this	appraisal	to	be	at	possible	
risk	within	the	Conservation	Area,	and	if	necessary,	bring	these	to	the	
attention of Historic England.

P
age 75



5252

5.3 Funding Opportunities

There are three main funding opportunities which would assist in the 
execution of these plans:

National Heritage Lottery Fund (NLHF)

The NLHF is the single largest dedicated funder of heritage in the 
UK	and	therefore	is	the	most	obvious	potential	source	of	funding.	
Funding is often targeted at schemes which preserve, enhance and 
better	reveal	the	special	interest	of	the	area	whilst	also	improving	
public	awareness	and	understanding.	Grant	opportunities	and	
requirements change over time, for up-to-date information on NHLF 
schemes Tendring District Council should consult their appointed 
Heritage Specialist.

Section 106 Agreements

Planning	obligations,	also	known	as	Section	106	agreements,	can	
be	used	by	the	local	authority	to	ensure	any	future	development	has	
a	positive	impact	upon	Great	Clacton.	These	agreements	could	be	
used	to	fund	public	realm	or	site	specific	improvements.

Partnership Schemes in Conservation Areas (Historic England)

Partnership Schemes in Conservation Areas is a programme run 
by	Historic	England	to	target	funding	for	the	preservation	and	
enhancement of conservation areas. As the name suggests, the 
scheme forms partnerships with local authorities (along with any 
additional funding partners) to facilitate the regeneration of an area 
through	the	conservation	of	its	built	heritage.	The	scheme	makes	
funds	available	to	individuals	to	enable	them	to	carry	out	repairs	or	
improvement works to their property to enhance the area. This would 
be	suitable	to	preserve	and	enhance	the	shop	frontages	noted	to	
require improvement.

P
age 76



5353

6. Appendices
6.1 Designated Heritage Assets

List Entry Name Grade List Date Amend Date Legacy	UID NGR

1111525 GREAT 
CLACTON 
HALL

II 04/07/1986 119879 TM 17690 
16570

1111526 THE SHIP INN II 04/07/1986 119883 TM 17668 
16415

1111528 SADDLERS 
COTTAGE

II 04/07/1986 119889 TM 17614 
16466

1165521 THE PLOUGH II 04/07/1986 119880 TM 17583 
16522

1165532 THE QUEEN'S 
HEAD HOTEL

II 04/07/1986 119886 TM 17589 
16495

1317258 383, OLD 
ROAD

II 04/07/1986 119882 TM 17596 
16329

1317259 CHURCH OF 
ST JOHN THE 
BAPTIST

I 04/07/1986 119884 TM 17708 
16529

1317265 "CROWN TOP 
PAGE ESTATE 
AGENTS 
REWARDS 
RESTAURANT” 

II 04/07/1986 119888 TM 17628 
16463

P
age 77



5454

List Entry Name Grade List Date Amend Date Legacy	UID NGR

1317272 THREE 
CHIMNEYS

II 04/07/1986 119890 TM 17563 
16472

1337151 THE 
MALTINGS 
AND SHOP 
ON CORNER 
OF ST JOHNS 
ROAD, 
ATTACHED TO 
AND

II 04/07/1986 119881 TM 17641 
16454

1337152 "CHURCH 
HOUSE

II 26/10/1973 04/07/1986 119885 TM 17652 
16497

1337153 ST JOHNS 
HOUSE

II 04/07/1986 119891 TM 17730 
16390

P
age 78



5555

6.2 Bibliography

Publications

J Bettley and N Pevsner, Essex (Pevsner Architectural Guides: Buildings of England), (Yale University Press), 2007 

Roger	Kennell,	The	Place-Names	of	Great	Clacton	(Essex	Society	for	Archaeology	&	History,	2016	(e-book)

Ed.	Christopher	C	Thornton	with	Herbert	Eiden,	Victoria	County	History	Essex,	Volume	XI	-	Clacton,	Walton	and	
Frinton: North-East Essex Seaside Resorts (2011)

Tendring District Council Conservation Area Review: Great Clacton Conservation Area (March 2006)

Tendring District Historic Environment Characterisation Project, Essex County Council (2008) 

Tendring Geodiversity Characterisation Report, Essex County Council (2009) 

Webpages

https://www.clactonhistory.co.uk/smuggling-tales-great-clacton/ 

https://www.geograph.org.uk/photo/2946282 

Archives

Essex	Record	Office	(ERO)

Historic Environment Record (Essex County Council)

P
age 79



5656

6.3 Legislation, Policy and Guidance

LEGISLATION/POLICY/GUIDANCE DOCUMENT SECTION/POLICY

Primary Legislation Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990

66:	General	duty	as	respects	listed	buildings	in	exercise	of	
planning functions.

72: General duty as respects conservation areas in 
exercise of planning functions.

National Planning Policy National Planning Policy Framework 
(2021) DLUGH

Section	16;

Annex 2

National Guidance National Planning Practice Guidance 
(2014) DLUGH

ID: 18a

National Guidance Historic England (2017) Good Practice 
Advice in Planning Note 3 (Second 
Edition): The Setting of Heritage Assets

National Guidance English Heritage (2019) Conservation 
Principles, Policies and Guidance

Local Policy Tendring District Council Local Plan 
(2007)

QL9 – Design of New Development 

QL11	–	Environmental	Impacts	and	Compatibility	of	Uses	

EN1- Landscape Character 

EN17- Conservation Areas 

EN20- Demolition within Conservation Areas 

EN21- Demolition of Listed Buildings 

EN22- Extension and Alterations to Listed Buildings 

EN23- Development within the Proximity of a Listed 
Building

P
age 80



5757

 

6.4 Glossary 

Term Description
Archaeological interest There	will	be	archaeological	interest	in	a	heritage	asset	if	it	holds,	or	potentially	may	hold,	evidence	of	

past human activity worthy of expert investigation at some point. Heritage assets with archaeological 
interest	are	the	primary	source	of	evidence	about	the	substance	and	evolution	of	places,	and	of	the	
people and cultures that made them.

Conservation (for heritage policy) The process of maintaining and managing change to a heritage asset in a way that sustains and, 
where	appropriate,	enhances	its	significance.

Designated heritage asset A World Heritage Site, Scheduled Monument, Listed Building, Protected Wreck Site, Registered Park 
and	Garden,	Registered	Battlefield	or	Conservation	Area	designated	under	the	relevant	legislation.

Heritage asset A	building,	monument,	site,	place,	area	or	landscape	identified	as	having	a	degree	of	significance	
meriting	consideration	in	planning	decisions,	because	of	its	heritage	interest.	Heritage	asset	includes	
designated	heritage	assets	and	assets	identified	by	the	local	planning	authority	(including	local	
listing).

Historic environment All	aspects	of	the	environment	resulting	from	the	interaction	between	people	and	places	through	time,	
including	all	surviving	physical	remains	of	past	human	activity,	whether	visible,	buried	or	submerged,	
and	landscaped	and	planted	or	managed	flora.

Historic environment record Information services that seek to provide access to comprehensive and dynamic resources relating to 
the	historic	environment	of	a	defined	geographic	area	for	public	benefit	and	use.

Setting of a heritage asset The	surroundings	in	which	a	heritage	asset	is	experienced.	Its	extent	is	not	fixed	and	may	change	
as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative 
contribution	to	the	significance	of	an	asset,	may	affect	the	ability	to	appreciate	that	significance	or	
may	be	neutral.

Significance	(for	heritage	policy) The	value	of	a	heritage	asset	to	this	and	future	generations	because	of	its	heritage	interest.	That	
interest	may	be	archaeological,	architectural,	artistic	or	historic.	Significance	derives	not	only	from	a	
heritage	asset’s	physical	presence,	but	also	from	its	setting.

P
age 81



Place Services
County Hall, Essex CM1 1QH

T: +44 (0)3330 136 844
E: enquiries @placeservices.co.uk

www.placeservices.co.uk

 @PlaceServices

P
age 82



 Lawford Conservation Area
Character Appraisal and Management Plan
Client:
Tendring District Council

Date:
February 2023

P
age 83



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 22

Disclaimer

All reasonable efforts have been made to obtain permission for use of images within this report.  Materials and 
images used in this report which are subject to third party copyright or require reproduction permissions have been 
reproduced under licence from the copyright owner. This is except in the case of material or works of unknown 
authorship (as defined by the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988)  or the copyright holder is unknown after all 
reasonable effort has been made to seek licence to reproduce. 

All maps within this document are subject to copyright. © Crown copyright 2023 OS 100019602. You are permitted 
to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. 
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Any person who wishes to apply to reproduce any part of this work or wishing to assert rights in relation to material 
which has been reproduced as work of unknown authorship in this document should contact Place Services at 
enquiries@placeservices.co.uk 

P
age 84



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 33

Contents 
 
1.  Introduction     5
1.1. Summary     5
1.2. Conserving Tendring’s Heritage   6
1.3. Purpose of Appraisal    6
1.4. Frequently Asked Questions    7
1.5. Planning Policy and Guidance    10
1.6. Designation of the Conservation Area   10
1.7. Article 4 Directions     10

2.  Lawford Conservation Area    11
2.1. Context and General Character    11
2.2. Origin and Evolution     12 
2.3. Revisions to the Boundary    16
2.4. Designated Heritage Assets    18
2.5. Non-Designated Heritage Assets   18
2.6. Positive, Negative or Neutral Elements  20
2.7. Heritage at Risk     22
2.8. Archaeological Potential    22

3. Assessment of Significance    23
3.1. Summary     23
3.2. Character Areas     23
3.3. Character Area One - Lawford Hall and Park 25
3.4. Character Area Two - Church Hill   28
3.5. Character Area Three: Wignall Street and 
 Hungerdown Lane    31
3.6. Views      36
3.7. Setting of the Conservation Area   38

4.  Opportunities for Enhancement   40
4.1. Loss of Architectural Details   40
4.2. Unsympathetic additions    40
4.3. Neutral Contributors    41
4.4. Public Realm     41
4.5. Access and Integration    41
4.6. Colour Palette     42
4.7. Inappropriate Modern Development  42

5.  Management Proposals    43
5.1. Positive Management: Short term   43
5.2. Positive Management: Longer Term  45
5.3. Funding Opportunities    46

6. Appendices      47
6.1. Designated Heritage Assets   47
6.2. Publications     48
6.3. Legislation, Policy and Guidance  49
6.4. Glossary     51

P
age 85



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 44

CO

NSTABLEC

L OSE

N
ASH

C
LO

SE

C
O

X
S

 H
IL

L

C
O

XS H
ILL

DEDHAM ROAD

COTMAN

AVENUE

D
A

IR
Y

B
A

R
N

M
E

W
S

STO
URD

ALE
C

LO
S

E

STATION
ROAD

EA
TO

N
C

O
U

R
T

CH
U

R
C

H
V

IE
W

BR
O

O
K

LA
N

E

STOURDALECLOSE

C
H

ES
TE

R
GR

O
V

E

SCHOOL

LANE

MEADWAY

STOURDALECLOSE

PARRINGTO NWAY MEADWAY

SUMM ERS PARK AVENUE

H
U

N
TE

R
 D

R
IV

E

HU
NG

ER
DO

W
N

LA
NE

LONG ROAD

C
AV

E
N

D
IS

H
D

R
IV

E

HARWICH ROAD

WIGNALL STREET

LAW
FO

R
D

PLACE

C
O

X
S

 H
IL

L

C
O

TMAN

AV
ENUE

L

INDEN

C
LOSE

SPRINGBANKAVENUE

C
HURC

H
H

ILL

Lawford Proposed
Conservation Area

±0 75 150
Metres

Figure 1 Map showing proposed Conservation Area boundary

P
age 86



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 55

1.1 Summary

This Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan provides an overview of 
the Lawford Conservation Area, outlining its designation history, alterations to the 
boundary, and a description of its special interest. The appraisal will also consider 
buildings, green spaces and features which contribute to the Conservation Area’s 
character and appearance.

Conservation Area designation provides broader protection than the listing of 
individual buildings as it recognises all features within the area which form part 
of its character and appearance and ensures that planning decisions take the 
enhancement and preservation of the area into consideration.

The special interest of Lawford Conservation Area is derived from its building stock, 
layout and relatively intact historic character. There are a concentration of historic 
buildings along Wignall Street, whilst the northern section of the Conservation 
Area is dominated by Lawford Hall and the parish church of St Marys. Traditional 
materials and construction methods are commonplace, with large areas of parkland 
reinforcing the status of the hall and the contributing to the rural character of the 
Conservation Area.

Historically, Lawford comprised a small settlement on Wignall Street with further 
settlement along Church Hill linking the main road with the medieval church and 
hall; this layout is still discernible with little modern infill or encirclement of the historic 
routes.  Lawford Hall is separated from the rest of the settlement by parkland.  Most 
of the historic settlement is located within the Conservation Area, from which it 
derives its character and special quality.  Modern Lawford is located to the east of 
the historic settlement, linking the historic core with the town of Manningtree.  

1. Introduction

Figure 2 Chapman and Andre Map of 1777 showing Lawford

P
age 87



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 66

1.2 Conserving Tendring’s Heritage

Tendring District Council appointed Place Services to prepare a Conservation Area 
Appraisal for Lawford Conservation Area in 2022. The document is provided as 
baseline information to support in the conservation of Lawford’s heritage. 

This report provides an assessment of the historic development and character 
of Lawford and outlines its special interest. The appraisal will also consider 
the significance of individual heritage assets within the Conservation Area and 
the contribution that these, along with their setting, make to the character of the 
Conservation Area as a whole. The understanding of significance will be used to 
assess the susceptibility of the Conservation Area to new development, highlighting 
key assets of importance and vulnerabilities.

1.3 Purpose of Appraisal

This document is to be used as a baseline to inform future change, development 
and design with regard to the sensitivities of the historic environment and its unique 
character. 

The appraisal recognises designated and non-designated heritage assets within the 
area which contribute to its special interest, along with their setting. 

It will identify the area’s building styles, forms, materials, scale, density, roads, 
footpaths, alleys, streetscapes, open spaces, views, landscape, landmarks, and 
topography. These qualities will be used to assess the key characteristics of the 
area, highlighting what potential impact future developments may have upon the 
significance of heritage assets. This assessment is based on information derived 
from documentary research, site visits and analysis of the Conservation Area.

This appraisal will enhance understanding of Lawford Conservation Aera and 
its development, informing future design. Applications that demonstrate an 
understanding of the character of a Conservation Area are more likely to produce 
appropriate design and positive outcomes for agents and their clients. 

It is expected that applications for planning permission will also consult and follow the 
best practice guidance outlined in the bibliography. 

P
age 88



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 77

1.4 Frequently Asked Questions

What is a conservation area?

Conservation areas are designated by the Local Planning Authority as areas 
of special architectural and historic interest. There are many different types of 
conservation area, which vary in size and character, and range from historic town 
centres to country houses set in historic parks. Conservation area designation 
introduces additional planning controls and considerations, which exist to protect an 
area’s special character and appearance and the features that make it unique and 
distinctive. Although designation introduces controls over the way that owners can 
develop their properties, it is generally considered that these controls are beneficial 
as they sustain and/or enhance the value of properties within conservation areas.

The National Planning Policy Framework regards conservations areas as ‘designated 
heritage assets’. 

The 1990 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act specifies the 
general duty of Local Authorities, in the exercise of planning functions (Section 72). 
The 1990 Act states that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving 
or enhancing the character or appearance of a conservation area.

How are conservation areas designated and managed?

The designation process includes detailed analysis of the proposed conservation 
area and adoption by the local planning authority. A review process should be 
periodically undertaken, and the Conservation Area assessed, to safeguard that it 
retains special architectural or historic interest. Threats can be identified, and the 
boundary reviewed, to ensure it is still relevant and appropriate. 

This Conservation Area is supported by an appraisal and management plan. The 
appraisal describes the importance of an area in terms of its character, architecture, 
history, development form and landscaping. The management plan, included within 
the appraisal, sets out various positive proposals to improve, enhance and protect 
the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 

How can I find out if I live in a Conservation Area?

Boundary maps of conservation areas can be found on your Local Planning Authority 
website. Some authorities have an online interactive map search allowing you to 
search for a property. You can also contact your local planning authority directly to find 
out if you reside within a conservation area. Tendring District Council’s Conservation 
Areas can be found within the Planning section under Heritage, conservation & trees.

 

P
age 89



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 88

What are the Council’s duties regarding development in conservation areas?

The Local Authority must follow the guidance in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG). These 
set out in clear terms how development proposals within Conservation Areas should 
be considered on the basis of whether they preserve and enhance the character and 
appearance of the area. Applications which fail to preserve or enhance the character 
of the Conservation Area are likely to be refused as a result. An authorities Local 
Plan also typically includes a specific policy on Conservation Areas. 

Do I need permission to alter a property in a conservation area?

Under the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015, certain minor works and alterations are considered 
‘permitted development’ and can be carried out without planning permission. 
However, some permitted developments rights do not apply in conservation areas, 
and some buildings may not have any permitted development rights at all, such as 
blocks of flats. Different rules also apply if a building is listed.

Permission is required for any external alterations which involve cladding, rendering, 
or adding pebble dash, artificial stone or tiles to the exterior of a dwelling within a 
conservation area. All alterations to the roof of a dwelling within a conservation area 
also require planning permission. 

Extensions to the side of buildings in conservation areas will need planning permission, 
as will all two storey rear extensions. Porches, subject to size and relationship to the 
highway, may need planning permission. In all cases, the Local Planning Authority 
will be able to provide advice as to how to proceed. 

What is an Article 4 Direction?

Some conservation areas are covered by an Article 4 Direction, which brings certain 
types of permitted development back under the control of a local planning authority. 
This allows potentially harmful proposals to be considered on a case by case basis 
through planning applications. 

Article 4 Directions are written specifically for the area they apply to and are used to 
control specific works that could threaten the character of an area. As an example, in 
some conservation areas, an Article 4 direction will remove permitted development 
rights for the replacement of windows and doors, as these are architectural features 
which contribute positively to the special interest of the conservation area. The loss 
of these features would be considered harmful, therefore an Article 4 direction would 
require that a planning application is required for these works, and the proposals 
considered by the local planning authority and approved before constructed. Historic 
England provides information on Article 4 Directions on their website, and the local 
planning authority will also publish information regarding any Article 4 directions in 
their district.

Do I need to make an application for routine maintenance work?

If routine maintenance works are to be carried out using authentic materials and 
traditional craft techniques, on a like-for-like basis, it is unlikely that you will need to 
apply for permission from the local authority. However, it is strongly recommended 
that you contact the local planning authority for clarification before commencing any 
works. The use of a contractor with the necessary skills and experience of working 
on historic buildings is essential. Inappropriate maintenance works and the use of the 
wrong materials will cause damage to the fabric of a historic building. 

P
age 90

https://www.historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/historic-environment/article4directions/


Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 99

Will I need to apply for permission for a new or replacement garage, fence, 
boundary wall or garden structure?

Any demolition, development or construction in conservation areas will generally 
need planning permission. A replacement boundary, garage, cartlodge or greenhouse 
will need to be designed with the special historic and architectural interest of the 
Conservation Area in mind. Your Local Authority will provide advice as to how to 
proceed with an application.

Can I demolish a building in a conservation area?

Demolition or substantial removal of part of a building within a conservation area will 
usually require permission from the local planning authority. It is important to speak 
to them before beginning any demolition works, to clarify if permission is required.

Can I remove a tree within a conservation area?

If you are thinking of cutting down a tree or doing any pruning work, the local planning 
authority must be notified 6 weeks before any work begins. This enables the authority 
to assess the contribution the tree makes to the character of the conservation area 
and, if necessary, create a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) to protect it. Consent will 
be required for any works to trees that are protected. 

The legislation relating to trees is included within Part VIII of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 which is supplemented by The Town and Country Planning (Tree 
Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012.

Further information on TPOs and trees in conservation areas can be found on 
Historic England’s website. 

How do I find out more about a conservation area?

Historic England’s website has information on conservation areas and their 
designation. Further information on the importance of conservation areas, and what 
it means to live in one, can also be accessed via their website.

Historic England has also published an advice note called Conservation Area 
Designation, Appraisal and Management which sets out advice on the appraisal of 
conservation areas and managing change in conservation areas. 

In addition, local planning authorities have information on the conservation areas 
within their boundaries available on their websites. They will have information 
pertaining to when the conservation area was designated, how far it extends and the 
reason for its designation.

P
age 91

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/planning/consents/tree/
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/what-is-designation/local/conservation-areas/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/conservation-areadesignation-appraisal-management-advice-note-1/


Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1010

1.5 Planning Policy and Guidance

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) highlights good design as one of 
twelve core principals of sustainable development. Sustainable development relies 
on sympathetic design, achieved through an understanding of context, the immediate 
and larger character of the area in which new development is sited.   

This assessment follows best practice guidance, including Historic England’s revised 
Historic England Advice Note 1,Conservation Area Appraisal, Designation and 
Management (2019) and The Setting of Heritage Assets (2017). 

The legislative framework for conservation and enhancement of Conservation Areas 
and Listed Buildings is set out in the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 (HMSO 1990). In particular section 69 of this act requires Local 
Planning Authorities to designate areas which they consider to be of architectural 
and historic interest as Conservation Areas, and section 72 requires that special 
attention should be paid to ensuring that the character and appearance of these 
areas is preserved or enhanced. Section 71 also requires the Local Planning 
Authority to formulate and publish proposal for the preservation and enhancement 
of these areas. 

National planning policy in relation to the conservation and enhancement of heritage 
assets is outlined in chapter 16 of the Government’s National Planning Policy 
Framework (DCLG 2021). 

The Conservation Area which is the subject of this report is located within the area 
covered by Tendring District Council. Local planning policy is set out in the Tendring 
Local Plan, 2013 – 2033 and beyond. Policies which are relevant to heritage assets 
and Conservation Areas include:

- Local Plan Policy EN1: Landscape Character

- Local Plan Policy QL9: Design of New Development

- Local Plan Policies EN17-20: specific to conservation areas

- Local Plan Policies EN21-25: Importance of listed buildings and the 
protection extended to them

Additional specific local policies relevant to the Lawford Conservation Area include 
Archaeological Policy EN29.

Tendring District Council on 9 October 2017 submitted an updated Local Plan and 
has formally adopted Section 1 of the Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and 
Beyond: North Essex Authorities’ Shared Strategic Section 1 Plan. A Draft of the 
emerging Local Plan with updated policies is publicly available and until adoption it is 
advised you discuss proposals with Tendring District Council.

1.6 Designation of the Conservation Area

Lawford Conservation Area was first designated in 1969 and was subsequently 
amended and extended in 1982. Further to this a Conservation Area Character 
Appraisal was published in 2006.

1.7 Article 4 Directions

The Lawford Conservation Area is currently not covered by any Article 4 Directions.

P
age 92



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1111

2.1 Context and General Character

Lawford is a rural village located in the Tendering District of northeast Essex and the 
parish of Lawford. The Conservation Area comprises the historic core at the western 
end of the modern village and Lawford Hall and park and Parish Church. Pevsner 
described the early fourteenth century chancel in the church as ‘one of the most 
splendid monuments of its date in the county’.

The historic development of Lawford, shares a close relationship with the surrounding 
agricultural landscape which imparts a strong rural character upon the Conservation 
Area and the neighbouring settlement of Manningtree. The earliest recorded history 
of Lawford is from a reference within an Anglo-Saxon Will in 1045 and the earliest 
surviving structure is that of the Parish Church of St Mary, where the chancel dates 
to the fourteenth century. 

The village of Lawford remained a small, isolated rural settlement until the second 
half of the twentieth century, with sparse development until this point, see the 
Chapman and Andre map of 1777 (Figure 2). The listed and historic buildings within 
Lawford are themselves varied, demonstrating the differing phases of development 
and form distinctive character areas or attractive groups of buildings, which positively 
contribute to the Conservation Area.

2. Lawford Conservation Area

Figure 3 Context and location of Lawford Conservation Area ©Google Earth 2023

P
age 93



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1212

2.2 Origin and Evolution

The following section provides an overview of the history of Lawford and the 
surrounding landscape.

Prehistory

The archaeology of the Lawford area is well documented through excavation and 
cropmark evidence.  These have revealed a widespread multi-period landscape with 
evidence for settled occupation and funerary activity since the Neolithic period.

To the immediate south of the Conservation Area is the Scheduled Monument 
Settlement Site NNE of Lawford House (NHLE 1002157), this consists of a circular 
enclosure with opposed entrances showing as a cropmark. Excavation has proved it 
to be of Neolithic date, the finds suggest a domestic function. It forms part of a larger 
multi-period prehistoric landscape as evidenced by cropmarks of field-systems and 
possible enclosures. The Bronze Age round barrow adjacent to Lawford Park is 
also Scheduled (NHLE 1002125), it is a rare survival of an upstanding prehistoric 
earthwork in Essex.  It was excavated in 1812 when two urns were recovered.  
Cropmark evidence shows that it forms part of a larger barrow cemetery, with further 
ring-ditches to the south and south-west.   To the north of the Conservation Area, 
adjoining the river is another Scheduled Bronze Age ring-barrow cemetery (NHLE 
1002135) which forms part of a much larger cropmark complex of enclosures, fields 
and trackways located on valley sides of the River Stour.   

Excavation in advance of housing development to the south and south-east of 
the Conservation Area has identified extensive areas of Bronze Age and Iron Age 
settlement and agricultural activity, including to the east of Bromley Road.

Roman

There is limited evidence to date for securely dated Roman activity within the 
Conservation Area, although Roman metalwork has been recovered from the field 
next to church.  It is possible that some of the cropmark fields and tracks are Roman 
in date.  However there is extensive evidence for Roman rural settlement in the wider 
landscape, excavations at Dale Hall Farm to the east recorded a Late Iron Age and 
Roman agricultural landscape, including a cemetery enclosure and kiln.  

Anglo Saxon

Lawford is mentioned in an Anglo-Saxon will of 1045, at which date it was named 
Lalleford (Lealla’s ford).  By the end of this period Lawford was a royal manor, held by 
King Harold prior to 1066.  It was evidently a large manor, comprising 57 households.  
It is probable that many of these would have been scattered across the manor in 
individual farms, the manor-house would have been located somewhere in the 
vicinity of either the present Hall or the Church.  There was also a second smaller 
manor held by Aelfric, containing some 15 households.  

P
age 94



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1313

Medieval (1066 – 1540)

The Domesday Book indicates that the period immediately post-Conquest was 
unstable, with the Lawford area claimed by various Norman lords and men-at-arms.  
However, by 1086 William the Conqueror had apparently gained control of the entirety 
of the royal manor, with the new Norman tenants paying their dues to him.  Count 
Eustace had seized the second, smaller manorial holding, later known as Dale Hall.  

The Church of St Mary is fourteenth century in origin.  The chancel in particular 
is noteworthy for the quality of its carvings, almost certainly funded by Sir Benet 
de Cokefield, Lord of the Manor and owner of both church and hall, around 1340. 
Archaeological investigations during the installation of an underfloor heating system 
in the nave and north aisle recovered medieval foundations, as well as several post-
holes, suggesting that there may have been an earlier church on the site.  

Banks and ditches adjacent to St Mary’s Church have been interpreted as marking the 
site of a possible deserted medieval village, these are no longer visible.  Alternatively, 
they may have marked the site of a medieval predecessor to the Hall.  Numerous 
medieval and early post-medieval coins have been recovered by metal-detecting 
from the fields to the west of the Conservation Area.

Figure 4 Photo  of  Church Chancel

P
age 95



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1414

The relatively isolated position of the church and Hall in relation to the remainder of 
the settlement is typical of Essex.  The medieval settlement would have comprised a 
possible focus around the Church and along Church Hill, a second focus on Wignall 
Street and scattered farms and cottages, widely distributed across the parish and 
linked to the church by a complex network of lanes and footpaths.  

Post Medieval (1540 – 1901)

The 1777 Essex map by Chapman and André depicts Lawford, marking the grouping 
of church and Hall, with a parsonage and a large house (now Abbots Manor) on 
Church Hill (Figure 2). 

The development at the junction of Wignall Street and Dedham Road is also shown, 
with the settlement limited to a few dwellings. 

Lawford Hall is said to have been built about 1580-83 for the Waldegrave family 
but may incorporate earlier phases.  The south front was altered circa 1756 by Mr 
Edward Green, adding a red brick façade in the Georgian style.  The Hall is depicted 
in the 1777 map as set within a formal garden, with an avenue of trees framing 
the view to the south.  To the south-east is an eighteenth/nineteenth century red 
brick stable block, its presence highlighting how the hall developed within this period.  
Possession of the manor had been in the hands of the Waldegrave and Dent families 
until it was sold to the Nichols family in 1865. 

Figure 5 Photo  of  Church Lane, Rectory Figure 6 Photo  of  Lawford Hall 1908 Klammer

P
age 96



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1515

The Nichols family were a family of writers, with John Bowyer Buchanan Nichols 
and his son Robert Nichols both poets. Their family were responsible for many of 
the estate buildings and facilities which are a prominent feature of the village. These 
include Lawford Hall Farm, a late nineteenth century model farm designed by W. 
Lewis Baker for F.M. Nichols. It was illustrated in “The Building News” in 1879 and is 
still essentially intact. Wignall Street became part of the turnpike road to Harwich in 
the early 18th century, with a tollhouse located next to the Ogilivie Hall site

Manningtree railway station is located to the north-east of the Conservation Area, it 
stands at the junction of the main line from London to Norwich and the branch line to 
Harwich.  The station was opened by the Eastern Union Railway in 1846 but rebuilt 
by the Great Eastern Railway in 1899-1901.

By the date of the first 6” Ordnance Survey edition in 1874, Lawford had  become 
established as a village, with a school and a public house on the main road. By this 
time, development had also spread further along the southern edge of the village 
towards the junction with Church Hill.

Modern (1902-Present) 

The Ogilvies of Lawford Place were considerable benefactors in the early years of 
the last century, they are responsible for the 1909 Village Hall. 

There was very limited development within the village until the mid- twentieth century 
when further housing was added along the Harwich Road, to east and west of the 
historic core.  The housing estates that now link Lawford to Manningtree are late 
twentieth century in date and there has been further development and infilling in the 
last few decades.   

The War Memorial at the junction of Church Hill and Wignall Street was erected 
c.1920 and commemorates the dead of both World Wars.

Figure 7 Lawford Hall Farm (https://archive.org/details/buildingnewsengi37londuoft/page/n489/mode/2up)

P
age 97



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1616

2.3 Revisions to the Boundary 

As part of this review, the Conservation Area boundary has been revised to reflect 
changing methodologies of good practice and provide a clearer strategy which 
acknowledges the practicalities of Lawford’s unique built environment. This review is 
line with the NPPF guidance on Conservation Areas (paragraph 191).

Additions

The proposed addition to the Conservation Area includes the Ogilvie Hall and early 
twentieth century social housing with some later infill development. 

The boundary of the Conservation Area shall be expanded eastwards along Wignall 
Street to include Nos. 11-16 Wignall Street on the southern side of the road. Together 
these buildings form a pleasing and uniform group on the approach to the historic 
core of Lawford. The buildings are of special historic interest and some architectural 
interest, representing a period of time when social housing was expanded in response 
to a post First World War national housing crisis. 

The boundary change would also include the 1909 Ogilvie Hall, which is in the Arts 
and Crafts style and plays a prominent role in the approach to the historic core of 
Lawford.  

P
age 98



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1717

CO

NSTABLEC

L OSE

N
ASH

C
LO

SE

C
O

XS
 H

IL
L

C
O

XS H
ILL

DEDHAM ROAD

COTMAN
AVENUE

STOURDALE
C

LO
SE

EA
TO

N
C

O
U

R
T

CH
U

R
C

H
V

IE
W

BR
O

O
K

LA
NE

STOURDALECLOSE MEADWAY

C
H

ES
TE

R
G

RO
V

E

SCHOOL

LANE

STOURDALECLOSE

PARRINGTO NWAY MEADWAY

SUMM ERS PARK AVENUE

HU
NG

ER
DO

W
N

LA
NE

H
U

N
TE

R
 D

R
IV

E

LONG ROAD

C
AV

E
N

D
IS

H
D

R
IV

E

HARWICH ROAD

WIGNALL STREET

LAW
FO

R
D

PLACE

C
O

XS
 H

IL
L

C
O

TMAN

AV
E

NUE

L

INDEN

C
LOSE

SPRINGBANKAVENUE

C
HURC

H
HILL

Lawford Proposed
Conservation Area
Existing Lawford
Conservation Area

±0 75 150
Metres

Figure 8 Map showing proposed revisions to the Conservation Area boundary

P
age 99



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1818

2.4 Designated Heritage Assets

There are eight designated heritage assets within Lawford Conservation Area, 
including the Grade I listed Parish Church of St Mary and the Grade I listed Lawford 
Hall. A full list of all the designated assets within the Conservation Area is included 
in Appendix 6.1. They are also listed in the description for each Character Area, 
outlined in Section Three of this document. 

These buildings, structures and features have been listed due to their special historic 
and architectural interest as defined by the Department for Digital, Culture, Media & 
Sport (Principles of Selection for Listed Buildings, 2018). Further information about 
the listing process can be found on the Historic England website.

The Lawford Conservation Area contains relatively few listed buildings, however the 
variety is important, ranging from the Grade I Church and hall to the Grade II War 
Memorial and the former King’s Arms public house, highlighting how the village has 
developed and altered over time and acknowledging the multiple phases of Lawford’s 
development. 

2.5 Non-Designated Heritage Assets

Every building, space and feature within a Conservation Area makes a contribution 
to its character and special interest, be it positive, positive (in need of improvement), 
neutral or negative. 

Heritage assets are defined in Planning Policy as ‘A building, monument, 
site, place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of significance 
meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage interest.’  

Not all heritage assets are listed, and just because a building is not included on the 
list does not mean it is of no heritage value. Buildings and other smaller features 
of the built environment such as fountains, railings, signs and landscaping can 
make a positive contribution to the appreciation of an area’s historic interest and its 
general appearance. Local listing is an important tool for local planning authorities to 
identify non-listed buildings and heritage assets which make a positive contribution 
to the locality. At present there is not an approved Local List for Tendring District 
Council however this document has identified heritage assets which make a positive 
contribution to the Conservation Area and could be considered for Local Listing in 
the future. These are also identified in the descriptions of the Conservation Area and 
each character area as outlined in Section 3.

The buildings and structures proposed for local listing are identified below:

•	 Hall Farm

•	 Ogilvie Hall

•	 The Old School, Church Hill

•	 Woodman, Church Hill

•	 Almshouses

•	 11-16 Wignall Street

•	 The Old Laundry

It should be noted that conservation area appraisals are not binary documents and 
there remains the potential for additional non-designated heritage assets or positive 
contributors to the Conservation Area to be identified in the future.

P
age 100

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/apply-for-listing/listing-process/


Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1919

C
O

XS
 H

IL
L

C
O

XS H
ILL

DEDHAM ROAD

EA
TO

N
C

O
U

R
T

BR
O

O
K

LA
NE

SUM MERS PARK
AVENUE

C
AV

E
N

D
IS

H
D

RI
VE

HARWICH ROAD C
O

XS
H

IL
L

L

INDEN

C
LOSE

C
HURC

H
HILL

Car Park
69

Pink Cottage

Hacienda
War Meml

Place
Lodge

to 3234
25

14

21

49

8
16

GarageAden

Abbots Manor 333837

20
6

19

11

31

26

22

The Orchard

Treetops

Shelter

6
Almshouses

18

Or
ch

ar
d 

Vi
ew

He
at

he
r L

od
ge

Broomlands
View

Brook House

House

Sherbourne

Bungalow

TheHeathers

Spinney

1

Lil
ac

Cott
ag

e Bell Ho

Glade

Lodge

Scola

Mosshead

Cottage

West View

Rosebank

The Cottage

Old Rectory

Stable

Cottages

St Mary's

Church Cott

GVC

186Conifers

45

55

Tk

24

144

Hall Farm

Multistorey
Car Park

Pump House

Station

Stockmans

Shelters

32

35

36

48

10

13

15

23

46

17
7

Balerno

39

19
6

5

Serena
Kings Arms

Ramillies

Ash
Dene

Hillside

Woodman

Lawford Hall

Eastbrae

9

The Bays

Shirburn Mill

Fortuna

Lawford
Conservation Area
Grade I Listed
Building
Grade II Listed
Building

±0 75 150
Metres

Figure 9 Map showing designated heritage assets within the Conservation Area

P
age 101



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2020

2.6 Positive, Negative or Neutral Elements 

The map opposite (Figure 10) should be read in conjunction with the key notes below. 
These outline the broad descriptions of positive, neutral and negative attributed 
to buildings within the Conservation Area. It should be noted that just because a 
building is positive it does not mean it cannot be enhanced. Some positive buildings 
may have intrusive aspects but these are more widespread across the Conservation 
Area (such as inappropriate windows) and are addressed in the management plan. 
The buildings identified as ‘Positive with opportunity for enhancement’ tend to have 
more bespoke or fundamental issues that are not generally observed or widespread 
across the area.  

Positive: these are buildings that have been identified as positive contributors to 
the character or appearance of the Conservation Area. Whist identified as positive 
there are likely to be enhancements which can be made to better reveal the 
architectural interest of the building and improve its contribution to the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area. These general enhancements are noted in 
the management plan. One example for Lawford would be the replacement of UPVC 
windows and other inappropriate windows and doors, the upgrade of these items 
would be beneficial as a general rule. 

Positive with opportunity for enhancement: these are buildings which have been 
highlighted as they are positive contributors, however, they have been compromised 
due to intrusive alterations or additions. These buildings can be enhanced through 
the removal, replacement or redesign of intrusive or unsympathetic alterations. In 
the case of Lawford, buildings have been highlighted which require changes that 
go further than the widespread issues such as inappropriate windows and can 
include buildings with unsympathetic roof extensions, replacement bay windows, 
and modern balconies.

Neutral: These buildings make no beneficial or adverse contribution to the character 
or appearance of the Conservation Area.

Negative: These buildings make an adverse or intrusive contribution to the character 
or appearance of the Conservation Area.

P
age 102



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2121

Figure 10 Map showing significance of buildings within the Conservation Area

P
age 103



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2222

2.7 Heritage at Risk

Tendring District Council published a Heritage Strategy in 2019 using data from the 
Heritage at Risk Programme (HAR) by Historic England, however there is not a 
separately published Heritage at Risk Register by Tendring District Council.

At the time of writing in 2023, no buildings within the Lawford Conservation Area 
feature on the national list of Heritage at Risk published by Historic England. 

2.8 Archaeological Potential

The Conservation Area has potential for the preservation of significant archaeological 
remains dating from the prehistoric to medieval period. The extensive and ongoing 
excavations which have taken place over a number of years to the south and east 
in advance of development have revealed extensive multi-period archaeological 
remains.

Previous investigations and cropmark evidence have revealed the Conservation 
Area lies within a widespread settled landscape dating from the Neolithic period 
onwards, it includes extensive barrow cemeteries dating to the Bronze Age. There 
is also the potential for a Saxon predecessor hall and church to have existed within 
the Conservation Area. 

The Conservation Area is comprised of the Church, Lawford Hall and its associated 
parkland and a small area of historic settlement along Church Hill and Wignall 
Street.  The manor is Saxon in origin, however the location of the original settlement 
is uncertain, although the vicinity of the Church and hall is the most likely location for 
the manorial centre.  

The isolated nature of the Church and Hall are a common medieval settlement pattern 
where they lie at some distance from the main settlement area. The survival of the 
medieval Church is an important, well-preserved resource. Archaeological fieldwork 
within the church have established the survival of belowground features within the 
structure.  There are records of ditches and banks located next to the church that 
may mark the location of former associated settlement.   

The location of the associated medieval manorial hall is likely to be either within the 
area of the current hall or closer to the Church. The present hall was built in the late 
sixteenth century and so belowground remains relating to earlier precursors of the 
manorial hall are to be expected.  The 1777 Chapman and André map shows the 
original historic farmstead associated with the hall located immediately to the east 
of the Hall and Church Hill, below ground remains may survive in this area.  There 
may also be surviving remains related to the various phases of the hall gardens and 
the parkland.  

The recovery of pottery, industrial remains, shell and bone from excavated sites 
on the periphery of the Conservation Area would suggest good survival of most 
archaeological remains. Environmental remains, preserved in deeper features have 
yielded information on the wider landscape as well as evidence for food and cereal 
production.  The gravels and brickearths have potential to contain Pleistocene faunal 
remains.  

P
age 104



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2323

3.1 Summary 

The special interest and the significance of the Lawford Conservation Area is primarily 
drawn from its legibility as a small historic rural settlement.

The Conservation Area contains relatively few listed buildings, however the 
development of Lawford and the shared relationship of its historic building stock 
contributes to the understanding of the settlement’s character and special interest. 
Three Character Areas have been identified within this appraisal as they mark 
differing aspects of Lawford’s development. 

Despite development and expansion of the village in the twentieth century, including 
large modern developments to the east, the character and understanding of the 
Lawford Conservation Area is still dictated by its historic core on Wignall Street, and 
the Church, Lawford Hall and other historic buildings on Church Hill.

3. Assessment of Significance

3.2 Character Areas 

As part of this appraisal, Lawford Conservation Area has been divided into three 
Character Areas:

Character Area One: Lawford Hall and Park

Character Area Two: Church Hill

Character Area Three: Wignall Street and Hungerdown Lane

The areas have been determined by building typology, historical development, land 
use and appearance. The following descriptions are not exhaustive, aiming instead to 
provide accessible accounts of each Character Area which will allow for an informed 
understanding of the Conservation Area’s special interest and defining features. 

Prevailing architectural styles, building materials, spatial planning, landscaping 
and boundary materials are detailed in the description of each Character Area to 
highlight the special architectural and historic value of the three zones. Photographs 
are included to aid the descriptions, providing examples where appropriate to inform 
the understanding of this document.

P
age 105



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2424

C
O

XS
 H

IL
L

C
O

XS H
ILL

DEDHAM ROAD

EA
TO

N
C

O
U

R
T

BR
O

O
K

LA
NE

PARRINGTO NWAY

SUM MERS PARK
AVENUE

C
AV

E
N

D
IS

H
D

RI
VE

HARWICH ROAD

C
O

XS
 H

IL
L

L

INDEN

C
LOSE

S
P

RI NGBANK

AVENUE

C
HURC

H
HILL

Car Park

69

Pink Cottage

War
Meml

Place
Lodge

to 3234
25

14

21

49

8
16

GarageAden

Fir Cover

Abbots Manor 333837

20
6

19

31

26

22

The Orchard

Treetops

Shelter

6
Almshouses

18

M
oo

rin
gs O

rc
ha

rd
 V

ie
w

He
at

he
r L

od
ge

Broomlands
View

Brook House

House

Sherbourne

Th
e 

Li
m

es

Bungalow

TheHeathers

The
Spinney

1
Gables Bell Ho

Lodge

Scola

Mosshead

Cottage

La
un

dr
y

West View
Rosebank

The Cottage

Old Rectory

Stable

Cottages

St Mary's

Church Cott

GVC

29

VentureTullimarina

11

St Margarets
186

45

55

Tk

24

144

Hall Farm

Multistorey
Car Park

Pump House

13
8

Station

Stockmans

Shelters

32

35

36

48

10

13

15

23

46

17
7

Balerno
12 176

39

Cedars

19
6

Br
ay

ley

Serena
Kings Arms

Ramillies

Ash
Dene

Hillside

Woodman

Ogilvie Hall

Lawford Hall

Eastbrae

9

Shirburn Mill

Fortuna

Character Area 1

Character Area 2

Character Area 3

±0 75 150
Metres

Figure 11 Map showing Character Areas

P
age 106



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2525

3.3 Character Area One - Lawford Hall and Park 

Character Area One is focussed upon Lawford Hall and its associated parkland 
and buildings, including a late nineteenth century Model Farm. The Hall is one of 
the earliest surviving structures within the Conservation Area and fundamental to 
understanding the history of the settlement.   

There are two designated heritage assets within Character Area One, as shown on 
Figure 9. These are Lawford Hall (a Grade I listed building) and its associated stable 
block (Grade II listed). 

Lawford Hall and its parkland have an extensive history, and its parkland and the hall 
itself remain largely unchanged comparative to their depiction on the 1874 1st edition 
Ordnance Survey map.  The avenue of lime trees leading up to the hall is depicted 
on the 1777 Chapman Andre map of Essex; to the north of the Hall is a Wilderness 
called The Rookery and to the west further ornamental gardens and a walled kitchen 
garden, a modern tennis-court has been added to this ensemble behind the walled 
garden.  The wider parkland contains copses and individual parkland trees (some of 
which act as reminders of earlier field boundaries that were removed to make the 
park). The parkland isbisected by an entrance carriageway, accessed via a former 
gatelodge on the Dedham Road. A number of footpaths lead across the parkland 
from the Dedham Road and Wignall Street to the Church, which allows public access 
to an otherwise private landscape.  The parkland historically extended to the east 
of Church Hill, and the historic layout and parkland appearance of the area is still 
discernible in the landscape despite more recent planting.     

A track continues northwards beyond the model farm,  and the edge of the 
Conservation Area is reached at the railway embankment through which the lane 
passes under a semi-circular arched brick tunnel. 

There is a pleasant view north-eastwards from the other side of the tunnel and 
attractive views between the outbuildings and the tunnel to fields outside the Area to 
the east. Magnificent trees and mature hedgerows are too numerous to mention in 
this setting. 

Land Usage

This area comprises Lawford Hall and park, and associated buildings, including the 
model farm and gate lodge.  It is a rural, open landscape with extensive views.  

Building Materials and Boundary Treatments

Buildings within this character area are concentrated to the north, around Lawford 
Hall. The design of the buildings in the Character Area is predominantly formal and 
high-status, reflecting the age and development of this section of the village, which 
focussed upon the day to day activities of Lawford Hall..

P
age 107



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2626

Lawford Hall is a Grade I listed building. It was constructed in 1583 as a large half-H 
plan mansion for Edward Waldegrave.  The original north elevation is Elizabethan, 
two and a half storeys in height, with walls of deep pink render under a roof of old 
clay tiles with projecting wings with jetted ends. Edward Green had the south front 
re-cased c.1756 in red brick with small-paned sash windows under rubbed brick 
voussoirs. An elegant door-case is reached via a circular drive set within a small 
forecourt framed by yews and a low brick wall with decorative brick copings. 

A two-storey red brick stable wing (Grade II) with an attractive paved forecourt stands 
on a relatively prominent position to the south-east of the main front. A conifer screen 
to the east of the drive restricts views across the river. The east front of the house to 
the main drive retains its attractive late seventeenth century railings. 

To the north of the Hall is a fine example of a late nineteenth century model farm.  This 
comprises a noteworthy complex of agricultural buildings in red brick with blue diaper 
patterning and arched openings, all now with concrete pantiled roofs. There is a fine 
pair of cottages of two and a half storeys, dated 1871, with a steep clay tiled roof, a 
central stack, crow-step gables and small crow-step gable dormers. The outbuildings 
have a mixture of king post and scissor trusses surrounding a courtyard. These farm 
buildings come at the foot of a steep grassy slope studded with mature trees. On 
the west side of the lane just beyond the agricultural buildings is another delightful 
estate cottage. The historic farmstead with its mature trees positively contributes the 
understanding of the historic development of Lawford, its close functional relationship 
to the surrounding agrarian landscape and the rural character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area.Figure 12 Lawford Hall

P
age 108



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2727

Brick and render are dominant features in this part of the Conservation Area, with the 
use of blue brick diapering adding to the particular character of the estate buildings, 
featuring on both the former gatehouse and farm buildings. 

Roofs are predominantly tiled. Tiles are typically plain red or brown clay and 
handmade plain tiles. Replacement concrete tiles on the farm buildings detract from 
the character and appearance of the area. 

Where present, uPVC windows and doors detract from the traditional appearance of 
the building within this character, as do satellite dishes and aerials placed in visible 
locations. 

Old walling and historic boundary treatments, such as brick walls and established 
hedgerows, positively contribute to the character area. 

Landscaping and Open Spaces

Lawford Park dominates this part of the Conservation Area, it is present in all key 
views and provides an appropriate landscape setting for Lawford Hall.   The verdant 
nature of the park and its numerous trees with some planting to the north contributes 
to the rural character of the Conservation Area. 

Wignall Brook, at the south eastern corner of the character area, is a densely planted 
area of woodland, through which public footpaths pass. As an area of public space, 
it is used by dog walkers and other pedestrians, providing a recreational space for 
the village. 

P
age 109



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2828

3.4 Character Area Two - Church Hill 

Character Area Two comprises the Parish Church of St Mary and the scattered 
linear development along the east side of Church Hill.  The Parish Church is the 
earliest surviving structure in Lawford, and there are a number of associated historic 
buildings in proximity to the church, as well as a small amount of modern infill. 

There are four statutory listed buildings located within this area; the Grade I Parish 
Church of St Mary the Virgin, and the Grade II Church Clerk’s Cottage, Old Rectory 
and Pink Cottage. 

The Parish Church is located at the northern end of this character area.   The early 
fourteenth century chancel is considered to be one of the most splendid monuments 
of its date in Essex.  The two most notable features of the church are the extravagant 
chancel windows in curvilinear Decorated style and the building’s striking square 
tower, faced in an irregular mixture of brick, flint, puddingstone and septaria. 
The church has seen various additions and repairs in the succeeding centuries, 
culminating in a general restoration in 1887-9.  A While there is plenty of mature 
planting in the churchyard, from the southern edge of the churchyard there is a 
splendid view eastward over Manningtree and the Estuary, towards the tower of the 
Royal Hospital School. There are also attractive views from the Churchyard entrance 
to the west into Lawford Hall’s  parkland. 

The lane dips through mature trees past the eighteenth-century Pink Cottage (Grade 
II listed), a pretty thatched cottage of one and a half storeys and pink rendered walls, 
and The Woodman, a two storey brick cottage. There are attractive glimpses of 
parkland on either side of the road at this point. At the top of a short rise fringed 
by dense hedgerows reaching an arch over the road, stands Abbots’ Manor, a two 
storey house with sash windows set in pink render under a hipped slate roof. The 
attractive grounds include mature trees and a splendid view to the north east.  

Figure 13 Church, Church Clerk’s Photo

P
age 110



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2929

At the junction with the main road is the War Memorial (Grade II listed), supported 
visually by a large oak tree. Prominent on the opposite corner is the 1909 Ogilvie Hall, 
a building with Arts-and-Crafts styling with pebble dashed elevations and a roof of 
concrete tiles. There is a simple modern extension to the front. Its main road frontage 
contains mature trees and a hedge, the latter has some gaps.  It is recommended 
that the Conservation Area is extended here to encompass the Ogilvie Hall and its 
grounds, and the Ogilvie Hall is also recommended for Local Listing.  

Land Usage

This area comprises the parish church, the former village school, Ogilvie Hall and 
a small number of rural residential properties and their associated grounds.  All are 
located on the eastern side of Church Hill lane, with views into Lawford Park to the 
front and into open farmland to the rear.

The open space to the north of Abbot’s Manor formed its historic parkland and is still 
discernible as such.

Building Materials and Boundary Treatments

There is a concentration of traditional buildings in this section of the Conservation 
Area, the design of the buildings in the Character Area is predominantly vernacular, 
reflecting the age and development of the settlement. 

The Church is of brick, flint and stone construction, the west tower in particular shows 
an extraordinary mix of materials, which adds much to its charm and character. 

The church features a smooth rendered north aisle with a slate roof, connected to 
a new Church Hall of yellow brick with simple detailing.  The churchyard wall to the 
north is identical to that fronting the south forecourt of the Hall; that to the south is 
also in brick but with plainer copings.

The domestic buildings throughout this area are typically one and a half or two 
storeys in height with central or flanking chimneys. Brick and render predominantly 
features in this part of the Conservation Area, with differences in brick colour tone 
and bond providing a material differentiation between modern and older properties. 

A significant feature from both inside and outside the churchyard is the seventeenth 
century or earlier Church Clerk’s Cottage (Listed Grade II), a one-and-a-half storey 
house with rendered walls under a roof of old clay tiles with traditional dormers. Next 
to this is The Old School House, a brick-built estate-building constructed in 1848 in 
the Tudor style with a clay tiled roof. To the south is the modern Rectory, dating from 
the early 1960’s, a pleasant building in red brick with a clay tiled roof and classical 
details. This is built on the site of an earlier building which formed part of the original 
Rectory complex.  

P
age 111



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3030

The Old Rectory dates from 1757 and is a red brick, double pile house of five bays, 
with a significant pair of gables fronting on to the lane.  There is an interesting, 
moulded brick cornice and string course details to the south elevation and a 
prominent porch on the principal north elevation, supporting the arms of St. John’s 
College, Cambridge.  A number of associated buildings, including the former stables, 
are located to the rear of The Old Rectory. 

Roofs are predominantly tiled. Tiles are typically plain red or brown clay and 
handmade on older properties, with a few examples of pantiles. Concrete tiles can 
be found on the more recent twentieth century buildings, which provide a dilution of 
the otherwise traditional character and appearance of the area. The Pink Cottage is 
thatched. 

Where present, uPVC windows and doors detract from the traditional appearance of 
the Conservation Area, as do satellite dishes and aerials. 

In this part of the Conservation Area, most properties front the lane or are set behind 
front gardens, which are demarked by low walls or hedgerows. The Church is set 
within its churchyard.  The old walling and historic boundary treatments positively 
contribute to the street scene of the Conservation Area. There are some instances of 
unsympathetic fencing, however its presence is not dominant.

Landscaping and Open Spaces

The buildings stand within their own grounds, many with mature planting and 
trees.  The Character Area includes part of the historic parkland associated with 
Abbot’s Manor.  The adjoining parkland for Lawford Hall dominates this part of the 
Conservation Area, it being present in all key views and frames the buildings on its 
fringe. The verdant nature of the parkland together with the churchyard planting and 
the trees and hedges associated with individual properties contributes to the rural 
character of the Conservation Area.  The green spaces and mature trees positively 
contribute to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.

P
age 112



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3131

3.5 Character Area Three: Wignall Street and Hungerdown Lane

The Wignall Street Character Area stretches along the main road, Wignall Street, 
from the junction with Church Hill to the junction with Dedham Road. It extends 
into the northern part of Hungerdown Lane and represents one of the historic foci 
for settlement in Lawford and is still traditional in appearance, despite a degree of 
modern infill.

There is one statutory listed building located within this area, the former King’s Arms 
Public House. The King’s Arms (listed Grade II) is seventeenth century or earlier 
in date.  It is of timber-frame and painted brick construction with a clay tile roof.  It 
was formerly a Public House, but it closed in 2012 and was converted to a private 
residence.  It is a good example of vernacular architecture and contributes positively 
to the Character Area, as well as the significance of Lawford Conservation Area.

The approach to the Conservation Area from the east comprises the Ogilvie Hall 
to the north (see Character Area Two) and a row of council houses probably dating 
from the 1930’s and 1950’s to the south. The earlier semi-detached buildings (11-16 
Wignall Street) are representative of the post First World War response to a national 
housing crisis.  It is recommended that the Conservation Area is extended to include 
this grouping of semi-detached dwellings. 

To the west of the semi-detached group, Wignall Street drops down into the valley. 
Here, the Almshouses on the southern side of Wignall Street break the pattern of 
development, facing away from the road. Figure 14 Photo of Kings Arms

P
age 113



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3232

Wignall Street turns the slight corner and rises from this point, past a varied group of 
properties on the south side and the commercial premises of  Valley Garden Supplies 
to the north. Development on the south side of Wignall Street consists first of all of 
five cottages in two groups, with varied access arrangements and garden frontage 
treatments. The eastern group of three cottages retains many original features, 
including door cases and, in two examples, the original small-paned sash windows. 
Three new houses with a shared access step back from the road frontage, and lead 
on to a pair of unsympathetic three storey houses. 

Beyond this again are three detached  vernacular properties of two-and-a-half storeys 
with rendered facades and gambrel roofs of brown clay tiles. The loss of the original 
windows to these houses have resulted in loss of much of their original character. To 
the east of these is a small vernacular cottage. On the northern side of the road is 
the Listed Kings Arms, a former Public House, which occupies a prominent position 
in the street scene. West of the pub is a modern house of simple design, followed by 
Forge Cottage in a significant corner location. The delicately modelled brick facades 
in Flemish bond are extremely attractive, complimented by original door and window 
features. 

Beyond the junction with Dedham Road is Charity Farmhouse, a pleasant early 
nineteenth century design with other significant features such as its brick front wall, 
corner planting and an outbuilding to the side. There are no views into the parkland 
from the road, although a short walk on public footpaths to the north allows attractive 
views to develop. Views down Dedham Road into the Conservation Area are focused 
on Crossway on the southern side of Wignall Street, a vernacular cottage with pink 
rendered walls and a substantial roof of old clay tiles. A pair of estate cottage dating 
from 1957 and constructed in a simple neo-Georgian style complete the main road 
frontage in this area These share a single access to the west, behind a high hedge. 

Figure 15 Photo of Charity Farm

Park View occupies an important location close to the road edge on the south side of 
the road, with Brook Cottage to the south of Park View. The grouping is given more 
visual distinction by the setting-back of the two modern houses with their gardens to 
the east. 

P
age 114



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3333

The Character Area runs southwards to include the properties fronting 
Hungerdown Lane, these consist of a mix of historic properties and modern 
infill. Rose Cottage on the east side was formerly The Rose Beer-house 
and Post Office, leads past modern houses to a fascinating group of former 
estate buildings, including The Old Laundry.  The Old Laundry complex 
is recommended for Local Listing.   A cottage at the rear has elevations 
in diapered brick behind a long single-storey brick range under a hipped 
roof which projects boldly to the road edge. Beyond this is a pretty house 
with symmetrical elevations behind a prominent hedge, and a pair of estate 
cottages identical to those at Rose Valley next to The Old School on the 
main road. On the western side of this short road, a pair of late-Victorian or 
Edwardian houses stand among modern properties of no overriding historic 
interest. The lane ends in a series of allotments and open countryside.

Land Usage

The Character Area comprises linear residential development along both 
sides of Wignall Street and along the northern, built-up, part of Hungerdown 
Lane.  There is one small area of commercial development, comprising 
Valley Garden Supplies, on Wignall Street.  The properties on the northern 
side of Wignall Street back on to Lawford Park, those on the southern side of 
the street and on Hungerdown Lane back onto open farmland or allotments.

Figure 16 Rose Beerhouse

P
age 115



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3434

Building Materials and Boundary Treatments

Buildings are predominantly of two storeys, faced with red brick or renderin 
this part of the Conservation Area. Where brickwork is left exposed decorative 
features, such as blue brick patterning, quoining and dentil eaves can be seen. 
Some modern infill residential buildings are of red brick; the variation in brick tone 
amongst thebuilding stock provide a visual indication of the mixture of building 
ages present in the Character Area.  Some buildings have been painted, the 
colours are typically sympathetic, reflecting the age and architectural style of 
the buildings. Pastel colours, creams and white provide variation across the 
Character Area. 

The Almshouses are a notable example of estate buildings which feature brick 
diaper work. Much more prominent in the street scene is The Old School House, 
designed by W.L. Baker in 1872-3 in diapered brick with Tudor details and a 
substantial central stack. The adjacent cottages, 1-2 Rose Valley, also have 
patterned bricks and may have been designed by the same architect.  On the 
northern side of the road is Serena, a very small vernacular brick cottage with 
a gambrel roof.  Together they make an extremely picturesque grouping. There 
are significant views northwards into Lawford Park from this point

Roofs are clad in red or brown plain clay tiles and natural slate upon older 
properties, twentieth century buildings typically feature concrete tiles/pantiles. 
The concrete tiles/pantiles detract from the traditional character of the area. 
Roofs are a mix of gable, hipped and gambrel forms, which add to the variety of 
the scene.

P
age 116



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3535

The positioning of buildings along the streetscape varies considerably, which adds to 
the character of the area. Some of the buildings front directly onto the street, some 
are set above the road, some are set below the road level, some are set back behind 
a small front garden and others by a larger front garden. Frontages are demarked by 
brick walls, fencing or hedgerow. 

Street signage and furniture is restrained owing to the few commercial buildings.  
The Dedham Road has a noticeable amount of traffic calming signs, and these could 
be considered for rationalisation.  

Landscaping and Open Spaces

Landscaping and areas of open space comprise front and side gardens, and 
glimpses to the rear of properties of further trees.  These positively contribute to 
the appearance of the area.  The Character Area backs onto Lawford Park to the 
north and to open countryside and allotments to the south.  This setting positively 
contributes to the historic rural village character of the character area.  The eastern 
end of the character area abuts the modern development that now links Lawford with 
Manningtree.P

age 117



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3636

3.6 Views

Key views are identified on Figure 16. The views included in this assessment are 
a selection of key views; this list is not exhaustive and there may be numerous 
other views of significance. Any proposals for development within the Conservation 
Area, or its environs, should consider the views below and any others which may be 
relevant or highlighted as part of a bespoke assessment of that proposal.

The numerous views of Lawford Hall and the park are important to the understand-
ing of the Conservation Area, its history and significance (Views 1). These change 
as the viewer moves through the park or around its perimeter.  The visibility of the 
church from Church Hill and the park and the public footpaths to the east empha-
sises the role the church played within the history of Lawford and its development 
(Views 2), these views change as the viewer moves through the park or along the 
footpaths and road.  There are also views out from Character Areas 1 and 2 to the 
north and east to the Stour Estuary and the surrounding rural landscape.

Other views comprise views of the historic settlement along Church Hill (Views 3) 
demonstrating its contribution to the character and special interest of the Conservation 
Area and its inter-relationships with the other Character Areas.  These are kinetic in 
nature, in that they change as the viewer travels along Church Hill, reflecting the 
changes in gradient, the sunken nature of the lane and the nature of the vegetation 
on either side, so that they can be confined in one location and expansive in the next.

There are also views along Wignall Street within Character Area Three (Views 4) 
demonstrating its contribution to the character and special interest of the Conservation 
Area and its inter-relationships with the other Character Areas.  Again, these are 
kinetic in nature, in that they change with the gradient, the proximity of the buildings to 
the road frontage and the nature of the boundary treatments.  This variety contributes 
to the character and special interest of the Conservation Area.

P
age 118



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3737

Figure 17 Map showing key views within the Conservation Area

4.

1. 2.

2.
3.

2.

4.
3.

1.

4.

P
age 119



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3838

3.7 Setting of the Conservation Area 

The NPPF describes the setting of a heritage asset as: 

The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed 
and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting 
may make a positive or negative contribution to the significance of an asset, may 
affect the ability to appreciate that significance or may be neutral.

Historic England provides detailed guidance on the setting of heritage assets, 
stating that all heritage assets have a setting, whether they are designated or 
not, irrespective of the form in which they survive. In the analysis of setting, the 
important contribution of views to the significance of heritage assets and the 
ability to appreciate that significance is often a primary consideration. Yet the 
contribution a setting makes to the significance of a heritage asset, such as the 
Lawford Conservation Area, is not limited to views alone. Setting is also influenced 
by other environmental factors such as noise, dust and vibration from other land 
uses. The detrimental alteration of the character of a setting may reduce our 
ability to understand the historic relationship between places. The contribution 
that setting makes to the significance of the heritage asset does not depend on 
there being public rights or an ability to access, view or experience that setting 

. Therefore, any application for development within the setting of a heritage asset is 
subject to constraints.   

The NPPF states that for any development within the setting of a heritage asset, 
a thorough assessment of the impact on the setting is required. This should be 
proportionate to the significance of the heritage asset under consideration and the 
degree to which proposed changes enhance or detract from that significance and 
the ability to appreciate it (NPPF, paragraph 194). 

In addition, paragraph 206 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should 
look for opportunities for new development within Conservation Areas and within the 
setting of heritage assets (including the setting of Conservation Areas), to enhance or 
better reveal their significance. Proposals that preserve those elements of the setting 
that make a positive contribution to the asset (or which better reveal its significance) 
should be treated favourably. Therefore, the favourable treatment of proposals that 
retain the open, agrarian character of the Conservation Area’s setting is obligatory by 
the local authority, while proposals that fail to retain this character would be rejected. 

When assessing an application for development which may affect the setting of a 
heritage asset, local planning authorities should also consider the implications of 
cumulative change and incremental harm. New developments and changes can 
not only detract from a heritage asset’s significance in the short-term but may 
also damage its significance and economic viability now, or in the future, thereby 
threatening its on-going conservation. 

P
age 120



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3939

Surrounding Landscape

The Conservation Area draws significance from 
the surrounding, undeveloped, rural landscape 
and the loose ‘grain’ of the surrounding built 
environment. The Conservations Area’s setting 
within a historically agrarian landscape permits 
an understanding and appreciation of the historic 
development of Lawford, as a largely isolated 
rural settlement until the nineteenth century. The 
quality of the surrounding rural landscape makes 
an important contribution to the historic setting and 
significance of the Lawford Conservation Area.

As demonstrated in the above section upon key 
viewpoints, there are also strong visual links between 
the Conservation Area and views from outside the 
Conservation Area towards heritage assets, such as 
the church tower.

The approach towards Lawford Conservation Area and 
its surrounding setting from the west along Harwich 
Road, the north from Dedham Road and south along 
Hungerdown Lane is characterised by open fields. The 
approach from the east, along Wignall Street is more 
developed with largely twentieth century residential 
properties.  From the north-east at Coxs Hill there are 
extensive views to the rear of the Conservation Area 
across open farmland.

Development within the setting of the Conservation 
Area should be sympathetic to the character of the 
Lawford Conservation Area.

P
age 121



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4040

4. Opportunities for Enhancement

The following opportunities for enhancement have been identified and are summarised 
below in brief. The list is in no way exhaustive, and neither are the issues identified 
unique to Lawford, with many being shared with other conservation areas

4.1 Loss of Architectural Details

As highlighted within the appraisal, a number of buildings within Lawford have been 
subjected to unsympathetic alterations which has resulted in the gradual, and in some 
cases irrevocable, loss of architectural detailing which would contribute positively to 
the village’s distinctive character. Two key examples of this are the loss of original 
timber windows and doors and replacement with modern windows and doors, which 
do not replicate the high-quality detailing of those they are replacing. 

Historic England’s Traditional Windows: Their Care, Repair and Upgrading (2017) 
advises that:

‘The loss of traditional windows from our older buildings poses one of the major 
threats to our heritage. Traditional windows and their glazing make an important 
contribution to the significance of historic areas. They are an integral part of the 
design of older buildings and can be important artefacts in their own right…. The 
distinctive appearance of historic hand-made glass is not easily imitated in modern 
glazing.’

The loss of historic joinery such as sash and casement windows and panelled doors 
results in a degree of harm to the significance of an historic building, and the loss of 
crown or other early glass can also cause harm to the significance of the buildings. 
Historic England’s 2017 advice recommends that ‘Surviving historic fenestration is an 
irreplaceable resource which should be conserved and repaired whenever possible.’

Where draughts are causing an issue, the repair and refurbishment of windows can 
improve the thermal performance of historic windows in the first instance, along with 
the use of shutters and heavy curtains. Alternatively, modern technology allows for 
well-designed secondary glazing; special timber casements that can be constructed 
and fixed to the interior of the frame using sections and mouldings to match the 
primary glazing. These less intrusive methods are advisable within the Conservation 
Area; however, it is recommended that advice is sought from the Council before any 
changes to windows or doors are made to ensure the optimum solution.

Throughout the Conservation Area, there are examples of the loss of historic 
rainwater goods and poor maintenance. The rendering of facades and the decorative 
brickwork is also evident, often with cementitious render.

There has also been the loss of original boundary treatments which negatively impact 
the street-scene. 

4.2 Unsympathetic additions

Throughout the Conservation Area, there are examples of inappropriate and 
unsympathetic additions which can result in a cumulative impact on the area. The 
addition of uncharacteristic porches, the installation of TV aerials, extraction flues and 
air conditioning units to street facades, sides and rear of buildings harm the historic 
character of the area and its appearance. Care should be taken that unsympathetic 
additions do not impact key views and the character of groups of historic buildings 
is preserved.

P
age 122



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4141

4.3 Neutral Contributors

A number of buildings are considered to make a neutral contribution to the character 
and appearance of the Conservation Area. The buildings that fall within the category 
still contribute to the area’s character and appearance, their contribution should not 
be considered negative. 

4.4 Public Realm

Street Furniture (including lampposts, benches, signage, bins, bike stands, 
bollards etc.)

Street furniture is generally of good quality and sympathetic in character.  There are 
a large number of traffic signs at the junction of Dedham Road, and these could be 
considered for rationalisation.

Hard Landscaping

Road surfacing is generally of good quality however there are areas of inconstancies 
and that would benefit from maintenance. 

Hard landscaping can have a harmful effect upon the character of the area and 
the loss of front garden space in favour of parking would be unsympathetic to the 
character of the Conservation Area.  It is however acknowledged that the use of part 
of the front gardens for parking does ensure that on-street parking is not a particular 
issue for the area.  

The carpark in front of the Church would benefit from levelling and re-gravelling.  

Open Spaces

The open and green spaces across the Conservation Area make a positive 
contribution to its significance and are integral to its character in many instances. 
Appropriate levels of maintenance needs should be considered to these spaces and, 
where appropriate, opportunities for enhancement sought.

Trees and Planting

The trees across the Conservation Area make a positive contribution to its significance 
and are integral to its character in many instances. Appropriate levels of maintenance 
needs should be considered to these and, where appropriate, opportunities for 
enhancement sought.

4.5 Access and Integration 

There is scope for enhancement in terms of wayfinding within the village, to better 
signpost key features such as the Parish Church and wider public rights of way to 
enhance the link between the village and its surrounding countryside.

P
age 123



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4242

4.6 Colour Palette 

The Conservation Area is currently characterised by its red brick and light painted 
render. Future alterations should respond to the existing and historic palette to 
preserve the local distinctiveness; however, it should also reflect the age, status and 
architectural style of its host building. The introduction of an inappropriate modern 
colour palette into the street scene would be a concern within the Conservation Area, 
and have the potential to have a cumulative and significant impact upon the character 
and appearance of the Conservation Area. It is also imperative that appropriate 
paints are used to ensure that the passage of moisture through historic properties’ 
fabric is not inhibited which can cause decay.

4.7 Inappropriate Modern Development

There has only been small-scale modern development within the Conservation Area 
and most of this has been infill development located between older properties. These 
developments have been largely designed in accordance with Essex Design Guideline 
principles and can be considered as neutral in their impact on the Conservation Area.  

Care needs to be taken within the Conservation Area that windows, doors, roofs and 
other architectural elements are not replaced with those of inappropriate design and 
materials. The character of the Conservation Area is defined by the historic palette 
of materials used and this piecemeal loss of fabric can cumulatively have a more 
significant impact on the character and appearance than any of the other concerns. 
Examples of inappropriate modern development are considered to include:

•	 The Fairway and Broomlands, Wignall Street

The impact of modern development on the outskirts of the village or the Conservation 
Area will need to be controlled or appropriately mitigated so that it does not impact 
on the setting of the Conservation Area, or on its wider views, and the contribution 
these make to its significance.

P
age 124



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4343

5. Management Proposals

There are a wide range of issues facing the Lawford Conservation Area, many of 
which share common themes. This chapter seeks to recommend management 
proposals which address these issues in both the short and long term.

5.1 Positive Management: Short term

The first set of proposals relate to positive management and focus on good practice 
and improved ways of working with the local planning authority. These are generally 
low cost and can be implemented within a short timeframe, typically within one or 
two years. 

Enforcement

Where the necessary permission has not been sought for alterations, such as 
advertising signage and building alterations which are not contained within the 
General Permitted Development Order, the Local Planning Authority’s powers of 
enforcement should be considered. This could assist in reinstating any lost character 
or architectural features whose loss may have a negative cumulative effect on 
the Conservation Area, as well as avoiding a precedence being set for similar, 
uncharacteristic works.

General Maintenance: Public Realm and Highways

Through the agreement of a standard good practice within the Conservation Area 
between relevant Local Authority teams and other landowners, long term goals can 
be set to promote good design within the public realm, such as avoiding excessive 
road markings or signage and agreeing a standard street furniture within Character 
Areas to ensure consistency over time as elements are introduced or replaced. This 
will have a long-term positive impact on the Lawford Conservation Area and ensure 
the preservation of characteristic features of the Area including Lawford.

Heritage Statements, Heritage Impact Assessments and Archaeological 
Assessments

In accordance with the NPPF (Paragraph 194), applicants must describe the 
significance of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their 
setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and no 
more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their 
significance.

All applications within the Conservation Area and its setting require an appropriately 
detailed Heritage Statement. Any application without a Heritage Statement should 
not be validated.

The key views analysed within this document are in no way exhaustive. The impact 
of any addition, alteration or removal of buildings, structures, trees or highways on 
key views should be considered to aid decision making. This includes development 
outside the Conservation Area. Where appropriate, views must be considered within 
Design and Access or Heritage Statements. This should be in accordance with 
Historic England’s Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 3: The Setting of Heritage 
Assets (2017). Applications which fail to have assessed any impact upon views and 
setting should not be validated

P
age 125



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4444

Local Heritage List

Lawford would benefit from the local planning authority adopting and maintaining a 
comprehensive Local List in order to preserve its historic environment from further 
deterioration. A Local List identifies buildings and structures of local architectural 
and/or historic interest, and these are considered to be ‘non-designated heritage 
assets’ under the provisions of the NPPF. A Local List may be beneficial to ensure 
the upkeep of buildings which are significant to the history and character of Lawford. 
The exercise would also facilitate a greater understanding of the area and could be 
utilised as a public engagement strategy to improve awareness and understanding. 
There are a number of buildings within the Conservation Area which are of sufficient 
quality to be considered for local list status.

Neutral Elements

The dilution of positive buildings amongst those which are neutral leads to an 
underwhelming and indistinctive overall character.

Tendring District Council must not allow for the quality of design to be ‘averaged 
down’ by the neutral and negative elements of the built environment. Officers must 
where possible seek schemes which enhance the built environment and look to 
conserve and reinstate historic features. It is also considered that poor-quality or 
unsympathetic schemes should not be allowed, both within the Conservation Area 
and its setting.

New Development

There are opportunities within Lawford and its setting for development which makes 
a positive contribution to the Conservation Area. 

To be successful, any future development needs to be mindful of the local character 
of the Conservation Area, while at the same time addressing contemporary issues 
such as sustainability. 

Successful new development will:

•	 Relate to the geography and history of the place and the lie of the land;

•	 Sit sympathetically in the pattern of existing development and routes through 
and around it (including public footpaths);

•	 Respect important views;

•	 Respect the scale of neighbouring buildings;

•	 Use traditional materials and building methods which are as high in quality 
of those used in the existing buildings; and

Tendring District Council should guide development in a positive manner by:

•	 Engaging with developers at an early stage through the Pre-Application 
Process to ensure modern development is high quality in design, detail and 
materials.

•	 Ensuring large scale development schemes are referred to a Design Review 
Panel (or similar) to ensure that new buildings, additions and alterations are 
designed to be in sympathy with the established character of the area. The 
choice of materials and the detailed design of building features are important 
in making sure it’s appropriate to a conservation area.

•	 Seeking opportunities for developers to make a positive contribution to the 
wider historic environment through Section 106 Agreements.

P
age 126



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4545

Public resources

The preservation and enhancement of private properties can be improved through 
the publishing of resources aimed to inform property owners and members of the 
public. An introductory summary of the Conservation Area Appraisal in the form of 
a leaflet or factsheet(s) is a simple way to communicate the significance of the area 
and ensure members of the public are aware of the implications of owning a property 
within a conservation area. In addition, a maintenance guide would assist property 
owners in caring for their property in an appropriate manner. Poor maintenance leads 
to the deterioration of the fabric of the built environment and the loss of architectural 
details. Improved awareness of simple maintenance and repair would be conducive 
with the preservation of Lawford’s built heritage.

Tree Management

In line with the Town and Country Planning Act, all trees in conservation areas are 
afforded the same protection as a Tree Preservation Order. Trees which have a trunk 
diameter of more than 75mm, at a height of 1.5m from the ground, may not be felled 
or lopped unless six weeks written notice has been given to the Council. Six weeks 
notice has to be given to the council under S211 of the Act.

It is also considered that any prominent trees, street trees, and trees with amenity 
value on private land throughout the Conservation Area should be monitored and 
maintained appropriately. This will ensure the symmetry along tree lined streets and 
visual rhythm, as well as maintain the green character of the area. Any tree that 
makes a positive contribution to the area should be retained, maintained and, if felled 
(only if dead, dying or dangerous) replaced with an appropriate new tree.

5.2 Positive Management: Longer Term

The second set of proposals are also focussed around positive management but are 
better suited to a longer time frame.

Character Appraisal and Management Plan

The Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan should be reviewed every 
five years to monitor change and inform management proposals. 

Conservation Area Boundary

The Conservation Area boundary has been revised within this appraisal in accordance 
with the NPPF (2021) and Historic England Advice Note 1: Conservation Area 
Appraisal, Designation and Management (2018). The boundary now includes early-
twentieth century development along Wignall Street. The boundary should continue 
to be assessed as part of future reviews of the Management Plan to ensure it is 
robust and adequately protects the significance of the area. 

Interpretation: Improved Understanding and Awareness

At present there is no interpretation (information boards, signage, interactive QR 
Codes) within the Conservation Area aimed at improving understanding and 
awareness. This would be an effective way to improve the awareness and re-establish 
the identity of Lawford as a historic settlement. One key area which may benefit from 
this would be Parish Church of St Mary. This is a highly significant assets within the 
Conservation Area, and therefore would benefit from interpretation.

P
age 127



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4646

Public Realm and Highways

The first opportunity to enhance the character and appearance of the conservation 
area is through investment to improve the wider public realm. Improved signage such 
as for Public Footpaths would also be an enhancement to the Conservation Area. 

The Highways Department should be engaged to conduct an assessment of existing 
signage within the Conservation Area with the view to ‘de-clutter’ and enhance the 
historic environment. Collaboration between the Highways Department and the Local 
Planning Authority should ensure the maintenance and replacement programmed 
for street furniture and hard surfacing.

5.3 Funding Opportunities

There are three main funding opportunities which would assist in the execution of 
these plans:

National Heritage Lottery Fund

The National Heritage Lottery Fund is the single largest dedicated funder of heritage 
in the UK and therefore is the most obvious potential source of funding. Funding is 
often targeted at schemes which preserve, enhance and better reveal the special 
interest of the area whilst also improving public awareness and understanding. 
Grant opportunities and requirements change overtime, for up-to-date information 
on NHLF schemes, Tendring District Council should consult their appointed Heritage 
Specialist.

Section 106 Agreements

Planning obligations, also known as Section 106 agreements, can be used by the 
local authority to ensure any future development has a positive impact upon Lawford. 
These agreements could be used to fund public realm or site-specific improvements.

Partnership Schemes in Conservation Areas (Historic England)

Partnership Schemes in Conservation Areas is a programme run by Historic England 
to target funding for the preservation and enhancement of conservation areas. As 
the name suggests, the scheme forms partnerships with local authorities (along with 
any additional funding partners) to facilitate the regeneration of an area through the 
conservation of its built heritage. The scheme makes funds available to individuals to 
enable them to carry out repairs or improvement works to their property to enhance 
the area. 

P
age 128



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4747

6. Appendices
6.1 Designated Heritage Assets

LIST ENTRY NAME GRADE DATE LISTED
1254098 CHURCH CLERKS COTTAGE II 30/11/1987
1254131 LAWFORD HALL I 21/2/1950
1254186 THE KINGS ARMS PUBLIC HOUSE II 30/11/1987
1261435 PINK COTTAGE II 30/11/1987
1261443 STABLES APPROXIMATELT 60 METRES SOUTH EAST 

OF LAWFORD HALL
II 17/11/1966

1261444 THE OLD RECTORY II 17/11/1966
1261462 CHURCH OF ST MARY I 17/11/1966
1391298 WAR MEMORIAL II 21/3/2005

P
age 129



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4848

6.2 Publications

Fryer, M. and Horlock, B., 2013, Revisiting the Past: Maps and images of Mistley, Manningtree and Lawford c. 1769-1926, pub. R.J. Horlock

Manningtree Museum and Local History Group, 2000, Pictures from the past of Manningtree, Mistley, Lawford and District, Harwich printing company

Pevsner, N., 2007, Essex: Buildings of England Series, Yale University Press

Welch, P. and Fisher, D., 1996, Manningtree, Mistley and Lawford in old picture postcards, European Library

P
age 130



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4949

6.3 Legislation, Policy and Guidance

LEGISLATION/POLICY/GUIDANCE DOCUMENT SECTION/POLICY
Primary Legislation Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 All sections are relevant, although the following 

pertain to Conservation Area Appraisals and 
Management Plans:

66: General duty as respects listed buildings in 
exercise of planning functions.

72: General duty as respects conservation areas in 
exercise of planning functions.

National Planning Policy National Planning Policy Framework (2021) DCLG Section 16;

Annex 2
National Guidance National Planning Practice Guidance (2014) DCLG ID: 18a
National Guidance Historic England Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 1 

(2015) The Historic Environment in Local Plans
National Guidance Historic England Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 

2 (2015) Managing Significance in Decision-Taking in the 
Historic Environment

National Guidance Historic England (2017) Good Practice Advice in Planning 
Note 3 (Second Edition): The Setting of Heritage Assets

National Guidance Historic England Advice Note 1 (2019) Conservation Area 
Appraisal, Designation and Management

National Guidance Historic England (2017) Traditional Windows
National Guidance Historic England, High Streets for All (2018) Advice for 

Highway and Public Realm Works in Historic Places
National Guidance Historic England (2020) Conserving Georgian and Victorian 

terraced housing

P
age 131



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 5050

National Guidance Historic England (2017) Repointing Brick and Stone Walls 
Guide for Best Practice

Local Supplementary Planning Document Tendring District Council Local Plan (2007) QL9 – Design of New Development

QL11 – Environmental Impacts and Compatibility of 
Uses

EN1- Landscape Character

EN17- Conservation Areas

EN18- Fascia and Shop Signs in Conservation 
Areas

EN18 (a) and (b)- Advert Control within 
Conservation Areas

EN20- Demolition within Conservation Areas

EN21- Demolition of Listed Buildings

EN22- Extension and Alterations to Listed Buildings

EN23- Development within the Proximity of a Listed 
Building

EN25- Satellite Dishes on Listed Buildings and in 
Conservation Areas

P
age 132



Lawford Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 5151

6.4 Glossary 

Term Description
Archaeological interest There will be archaeological interest in a heritage asset if it holds, or potentially may hold, evidence of past human activity worthy of expert 

investigation at some point. Heritage assets with archaeological interest are the primary source of evidence about the substance and evolution 
of places, and of the people and cultures that made them.

Conservation (for 
heritage policy)

The process of maintaining and managing change to a heritage asset in a way that sustains and, where appropriate, enhances its 
significance.

Cropmark Where a below-ground archaeological feature, such as a ditch, is visible from the air due to differential growth-patterns in the covering crop.  

Designated heritage 
asset

A World Heritage Site, Scheduled Monument, Listed Building, Protected Wreck Site, Registered Park and Garden, Registered Battlefield or 
Conservation Area designated under the relevant legislation.

Heritage asset A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, 
because of its heritage interest. Heritage asset includes designated heritage assets and assets identified by the local planning authority 
(including local listing).

Historic environment All aspects of the environment resulting from the interaction between people and places through time, including all surviving physical remains 
of past human activity, whether visible, buried or submerged, and landscaped and planted or managed flora.

Historic environment 
record

Information services that seek to provide access to comprehensive and dynamic resources relating to the historic environment of a defined 
geographic area for public benefit and use.

Setting of a heritage 
asset

The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. 
Elements of a setting may make a positive or negative contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that 
significance or may be neutral.

Significance (for heritage 
policy)

The value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because of its heritage interest. That interest may be archaeological, architectural, 
artistic or historic. Significance derives not only from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting.

P
age 133



Place Services
County Hall, Essex CM1 1QH

T: +44 (0)3330 136 844
E: enquiries @placeservices.co.uk

www.placeservices.co.uk

 @PlaceServices

P
age 134



© Place Services 2023 11

Bradfield Conservation Area
Character Appraisal and Management Plan
Client:
Tendring District Council

Date:
March 2023

P
age 135



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 22

Disclaimer

All reasonable efforts have been made to obtain permission for use of images within this report.  Materials and 
images used in this report which are subject to third party copyright or require reproduction permissions have been 
reproduced under licence from the copyright owner. This is except in the case of material or works of unknown 
authorship (as defined by the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988)  or the copyright holder is unknown after all 
reasonable effort has been made to seek licence to reproduce. 

All maps within this document are subject to copyright. © Crown copyright 2023 OS 100019602. You are permitted 
to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. 
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Any person who wishes to apply to reproduce any part of this work or wishing to assert rights in relation to material 
which has been reproduced as work of unknown authorship in this document should contact Place Services at 
enquiries@placeservices.co.uk 

P
age 136



Contents

Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 33

1. Introduction     5
1.1  Summary     5

1.2 Purpose of Appraisal    6

1.3 Planning Policy and Guidance   6

1.4 Designation of the Conservation Area  7

1.5 Boundary Revision    7 

2.	 Bradfield	Conservation	Area	 	 	 9
2.1 Context and General Character   9

2.2 Origin and Evolution    10

2.3 Designated Heritage Assets   15

2.4 Non-Designated Heritage Assets   15

2.5 Heritage at Risk     16

2.6 Archaeological Potential    16 

3.	 Assessment	of	Significance	 	 	 17
3.1 Summary     17

3.2	 Significance	of	buildings		 	 	 18

3.3 Character Analysis    20

3.4 Views      26

3.5 Setting of the Conservation Area    26

4.	 Opportunities	for	Enhancement	 	 29
4.1 Car Parking     29

4.2 Unsympathetic Alterations and Development 29

4.3 Maintenance     30

4.4 Interpretation     30

4.5	 Public	Realm		 	 	 	 	 30

4.6 Opportunity Sites    31 

5.	 Management	Proposals	 	 	 32
5.1 Positive Management    32

5.2 Positive Management: Longer Term  34

5.3 Funding Opportunities    35 

6.	 Appendices	 	 	 	 	 36
6.1	 Bibliography	 	 	 	 	 36

6.2 Frequently Asked Questions   37

6.3 Legislation, Policy and Guidance   39

6.4 Glossary     40

P
age 137



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 44

Hall

Playing Field

Whitehorn

Myrtle

Bluebell

Laurels

Fieldfares

10

Freech
Cottage

Allotment
Gardens

Corner

5

1

Magnolias

Malindi

Caravan

Sprangewell

Beerhouse

Wakehouse

Track

Kahana

Cottage

Park

Cemetery

Amir

Old Hall

House

Lynden

Barley Cott

Meml

GP

MP

Elderberry

7

2

4

War

Rectory
Gardens

The Bungalow

Place

Weavers
Cottage

Squires

Swan

Hollies

Medlow

Pilgrims

Hallam

Braemar

Bradfield

Wisteria

Strangers'

Dulce Domun

St Lawrence's

Norwood

Cott

Acacia House

8

Greenacres

Milestones

Hawthorns

Church

Roseleigh

Bluebonnet

Home

RECTORY

GARDENS

STATIO
N RO

AD

MILL LANE

TH
E 

ST
R

EE
T

HARWICH ROAD

Bradfield
Conservation Area

±0 25 50
Metres

Figure 1  Map of the Bradfield Conservation Area

P
age 138



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 55

1. Introduction

1.1 	Summary

This Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan provides an overview of 
the	Bradfield	Conservation	Area,	outlining	its	designation	history,	alterations	to	the	
boundary,	and	a	description	of	its	special	interest.	The	appraisal	will	also	consider	
buildings,	 greens,	 spaces,	 and	 features	 which	 contribute	 to	 the	 Conservation	
Area’s	character	and	appearance.	This	appraisal	will	also	consider	the	significance	
of	heritage	assets	within	the	area	and	the	contribution	that	these,	along	with	their	
setting,	make	to	its	character.	The	understanding	of	significance	can	be	used	to	help	
manage future change.

Conservation	 Area	 designation	 provides	 broader	 protection	 than	 the	 listing	 of	
individual	buildings	as	it	recognises	all	features	within	the	area	which	form	part	of	its	
character and appearance. Designation also ensures that planning decisions take 
the enhancement and preservation of the area into consideration.

The	 Bradfield	 Conservation	 Area	 includes	 several	 listed	 buildings	 including	 the	
mediaeval Church of St Lawrence, which is positioned prominently on the road to 
Mistley and Harwich [Figure 2].	Bradfield’s	key	significance	is	derived	from	its	historic	
buildings	and	its	interest	as	a	small	village	with	a	close	association	to	the	surrounding	
agrarian landscape and the river Stour to the north. Its special interest also derives 
from the architectural interest of the mediaeval, eighteenth and nineteenth century 
buildings	which	are	located	within	the	Conservation	Area.	

Figure 2  View south toward the Church of St Lawrence from Station Road

P
age 139



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 66

1.2 Purpose	of	Appraisal

This	document	 is	 to	be	used	as	a	baseline	to	 inform	future	change,	development	
and design with regard to the sensitivities of the historic environment and its unique 
character and appearance. 

The appraisal recognises designated and non-designated heritage assets within the 
Conservation	Area	which	contribute	to	its	special	interest.	It	will	consider	if	there	are	
clearly	defined	Character	Areas	within	Bradfield	and	how	these	came	to	be	developed.	
This	includes	an	assessment	of	the	building	styles,	forms,	materials,	scale,	density,	
roads, footpaths, alleys, streetscapes, open spaces, views, landscape, landmarks, 
and	 topography.	These	qualities	will	be	used	 to	assess	 the	key	characteristics	of	
each area, highlighting potential impacts future developments may have upon the 
significance	 of	 heritage	 assets	 and	 the	 character	 of	 Bradfield.	 This	 assessment	
is	 based	 on	 information	 derived	 from	 documentary	 research	 and	 analysis	 of	 the	
individual character areas, as well as a review of the previous Conservation Area 
Appraisal for the area which was adopted in March 2006.

This	 appraisal	 will	 enhance	 the	 understanding	 of	 Bradfield	 and	 its	 development,	
informing future design. Applications that demonstrate an understanding of the 
character and appearance of a Conservation Area are more likely to produce 
appropriate and responsive design with positive outcomes for agents and their 
clients. 

It is expected that applications for planning permission will also consult and follow the 
best	practice	guidance	outlined	in	Section	6.3.	

1.3 Planning	Policy	and	Guidance

The legislative framework for conservation and enhancement of Conservation Areas 
and Listed Buildings is set out in the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 (HMSO 1990). In particular section 69 of this act requires Local 
Planning	Authorities	to	designate	areas	which	they	consider	to	be	of	architectural	or	
historic interest as Conservation Areas, and Section 72 requires that special attention 
should	 be	 paid	 to	 ensuring	 that	 the	 character	 and	 appearance	 of	 these	 areas	 is	
preserved or enhanced. Section 71 also requires the Local Planning Authority to 
formulate	and	publish	proposal	for	the	preservation	and	enhancement	of	these	areas.	

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) highlights good design as one of 
twelve	core	principals	of	sustainable	development.	Sustainable	development	relies	
on sympathetic design, achieved through an understanding of context, the immediate 
and larger character of the area in which new development is sited.   

National planning policy in relation to the conservation and enhancement of heritage 
assets is outlined in Chapter 16 of the Government’s National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021). 

This	 assessment	 follows	 best	 practice	 guidance,	 including	 Historic	 England’s	
revised Historic England Advice Note 1: Conservation Area Appraisal, Designation 
and	Management	(2018)	and	Good	Practice	Advice	 in	Planning:	3	The	Setting	of	
Heritage Assets (2017). 

P
age 140



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 77

The	Bradfield	Conservation	Area	is	located	within	Tendring	District.	Local	planning	
policy is set out in the Tendring District Council Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond 
Section 2 (2022). Saved policies which are relevant to the historic environment 
include:

Policy	SPL	3	–	Sustainable	Design
Policy	PP	8	–	Tourism
Policy PPL 3 – The Rural Landscape
Policy PPL 7 – Archaeology
Policy	PPL	8	–	Conservation	Areas
Policy PPL 9 – Listed Buildings
Policy	PPL	10	–	Renewable	energy	generation	and	energy	efficiency

1.4 Designation	of	the	Conservation	Area

Bradfield	Conservation	Area	was	 first	 designated	 in	 1981.	An	assessment	 of	 the	
Conservation	Area	was	conducted	in	2001,	which	formed	the	basis	of	Conservation	
Area	Review	which	was	adopted	in	March	2006	by	Tendring	District	Council.	

The Review outlined the special interest of the Conservation Area as is required under 
the provisions of Section 71 of the Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) 
Act	1990.	Part	71	of	the	Act	stipulates	that:	‘It	shall	be	the	duty	of	a	local	planning	
authority	from	time	to	time	to	formulate	and	publish	proposals	for	the	preservation	
and enhancement of any parts of their area which are conservation areas’.

This document seeks to reassess the Conservation Area following its last adopted 
review, to identify any changes to the Conservation Area since this time and provide 
an up to date management plan. 

1.5 Boundary	Revision

As	 part	 of	 this	 appraisal,	 it	 is	 proposed	 to	 revise	 the	 boundary	 to	 remove	 Old	
Hall House, Harwich Road, from the Conservation Area [Figure 4]. Built since 
the previous appraisal, Old Hall House [Figure 3]	 is	not	 considered	 to	 reflect	 the	
prevailing character of the Conservation Area due to its construction date, massing 
and appearance.

Minor alterations are also proposed to the northern edge of the Conservation Area’s 
boundary	to	remove	an	outbuilding	associated	with	Greenacres	(a	modern	dwelling	
which	 is	not	within	 the	Conservation	Area	boundary)	on	Station	Road	from	within	
the Conservation Area.  Other minor amendments are proposed to rationalise the 
Conservation	Area	boundary	against	existing	plot	boundaries.	These	are	depicted	
on the map on the following page. Figure 3  Old Hall House, which has been removed from the 

Conservation Area

P
age 141



Hall

Playing Field

Whitehorn

Myrtle

Bluebell

Laurels

Fieldfares

10

Freech
Cottage

Allotment
Gardens

Corner

5

1

Magnolias

Malindi

Caravan

Sprangewell

Beerhouse

Wakehouse

Track

Kahana

Cottage

Park

Cemetery

Amir

Old Hall

House

Lynden

Barley Cott

Meml

GP

MP

Elderberry

7

2

4

War

Rectory
Gardens

Place

Weavers
Cottage

Squires

Swan

Hollies

Medlow

Pilgrims

Hallam

Braemar

Bradfield

Wisteria

Strangers'

Dulce Domun

St Lawrence's

Norwood

Cott

Acacia House

8

Greenacres

Milestones

Hawthorns

Church

Roseleigh

Bluebonnet

Home

RECTORY GARDENS

STATIO
N RO

AD

MILL LANE

TH
E 

ST
R

EE
T

HARWICH ROAD

Bradfield  Proposed
Conservation Area
Existing Bradfield
Conservation Area

±0 25 50
Metres

Figure 4  Map of the proposed boundary changes to the  
Bradfield Conservation Area

P
age 142



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 99

2. Bradfield	Conservation	Area

2.1 Context	and	General	Character

The	village	of	Bradfield	is	located	approximately	3	miles	to	the	southeast	of	Mistley,	
on the estuary of the Stour. It is a small linear settlement on a north-south orientation. 
The Conservation Area is located to the north of the village where there is an 
intersection	or	“T”	junction,	where	the	road	from	Bradfield	Heath	(The	Street)	joins	
the road to Harwich in the east (B1352).

Bradfield	is	a	small	village,	with	houses	adjacent	to	and	fronting	the	road.	The	pattern	
of development is that of a linear development along The Street.

The	wider	area	 is	 rural	 in	character,	and	 the	Conservation	Area	 is	surrounded	by	
arable	fields	and	open	land	to	the	north,	east	and	west	[Figure 5]. To the south of the 
Bradfield	Conservation	Area	is	more	built	up,	however	the	pattern	of	development	is	
similar,	with	buildings	positioned	in	a	linear,	ribbon	formation	along	the	road.	

To	the	north	of	Bradfield	is	the	River	Stour,	which	flows	east	to	Harwich	and	the	North	
Sea.	Views	of	the	river	can	be	gained	from	Harwich	Road	and	in	the	northern	section	
of	The	Street,	with	buildings	in	this	area	benefitting	from	wide	open	views	across	the	
landscape	to	the	River	and	the	Suffolk	coast,	further	north.	

Figure 5  Satellite image showing the Bradfield Conservation Area in its wider context

P
age 143



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1010

2.2 Origin	and	Evolution

The following section provides an overview of the history of the Conservation Area 
its environs.

Prehistory	and	Roman	(-500000BC	–	43AD)

The Conservation Area lies on a gravel ridge overlooking the Stour Estuary which 
makes	it	a	favourable	location	for	settlement	since	prehistoric	times.	The	proximity	
to	natural	resources	would	have	influenced	early	prehistoric	occupation	and	coastal	
locations	provided	a	valuable	resource	for	food.		The	recovery	of	a	Neolithic	hoard	is	
a	rare	and	significant	discovery	within	the	locality	suggesting	ritual	activity	possibly	
associated	with	nearby	settlement.	

Evidence for land division, settlement and ritual activity during the Bronze Age is 
particularly	prevalent	within	the	Tendring	district.	Former	field	boundaries	within	the	
surrounding	area	may	be	prehistoric	in	origin.	

Roman	(43-410AD)

Roman	occupation	began	in	43AD,	the	Conservation	Area	is	located	at	a	distance	from	
any known Roman settlement, however access from the Roman Town of Colchester 
(Camulodunum) to the coast of Mistley is suggested through cropmark evidence and 
recovery	of	 finds	 in	 the	surrounding	fields	suggests	occupation	 in	 the	wider	area.	
Roman	brick	and	tile	incorporated	into	the	fabric	of	the	Church	may	indicate	proximity	
to	demolished	Roman	buildings.

Figure 6  The Plough Inn (now demolished), circa 1900

P
age 144



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1111

Early	Medieaval	(410	–	1066)

There	is	little	known	of	Bradfield	within	this	period,	under	Saxon	occupation,	however	
the name itself has Anglo-Saxon origins, ‘Bradefelda’ meaning ‘wide open country’. 
Following	 the	 Norman	 Conquest,	 Bradfield	 is	 mentioned	 within	 the	 Domesday	
Book	(1086)	which	names	a	Roger	of	Raismes	who	held	Bradefelda	and	Bradfield	
Manestuna.	Manestuna	sometimes	being	referred	to	as	Manston	meaning	hamlet.	
Before Roger an Aelfric Kemp had held the lordship and it is likely he fell from favour 
with the coming of the Normans.

It	is	thought	that	the	manor	of	Bradfield	Manestuna	was	close	to	where	Jacques	Hall	
and	Ragmarsh	Farm	are	today.	The	manor	of	Bradfield	was	also	likely	nearer	to	the	
church or near to Nether Hall. 

Bradfield	with	its	position	by	the	Stour	estuary	would	have	principally	been	that	of	a	
rural community and a small rural settlement.

Medieaval	(1066	–	1540)

The Church of St Lawrence [Figure 7]	is	the	oldest	building	within	the	Conservation	
Area,	its	tower	being	of	twelfth	century	origins	and	containing	a	twelfth	or	thirteenth	
century	octagonal	bowl	font.	It	is	thought	that	the	existing	Church	is	upon	an	earlier	
Anglo-Saxon Church. 

The small village developed around the Church, at the junction of The Street and 
Harwich Road, some distance from the manorial hall. Within this period (c.1312), the 
manor	and	lordship	of	Bradfield	passed	from	William	Franke	of	Harwich	to	John	de	
Brokesburne	who	by	Royal	Charter	was	granted	the	right	to	hold	market	at	Bradfield.	

Figure 7 The Church of St Lawrence

P
age 145



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1212

Bradfield	continued	to	steadily	develop	over	this	period	and	would	have	remained	a	
small	rural	community.	Bradfield	manor	is	later	recorded	as	passing	in	ownership	from	
Edmund	de	Brokesburne	to	William	Rainsford	in	1397	by	marriage	and	approximately	
in	1500	the	Rainsford	family	built	Bradfield	Hall,	which	was	demolished	in	1955.	

Bradfield	Hall	was	 located	south	east	of	Bradfield	Heath,	some	distance	 from	 the	
Conservation Area, south of Steam Mill Road.

Henry	VIII	visited	Bradfield	in	the	summer	of	1541	and	stayed	at	Bradfield	Hall	and	
from	this	visit	Sir	John	Rainsford	acquired	the	ex-monastic	manor	of	Manningtree	for	
£500.	Little	is	known	of	the	everyday	lives	of	those	within	Bradfield	during	this	period,	
but	it	is	likely	that	the	general	populous	remained	within	agricultural	occupation.	

Post	Medieaval	(1540	–	1901)

Within	the	Church	of	St	Lawrence	are	floor	slabs	with	brasses	and	indents		relating	
to	 the	 sixteenth	and	 seventeenth	 century	Grimston	 family.	A	notable	 family	within	
Bradfield	at	this	time,	following	the	Rainsford’s,	who	later	adopted	the	name	Harbottle	
Grimston.

Cartographic evidence including the Chapman and Andre Map of 1777 [Figure	8] 
shows	Bradfield	in	an	isolated	rural	location.	It	is	likely	from	the	late	eighteenth	century	
that	the	Vicarage,	now	Bradfield	Place,	was	built	for	the	Revd.	Charles	Umfreville.	

It is not until the late eighteenth and early nineteenth century with the coming of 
the	railways	that	Bradfield	would	have	seen	the	most	significant	change	in	everyday	
life.	Bradfield	Station	was	opened	in	1856,	on	the	branch	line	from	Manningtree	to	
Harwich	by	the	Eastern	Union	Railway.	This	would	have	not	only	socially	benefitted

 

the	 community	 but	 also	 allowed	 the	 travel	 of	 goods	 and	building	 supplies	 for	 the	
continued development of the area. The station was later closed in 1956.

By	the	late	nineteenth	century,	Ordnance	Survey	maps	show	the	village	of		Bradfield	
remained	 separate	 to	 Bradfield	 Heath.	 Bradfield	 is	 legible	 as	 that	 of	 a	 linear	
development along Station Road (The Street) and is a small rural settlement. It 
did	however	have	several	Public	Houses	serving	 the	rural	community,	 the	original	
Strangers’ Home on the corner of Mill Lane, The Plough Inn and The White Horse, 
where the present-day Strangers Home is sited. The village also contained a Post 
Office,	adjacent	to	the	original	Strangers	Home.

Figure 8 Bradfield as depicted on the 1777 Chapman and Andre Map (extract)

P
age 146



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1313

Figure 9 Tithe Map of Bradfield Figure 10  The 1893 Ordnance Survey Map

P
age 147



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1414

Modern	(1901	-	Present)

Aside	from	modern	development	now	linking	Bradfield	
to	Bradfield		Heath	along	The	Street	and	development	
along Mill Lane and Harwich Road. The historic core 
and	development	of	Bradfield	remains	legible.	Several	
buildings	such	as	The	Plough	Inn,	the	original	Strangers	
Home and The School were demolished in the twentieth 
century.	 The	 site	 of	 the	 Plough	 Inn	 was	 bought	 by	
Lord	Edwin	Harris	Dunning,	it	was	said	to	be	in	a	poor	
state and was demolished for the erection of the War 
Memorial in 1919. The dedication of the memorial was 
attended	by	Bishop	Suffragan	of	Colchester	and	Lord	
Edwin Dunning.

Sir Edwin Dunning, son of Lord Edwin Harris Dunning, 
is	 a	 notable	 figure	 for	 being	 the	 first	 pilot	 to	 land	
successfully on the deck of a warship, unfortunately the 
plane crashed [Figure 10] and he was killed on the third 
attempt in 1917 at Scapa Flow. There is a memorial 
within the Church of St Lawrence to Commander 
Dunning	 and	 a	 small	 brass	 showing	 the	 bi-plane	
landing on the deck of HMS Furious .

Development	within	Bradfield	at	this	time	included	the	
current	 Strangers	 Home,	 built	 in	 1906	 upon	 the	 site	
of	an	earlier	Public	House,	The	White	Horse	and	the	
lychgate to the Church was erected in 1911. The post-

Figure 11  The Street, circa 1904 ©Nigel Klammer Figure 12  The Church and Lychgate, 1910  ©Nigel Klammer

Figure 13  Photograph of Sir Edwin Dunning’s attempt to land a plane on a 
warship, 1917.

Figure 14  The Post Office, now demolished ©Nigel Klammer

P
age 148



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1515

war houses on the corner of Mill Lane are intrusive and make no concessions to the 
character of the area.

Bradfield	is	a	traditional	Essex	village	which	has	a	strong	link	to	its	agricultural	setting.	
The village has undergone gradual change however its rural character remains 
appreciable	 and	 its	 varied	 historic	 building	 stock	 contributes	 to	 the	 architectural	
interest of the Conservation Area. 

2.3 Designated	Heritage	Assets

There	are	eight	designated	heritage	assets	within	the	Bradfield	Conservation	Area.	
This includes the Grade II listed Church of St Lawrence, the Crinkle-Crankle wall 
south of the Church, a K6 telephone kiosk and several dwellings. The National 
Heritage	List	for	England	contains	the	full	entry	for	each	asset,	this	can	be	found	on	
the	Historic	England	website.

These	 buildings,	 structures	 and	 features	 have	 been	 listed	 due	 to	 their	 special	
architectural	 or	 historic	 interest	 as	 defined	 by	 Section	 1	 of	 the	 Planning	 (Listed	
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

Further	information	about	the	listing	process	can	be	found	on	the	Historic	England	
website.

Listed	buildings	are	protected	by	government	legislation	and	there	are	policies	in	place	
to	ensure	that	any	alterations	to	a	listed	building	will	not	affect	its	special	interest.	It	is	
possible	to	alter,	extend	or	demolish	a	listed	building	but	this	requires	listed	building	
consent and sometimes planning permission. 

2.4 Non-Designated	Heritage	Assets

Every	building,	space	and	feature	within	a	conservation	area	makes	a	contribution	to	
its	character	and	special	interest,	be	it	positive,	neutral	or	negative.	

Heritage	assets	are	defined	in	Planning	Policy	as	‘A	building,	monument,	site,	place,	
area	or	landscape	identified	as	having	a	degree	of	significance	meriting	consideration	
in	planning	decisions,	because	of	its	heritage	interest.’	

Not	 all	 heritage	 assets	 are	 listed,	 and	 just	 because	 a	 building	 is	 not	 included	 on	
the list does not mean it is of no heritage value. Buildings and other structures of 
the	built	environment	such	as	fountains,	railings,	signs	and	landscaping	can	make	a	
positive	contribution	to	the	appreciation	of	an	area’s	historic	interest	and	its	general	
appearance.

Local listing is an important tool for local planning authorities to identify non-listed 
buildings	 and	 heritage	 assets	 which	 make	 a	 positive	 contribution	 to	 the	 locality.	
At present there is no approved local list for Tendring District. This document has 
identified	heritage	assets	which	make	a	positive	contribution	to	Bradfield	Conservation	
Area	and	could	be	considered	for	local	listing	in	the	future.	This	list	is	not	exhaustive,	
and	further	buildings	may	be	 identified	as	non-designated	heritage	assets	through	
the planning application process. Buildings and features within the Conservation Area 
which	are	considered	to	be	non-designated	heritage	assets	include:

•	 Bradfield	Place

• Strangers’ Home

• The Church of St Lawrence Lychgate

P
age 149



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1616

2.5 Heritage	at	Risk

There	 are	 no	 buildings	 or	 features	 which	 are	 on	 the	 at-risk	 register	 within	 the	
Conservation Area.

2.6 Archaeological	Potential

Within the Conservation Area there is potential for the preservation of archaeological 
remains dating from the prehistoric to postmedieaval period. Limited investigations 
have	taken	place	to	the	south	of	the	Church	however	little	dating	evidence	has	been	
recovered.

The Conservation Area lies on a gravel ridge overlooking the Stour Estuary, 
the gravels produce lighter soils and would have encouraged occupation since 
prehistoric times. Although not accurately located, the discovery of a mint condition 
unpolished	axe	of	Neolithic	date	is	rare	and	significant	and	suggests	some	Neolithic	
activity within the area. The surrounding area has recorded cropmark features which 
reveal	evidence	for	field	systems	and	land	division.	Some	of	these	represent	historic	
field	boundaries	of	medieaval	or	post-medieaval	date,	whilst	other	relate	to	earlier	
phases	of	settlement,	possibly	later	prehistoric	or	Roman.	Findspot	evidence	in	the	
surrounding	area	and	Roman	brick	and	tile	found	in	the	fabric	of	the	church	suggest	
pre-medieaval settlement in the vicinity.

The survival of the medieaval Church is an important, well-preserved resource. 
Evidence for an earlier phase of construction was noted during works to the nave 
and there is potential for the remains of an earlier church to survive. Medieaval and 
later	 settlement	evidence	 is	more	 likely	 to	be	sited	along	 the	street	 frontage,	 the	
garden areas may also contain evidence for ancillary activity, such as wells, cess-
pits, yards and middens, as well as small-scale industrial activity. 

The	churchyard	has	been	extended	to	the	south	and	north-west	in	the	recent	past.	The	
north-west	corner	of	the	churchyard	was	formerly	occupied	by	an	inn	and	evidence	
for	the	building	has	been	recovered	during	grave-digging.		There	is	further	potential	
for	the	remains	of	this	building	to	be	preserved	within	this	area	of	the	graveyard.

The Conservation Area incorporates areas of open ground to the east of the 
church	around	Bradfield	Place	and	to	the	rear	of	the	properties	at	the	junction	with	
Station	Road	and	Harwich	Road.	The	survival	of	archaeological	features	has	been	
demonstrated within open ground and the majority of the archaeological remains 
surviving within the Conservation Area are likely to comprise medieaval and post-
medieaval	features,	structures	and	finds,	related	to	the	establishment	and	growth	of	
the village from the Late Saxon period onwards.

The	survival	of	bone	in	soils	formed	on	sand	and	gravel	geology	is	often	poor,	however	
there	would	be	good	survival	of	flint	artefacts,	ceramics,	building	materials	and	metal	
within the Conservation Area. Limited excavations have also recovered oyster shell 
from	archaeological	features.	Environmental	remains	could	be	preserved	in	deeper	
features, such as wells, and provide information on the wider landscape as well as 
evidence for food and cereal production. 

P
age 150



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1717

3. Assessment	of	Significance

3.1 Summary

The	Bradfield	Conservation	Area	is	notable	for	its	historic	development	as	a	small	
yet distinctive area of rural character. The area is predominately that of dwelling 
houses	fronting	the	road	(The	Street),	its	development	and	layout	is	traced	back	to	
its position at the intersection of Station Road with the B1352 (Harwich Road).

At	 the	 centre	 of	 the	Conservation	Area	 is	 the	Church	 of	St	 Lawrence,	 a	 notable	
landmark with large churchyard. The Church was restored in the nineteenth century 
and	 contains	 brasses	 recording	 local	 figures	 and	 their	 families,	 demonstrating	 a	
strong historic connection to the village.

Milestones	 Cottage,	 Acacia	 House	 and	 the	 nineteenth	 century	 Public	 House,	
Strangers Home, are located across from the Church at the north of the intersection 
and main thoroughfare through the village.

To the south of the Conservation Area, the linear development of the settlement is 
appreciable	with	some	recent	infill	development.	The	south	of	the	area	is	terminated	
by	nineteenth	century	cottages,	which	make	a	positive	contribution	and	are	prominent	
within views on the approach into the Conservation Area. 

Figure 15  The junction of The Street and Harwich Road, looking south

P
age 151



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1818

3.2 Significance	of	buildings

Where	 visible	 from	 areas	 of	 public	 realm,	 the	 buildings	 within	 the	 Bradfield	
Conservation	Area	have	been	assessed.	The	map	on	page	19	[Figure 16	should	be	
read	in	conjunction	with	the	key	notes	opposite.	These	outline	the	broad	descriptions	
of	 positive,	 neutral	 and	 negative	 attributed	 to	 buildings	 within	 the	 Conservation	
Area.	It	should	be	noted	that	just	because	a	building	is	positive	it	does	not	mean	it	
cannot	be	enhanced.	Some	positive	buildings	may	have	intrusive	aspects	(such	as	
inappropriate	windows)	and	are	addressed	in	the	management	plan.	The	buildings	
identified	as	‘Positive	with	opportunity	for	enhancement’	tend	to	have	more	bespoke	
or	 fundamental	 issues	 that	 are	not	 generally	 observed	or	widespread	across	 the	
area.

Positive:	 these	 are	 buildings	 that	 have	 been	 identified	 as	 positive	
contributors	 to	 the	 character	 or	 appearance	 of	 the	 Conservation	
Area.	Whilst	identified	as	positive	there	are	likely	to	be	enhancements	
which	can	be	made	 to	better	 reveal	 the	architectural	 interest	of	 the	
building	and	improve	its	contribution	to	the	character	and	appearance	
of the Conservation Area. These general enhancements are noted 
in	the	management	plan.	One	example	would	be	the	replacement	of	
windows	where	the	buildings	have	uPVC.	The	upgrade	of	these	items	
would	be	beneficial	as	a	general	rule.	

Positive	 with	 opportunity	 for	 enhancement:	 these	 are	 buildings	
which	have	been	highlighted	as	they	are	positive	contributors,	however,	
they	have	been	compromised	due	to	intrusive	alterations	or	additions.	
These	buildings	can	be	enhanced	through	the	removal,	replacement	
or redesign of intrusive or unsympathetic alterations. 

Neutral:	These	buildings	make	no	beneficial	or	adverse	contribution	to	
the character or appearance of the Conservation Area. 

Negative:	These	buildings	make	an	adverse	or	intrusive	contribution	
to the character or appearance of the Conservation Area. 

Other:	It	was	not	possible	to	view	these	buildings	from	the	public	realm	
to	ascertain	their	contribution	to	the	Conservation	Area.	

P
age 152



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1919

Hall

Playing Field

Whitehorn

Myrtle

Bluebell

Laurels

Fieldfares

10

Freech
Cottage

Allotment
Gardens

Corner

5

1

Magnolias

Malindi

Caravan

Sprangewell

Beerhouse

Wakehouse

Track

Kahana

Cottage

Park

Cemetery

Amir

Old Hall

House

Lynden

Barley Cott

Meml

GP

MP

Elderberry

7

2

4

War

Rectory
Gardens

The Bungalow

Place

Weavers
Cottage

Squires

Swan

Hollies

Medlow

Pilgrims

Hallam

Braemar

Bradfield

Wisteria

Strangers'

Dulce Domun

St Lawrence's

Norwood

Cott

Acacia House

8

Greenacres

Milestones

Hawthorns

Church

Roseleigh

Bluebonnet

Home

RECTORY

GARDENS

STATIO
N RO

AD

MILL LANE

TH
E 

ST
R

EE
T

HARWICH ROAD

Bradfield
Conservation Area
Positive Building
Positive Building, in
need of enhancement
Neutral Building
Negative Building
Other Building or
Structure

±0 25 50
Metres

Figure 16  Map showing significance of buildings within and neighbouring the Conservation Area

P
age 153



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2020

3.3 Character	Analysis

Summary	of	character	

Bradfield	Conservation	Area	is	a	small,	historic	settlement,	centred	at	the	junction	of	
two roads and the Church of St Lawrence. Buildings within the Conservation Area 
range in age and style, with traditional materials and construction methods dominant 
throughout. Buildings are typically two storeys in height, with dwellings clustered 
around	the	church.	The	grain	of	development	throughout	Bradfield	is	generally	loose,	
with	the	Conservation	Area	having	a	rural	character,	reinforced	by	its	setting.	

The	significance	of	 the	Conservation	Area	 is	 in	 its	small	size	and	high	proportion	
of	historic	buildings.	Given	the	scale	of	Bradfield	Conservation	Area,	there	are	no	
defined	 character	 areas	 identified.	Although	 there	 are	 few	 listed	 buildings,	 and	 a	
relatively	small	number	of	buildings	overall,	many	buildings	within	the	Conservation	
Area	 date	 from	 the	 late	 eighteenth	 to	 nineteenth	 century.	 Its	 block	 plan	 and	 the	
buildings	within	 the	Conservation	Area	provide	architectural	and	historic	evidence	
of	 past	 lives	 and	 building	 techniques,	 and	 a	 tangible	 link	 to	 Tendring’s	 heritage.	
Listed	buildings	within	the	Conservation	Area	are	varied	in	character	and	derivation.	
The	listed	buildings	range	between	the	ecclesiastical	landmark	of	the	Church	of	St	
Lawrence, eighteenth-century cottages, a K6 Telephone Box and a Milepost. Figure 17 Directional sign highlighting Bradfield's important location on the route between Manningtree (west) and 

Harwich (east) 

P
age 154



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2121

Land	usage

The land usage within the Conservation Area is predominantly residential. On The 
Street,	 buildings	 front	 the	 highway,	 and	 the	 linear	 development	 of	 the	 village	 is	
appreciable,	with	buildings	grouped	into	clusters	of	short	terraces	scattered	between	
a few detached and semi-detached dwellings.

The historic use of Strangers’ Home [Figure	18]	as	a	Public	House	 is	still	 legible	
through its large front curtilage despite the change in use. A visually prominent and 
attractive	building,	the	pub	would	have	served	the	village	and	surrounding	settlement,	
with its location on the junction  purposeful. 

The Church and its surrounding churchyard, located to the south of Harwich Road, 
is a large area and the historic and continuing ecclesiastical use of the land here is 
readily discerned. The churchyard contains many headstones and a War Memorial 
by	Powell	&	Sons,	1919	[Figure 21].

Landmark	buildings

The Conservation Area centres around the Grade II listed Church of St Lawrence. 
Due to its local importance, use and scale, it is a key landmark within the Conservation 
Area, with wide views of the tower achieved within, outside and on the approach 
towards	Bradfield	Conservation	Area.

Bradfield	Place	[Figure 20]	built	as	the	vicarage,	is	a	late	Georgian	House	immediately	
east	of	the	church.	It	is	thought	to	have	been	built	by	Rev.	Charles	Umfreville	(1774)	
and	is	positioned	within	its	large	grounds,	separated	from	the	churchyard	by	a	listed	
Crinkle-Crankle wall. Its scale, historic interest and landscaped grounds with mature 
trees	positively	contribute	to	the	Conservation	Area.

Figure 20  Bradfield Place

Figure 18 Strangers’ Home  

Figure 19  The tower of St Lawrence 
Church

P
age 155



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2222

Strangers Home is prominent in views from Harwich Road and on the approach from 
the	north.	Due	to	its	large	frontage	and	historic	function	as	a	Public	House	it	is	an	
important	building	within	the	area,	terminating	the	view	along	Harwich	Road.

Squires Cottage [Figure 23], Acacia House and Milestones Cottage [Figure 21], 
in the northern section of the Conservation Area, form an attractive group with the 
surrounding	historic	buildings	and	the	Church.	These	buildings	are	visible	upon	entry	
into the Conservation Area from the north, marking the transition into the more densely 
developed area of the Conservation Area in the south. Acacia House and Milestones 
Cottage are of an earlier date than Squires Cottage, indicative of an earlier phase 
of	development	in	Bradfield	which	was	concentrated	upon	the	crossroads,	with	later	
development	extending	southwards	to	Bradfield	Heath.

Local	Building	Materials,	Details	and	Boundary	Treatments

Traditional	building	materials	are	dominant	within	Bradfield	Conservation	Area,	which	
is	indicative	of	the	traditional	construction	methods	and	age	of	buildings	throughout.	
Painted	 render,	 red	 brick	 and	 red	 plain	 clay	 tiles	 [Figure 22] are commonplace. 
Squires Cottage [Figure 23]	 is	weatherboarded	 at	 first	 floor	 level,	 as	 is	 common	
throughout	the	region,	however	this	is	the	only	boarded	building	in	the	Conservation	
Area.

Milestones Cottage [Figure 21] and Acacia House in the northern section of the 
Conservation	Area	are	prominent	historic	structures,	with	both	buildings	constructed	
with	a	timber	frame,	rendered	and	painted.	Both	buildings	typify	the	Conservation	
Area, and are vernacular in appearance and construction, dating from the eighteenth 
century. 

Figure 23  Squires Cottage

Figure 21 Milestones Cottage and the village War Memorial

Figure 22 Example of Red Plain Clay 
Tiles

Figure 24 Example of the use of 
render with timber windows and  a 
plain tile roof

P
age 156



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2323

Brick	is	typically	used	on	buildings	which	date	from	the	nineteenth	century	onwards,	
or	those	which	are	imposing	and	high	status,	such	as	Bradfield	Place	[Figure	20].	
Built	 in	 a	 formal	 style	with	 classical	 proportions,	Bradfield	Place	has	a	 slate	 roof	
which	is	set	back	behind	a	parapet	and	imposing,	Georgian	façade.	Red	brick	is	also	
a	prominent	feature	of	The	Strangers	Arms,	built	at	the	turn	of	the	twentieth	century	
with	a	mock	timber	framed	first	storey.		

Brick	is	also	used	throughout	the	Conservation	Area	for	boundary	walls.	The	norrthern	
edge	of	the	Churchyard	is	enclosed	by	a	low	wall	of	red	brick	with	a	small	area	of	iron	
railings	to	allow	a	view	of	the	War	Memorial.	To	the	west	of	the	church	is	the	timber	
lychgate and picket fencing [Figure 26], with picket fencing also present throughout 
the	Conservation	Area.	Where	buildings	within	 the	Conservation	Area	have	a	set	
back	from	the	pavement,	they	typically	feature	hedgerow,	a	brick	wall	or	low-lying	
wooden	fencing	as	their	boundary	treatment.	

Essex is an area which lacks natural stone, therefore it is only the most illustrious 
buildings	within	the	county	which	are	constructed	in	this	material.	The	St	Lawrence	
Church	 is	 the	 only	 stone	 building	 within	 the	 Conservation	 Area,	 highlighting	 its	
importance	 within	 the	 village.	 The	 building	 is	 nevertheless	 simple	 in	 design,	
constructed	 in	 flint	 rubble,	 which	 is	 now	 largely	 cement	 rendered.	 The	 church	
is relatively plain, yet features stone door and window dressings, with few other 
decorative	elements.	Most	of	the	tower	is	a	fifteenth	century	rebuild,	with	the	upper	
part	built	in	brick	and	added	early	in	the	eighteenth	century	[Figure 19].

Chimneys	 are	 an	 important	 part	 of	 the	 streetscape	 and	 buildings	 typically	 are	
positioned parallel to the road, with chimney stacks on their side walls [Figure 
27].	 Gables	 which	 front	 the	 street,	 such	 as	 at	 Strangers'	 Home	 [Figure	 18], are 
uncommon.	Gable	ends	are	an	 important	part	of	 the	view	along	The	Street,	with	
some	buildings	featuring	gambrel	roofs	and	attic	accommodation.	Pitched	or	arched	
dormer windows in the attics are common [Figure	28].

Figure 27 Chimneys and a variety of roof forms add visual interest to 
the street scene

Figure 26 The LychgateFigure 25 An example of a brick and rendered building with timber 
windows and doors

Figure 28 Example of a gambrel 
roof with dormer window 

P
age 157



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2424

Windows	 and	 doors	 throughout	 the	 Conservation	Area	 are	 largely	 timber,	 either	
sashes [Figure 30]	or	casement	style.	Many	buildings	feature	windows	which	have	
glazing	 bars,	 which	 emphasises	 the	 traditional	 appearance	 of	 the	 area.	 Where	
windows	and	doors	have	been	replaced	with	UPVC	or	windows	of	an	unsympathetic	
design	or	size,	this	often	detracts	from	the	architectural	quality	of	the	building	and	
makes	a	negative	contribution	to	the	character	of	the	area

Landscaping,	Open	Spaces	and	Public	Realm

Landscaping	within	the	Conservation	Area	is	minimal,	as	is	the	public	realm	which	is	
limited to the pavements, street and churchyard. Other areas of open space within the 
Conservation	Area	are	privately	owned	and	inaccessible	to	the	public.	The	density	of	
development	increases	to	the	south	of	the	area	towards	Bradfield	Heath.	Located	at	
the	north	of	the	area,	by	the	“T”	junction,	dwellings	such	as	Milestones	and	Acacia	
House	are	afforded	large	spacious	plots	with	a	small	green	frontage.	

The Church and churchyard dominate the northern section of the Conservation Area, 
with the large open space of the churchyard and its planting [Figure 29] a large 
component of the green character of the Conservation Area. Here, the continuing 
ecclesiastical use of the land is readily discerned. The churchyard contains many 
headstones	and	a	War	Memorial	by	Powell	&	Sons,	1919.

The Grade II listed Crinkle-Crankle wall [Figure 31], formerly a walled garden, 
associated	 	 with	 Bradfield	 Place	 (also	 known	 as	 the	 Vicarage)	 now	 part	 of	 	 the	
boundary	to	the	churchyard.	It	is	an	attractive	feature	which	lends	interest	to	Bradfield	
Place and its status within the community. 

Figure 31 The listed Crinckle-Crankle Wall, which gets its name from its S 
shape, bendy form

Figure 30 Example of a timber sash window

Figure 29 Open space in the 
churchyard

P
age 158



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2525

The garden, Crinkle-Crankle Wall [Figure 31] and landscaped grounds with 
mature	trees	surrounding	Bradfield	Place	exaggerate	the	open	appearance	of	the	
churchyard, with views over the house’s grounds easily achieved from the church’s 
grounds [Figure 32]. Similarly, glimpsed views across other gardens and open 
spaces	between	houses	out	to	the	rural	countryside	or	River	Stour,	emphasise	the	
low density of the village.

There	 is	 little	streetlighting	within	Bradfield	Conservation	Area	and	street	 furniture	
along	 the	 highway.	 Two	 notable	 items	 of	 street	 furniture	 are	 a	 telephone	 box	
[Figure 34] and milepost marker [Figure 33],	both	of	which	are	Grade	II	listed.	The	
telephone	box	is	a	K6	type,	located	opposite	the	church.	The	milepost	dates	from	the	
nineteenth century and is constructed in cast iron, placed over an earlier eighteenth 
century milestone. It marks 63 miles to London in the central panel, with side panels 
describing	the	distances	to	Harwich	and	Colchester.

Contribution	by	Key	Un-Listed	Buildings

There	are	numerous	buildings	that	contribute	to	 the	character	and	appearance	of	
the	area;	however,	some	are	considered	to	make	a	key	contribution	and	have	been	
identified	in	Section	3.2	and	below.

Strangers’	 Home	 Public	 House	 [Figure	 18]	 and	 Bradfield	 Place	 [Figure 20] are 
considered	 to	 make	 a	 key	 contribution	 to	 the	 character	 and	 appearance	 of	 the	
Conservation	Area.	Both	buildings	have	a	strong	historic	connection	to	the	area	and	
the community. 

The Lychgate [Figure 26],	erected	in	1911,	is	also	considered	to	be	of	historic	interest	
and	of	key	contribution	to	the	street	scene	and	character	of	the	Conservation	Area.

Figure 32 View towards Bradfield Place from the churchyard

Figure 33 Listed Milepost

Figure 34 Listed K6 Telephone Box

P
age 159



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2626

3.4 Views

Key	views	are	identified	on	Figure 35	and	illustrated	on	page	28.	The	views	included	
in this assessment are not exhaustive; for example, there are also glimpsed and 
kinetic	 views	 that	 contribute	 to	 the	 character	 and	 appearance.	Any	 proposals	 for	
development within the Conservation Area, or its environs, should consider the 
views	below	and	others	which	may	be	relevant	or	highlighted	as	part	of	a	bespoke	
assessment of that proposal.

Important views include those which showcase the liner form of the development 
[Figure	38],	the	Conservation	Area's	setting	in	relation	to	the	River	Stour	[Figure 41] 
and	incidental	views	from	the	churchyard	to	the	houses	beyond	[Figure 36]. 

3.5 Setting	of	the	Conservation	Area	

The	NPPF	describes	the	setting	of	a	heritage	asset	as:	

The	surroundings	in	which	a	heritage	asset	is	experienced.	Its	extent	is	not	fixed	
and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting 
may	make	a	positive	or	negative	contribution	to	the	significance	of	an	asset,	may	
affect	the	ability	to	appreciate	that	significance	or	may	be	neutral.

Historic England Good Practice Advice Note on the Setting of Heritage Assets (2017) 
indicates that the setting of a heritage asset is the surroundings in which the asset 
is	experienced.	 It	notes	 ‘Where	 that	experience	 is	capable	of	being	affected	by	a	
proposed	development	(in	any	way)	then	the	proposed	development	can	be	said	to	
affect	the	setting	of	that	asset’

Historic England’s advice note on setting includes a: 

“(non-exhaustive)	 check-list	 of	 potential	 attributes	 of	 a	 setting	 that	 may	 help	 to	
elucidate	its	contribution	to	significance’.		As	the	advice	note	states,	‘only	a	limited	
selection	of	the	attributes	listed	will	be	of	a	particular	relevance	to	an	asset.”	

This	checklist	has	been	used	to	inform	this	assessment.	

The	 Conservation	 Area	 draws	 its	 significance	 from	 key	 features	 outside	 of	 its	
boundary,	most	notably	 from	 the	Stour	 to	 the	north	and	views	of	 the	surrounding	
countryside. Due to the topography of the Conservation Area, the land slopes to the 
north	towards	the	Stour;	this	affords	views	from	the	high	ground	towards	the	water	
and the wider area. 

The	wider	setting	is	formed	by	arable	farmland	and	the	nearby	settlement	of	Mistley	
and	Bradfield	Heath.	The	surrounding	fields	make	a	positive	contribution	to	the	rural	
character of the Conservation Area.

The Church is also an important local landmark, as it serves the surrounding 
community and has a strong connection to the village. Wider views of the Church 
and the tower are also important towards sense  of place. Views of the tower are 
appreciable	 from	 the	 southern	 approach	 along	The	 Street	 into	 the	 Conservation	
Area.	Southwards	along	the	road,	The	Street,	is	the	attractive	Grade	II	listed	building		
'House	Adjacent	 to	 Maltings	 Cottage'	 (List	 Entry	 Number:	 1261481,	 [Figure 40]) 
which	contributes	to	the	setting	and	historic	interest	of	the	Conservation	Area.

Immediately	adjacent	to	the	Conservation	Area	are	the	playing	fields	by	the	village	
hall, which through its open character permits views of the wider countryside setting 
and	contributes	to	the	rural	character	of	the	Bradfield	Conservation	Area.

P
age 160



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2727

Hall

Playing Field

Whitehorn

Myrtle

Bluebell

Laurels

Fieldfares

10

Freech
Cottage

Allotment
Gardens

Corner

5

1

Magnolias

Malindi

Caravan

Sprangewell

Beerhouse

Wakehouse

Track

Kahana

Cottage

Park

Cemetery

Amir

Old Hall

House

Lynden

Barley Cott

Meml

GP

MP

Elderberry

7

2

4

War

Rectory
Gardens

The Bungalow

Place

Weavers
Cottage

Squires

Swan

Hollies

Medlow

Pilgrims

Hallam

Braemar

Bradfield

Wisteria

Strangers'

Dulce Domun

St Lawrence's

Norwood

Cott

Acacia House

8

Greenacres

Milestones

Hawthorns

Church

Roseleigh

Bluebonnet

Home

RECTORY

GARDENS

STATIO
N RO

AD

MILL LANE

TH
E 

ST
R

EE
T

HARWICH ROAD

Bradfield
Conservation Area

±0 25 50
Metres

Figure 35 Key Vews Map

Key view marker

P
age 161



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2828

Figure 36 View from the Churchyard to houses beyond

Figure 41  View of the River Stour from Harwich RoadFigure 39 View north toward the River Stour, visible to the right hand 
side of Milestones Cottage 

Figure 40  Maltings Cottage, south of the Conservation Area and part of its 
setting

Figure 37 View looking north toward the Church

Figure 38  View looking south along The Street

P
age 162



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2929

4. Opportunities for Enhancement

The	 following	 opportunities	 for	 enhancement	 have	 been	 identified	 and	 are	
summarised	below	in	brief.	The	list	 is	in	no	way	exhaustive	and	neither	are	some	
of	the	opportunities	identified	unique	to	Bradfield	with	many	being	shared	with	other	
Conservation Areas.

4.1 Car	Parking

Bradfield	 is	 fortunate	 in	that	many	of	 the	dwellings	benefit	 from	off	street	parking.	
However, there are instances of on-street parking along The Street, and this can 
become	 crowded	 at	 times.	Another	 area	where	 parking	 can	 become	 crowded	 is	
along Harwich Road, adjacent to the Church.

Parking	and	overcrowding	of	the	highway	potentially	could	block	access	and,	when	
there	are	a	high	number	of	cars	parked	n	the	road,	creates	a	cluttered	appearance	
within the streetscene. 

4.2 Unsympathetic	Alterations	and	Development

Incremental changes have occurred which have impacted the historic character and 
appearance	of	some	of	the	buildings	within	Bradfield	Conservation	Area.

A key concern across the majority of the Conservation Area is the alterations to 
windows	and	doors.	The	replacement	of	timber	windows	with	inappropriate	UPVC	
windows [Figure 42]	has	had	an	impact	upon	the	historic	character	of	a	few	buildings,	
and	the	contribution	they	make	to	the	appearance	of	the	Conservation	Area.	

Figure 43 The group value of terraces is particularly vulnerable to incremental 
change

Figure 42 Example of uPVC windows

P
age 163



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3030

The	location	of	doors	and	windows	within	a	historic	building	is	also	an	essential	part	
of	its	character,	alterations	to	their	position,	or	blocking	them	up,	can	detract	from	a	
building’s	appearance	or	symmetry.	Terraces	are	particularly	vulnerable	to	change,	
and	the	group	value	of	some	buildings	has	diminished	by	the	introduction	of	render,	
porches [Figure 43] or uPVC windows.

Historic England’s Traditional Windows Their Care, Repair and Upgrading (2017) 
advises	that	“the	loss	of	traditional	windows	from	our	older	buildings	poses	one	of	the	
major threats to our heritage. Traditional windows and their glazing make an important 
contribution	to	the	significance	of	historic	areas.	They	are	an	integral	part	of	the	design	
of	older	buildings	and	can	be	important	artefacts	in	their	own	right...	The	distinctive	
appearance of historic hand-made glass is not easily imitated in modern glazing.” 
The loss of historic joinery such as sash and casement windows and panelled doors 
results	in	a	degree	of	harm	to	the	significance	of	an	historic	building,	and	the	loss	
of	crown	or	other	early	glass	can	also	cause	harm	to	the	significance	of	buildings.	
Historic England’s 2017 advice recommends that ‘surviving historic fenestration is an 
irreplaceable	resource	which	should	be	conserved	and	repaired	whenever	possible	’.

There	are	areas	where	post-war	infill	has	a	negative	impact	upon	the	historic	character	
and	appearance	of	Bradfield.	In	particular,	the	dwellings	south	of	Lynden	Cottage	to	
Mill Lane are not considered positive additions due to their use of materials and form. 
In	particular,	the	front	driveways	could	be	improved.

There	are	some	 instances	where	satellite	dishes	have	been	applied	 to	either	side	
elevations	or	prominent	pitches	of	buildings	in	the	Conservation	Area.	Although	none	
are	present	on	front	facades,	visible	satellite	dishes	to	the	side	of	buildings	still	have	
a	negative	effect.

4.3 Maintenance

Some	buildings	and	structures	within	 the	Conservation	Area	are	 in	need	of	some	
routine	maintenance	to	enhance	their	appearance.	For	example,	the	boundary	walls	
of the Church [Figure 44] and the Crinkle-Crankle Wall features cracks, with mortar 
failing in areas.

Routine maintenance is required to prevent further deterioration of the historic 
boundary	walls	and	buildings	 throughout	 the	Conservation	Area.	Historic	England	
defines	maintenance	within	Conservation	Principles	as	“routine	work	necessary	 to	
keep	the	fabric	of	a	place	in	good	order”.	The	importance	of	preventative	maintenance	
cannot	 be	 over-emphasised,	 as	 ongoing	maintenance	 can	 not	 only	 limit,	 or	 even	
prevent,	the	need	for	repairs	later,	but	it	will	also	avoid	the	loss	of	original	fabric	and	
is	cost-effective.	

4.4 Interpretation

There	 is	 currently	 very	 little	 heritage	 interpretation	 in	 Bradfield,	 through	 either	
physical interpretation in the village and digital resources. Increased awareness or 
acknowledgement	of	the	Conservation	Area	would	be	beneficial.	

4.5 Public	Realm	

The	 pavements	 along	 the	 street	 and	 throughout	 the	Conservation	Area	 could	 be	
improved through a uniform treatment of surfacing, as the existing patchwork repairs 
cumulatively result in a detracting element.

P
age 164



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3131

There is minimal street furniture in the Conservation Area. This is positive and the 
lack	of	 features	such	as	signs,	 lampposts	and	other	paraphernalia	 contributes	 to	
the character of the street scene. Unless required for safety, or compliance with 
highways	regulations,	additional	street	furniture	should	be	resisted.				

4.6 Opportunity	Sites

There are limited opportunities for redevelopment in the Conservation Area, largely 
due	to	the	lack	of	vacant	plots	and	the	tight-knit	development	flanking	the	road.	

The	 front	yard	 to	The	Strangers	Home	and	existing	signage	could	also	be	much	
improved. The large area of hardstanding and the planting of leylandii in particular 
is not considered in keeping to the character of the Conservation Area, where native 
species of hedgerow are most common. 

An	empty	plot	of	 land,	on	 the	western	side	of	The	Street,	adjacent	 to	Elderberry	
Cottage [Figure 45],	could	be	improved	in	appearance;	the	land	is	currently	used	for	
parking. 

Not all modern development in and around the Conservation Area is inappropriate, 
however,	there	are	a	number	of	examples	of	post-war	infill	and	back	land	development	
within the Conservation Area, and within its immediate setting, which have had a 
negative impact on its historic village character and appearance. One of the adverse 
characteristics	of	post-war	development	is	the	relationship	these	buildings	have	to	
The	Street.	Traditionally,	 buildings	 fronted	direct	 onto	 the	 street	whereas	modern	
development	is,	in	contrast,	setback	from	the	road,	mainly	to	accommodate	driveways,	
which detracts from the streetscene and interrupts its otherwise continuous frontage.  Figure 45 The gap site south of Elderberry Cottage

Figure 44 The boundary wall to the Churchyard is in need of maintenance and 
repair

P
age 165



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3232

5. Management Proposals

There	are	a	wide	range	of	opportunities	for	the	Bradfield	Conservation	Area,	many	
of	which	share	common	themes.	This	section	builds	on	the	opportunities	identified	
in Section 4 and seeks to recommend management proposals which address these.

5.1 Positive	Management

The	first	set	of	proposals	relate	to	positive	management	and	focus	on	good	practice	
and improved ways of working with the Local Planning Authority. These are generally 
low	cost	and	can	be	implemented	within	a	short	timeframe,	typically	within	one	or	
two years. 

Local	Resident	Engagement 

The	preservation	and	enhancement	of	private	properties	can	be	improved	through	
the	publication	of	resources	aimed	to	inform	property	owners	and	members	of	the	
public.	An	introductory	summary	of	the	Conservation	Area	Appraisal	in	the	form	of	
a	leaflet	or	factsheet(s)	is	a	simple	way	to	communicate	the	significance	of	the	area	
and	ensure	members	of	the	public	are	aware	of	the	implications	of	owning	a	property	
within a Conservation Area. Poor maintenance leads to the deterioration of the 
fabric	of	the	built	environment	and	results	in	a	loss	of	architectural	details.	Improved	
awareness	of	simple	maintenance	and	repair	would	be	conducive	to	the	preservation	
of	Bradfield’s	built	heritage.

Local	Heritage	List

Tendring District Council is in the process of developing the local heritage list. 
Suggestions	have	been	made	within	this	document	of	buildings	to	be	considered	for	
inclusion on this list.

Enforcement	

Where the necessary permission is not sought for alterations which are not contained 
within the General Permitted Development Order, the Local Planning Authority 
should consider its enforcement powers. This could assist in reinstating any lost 
character	or	architectural	features	whose	loss	may	have	a	negative	cumulative	effect	
on	 the	Conservation	Area,	 as	well	 as	 avoiding	 a	 precedent	 being	 set	 for	 similar,	
uncharacteristic works. 

Article	4	Directions	

Article	 4	 Directions	 are	 additional	 planning	 controls	 which	 can	 be	 introduced	
by	 a	 Local	 Planning	Authority	 to	 revoke	 certain	 Permitted	 Development	 Rights.	
Permitted	Development	Rights	allow	building	owners	to	carry	out	certain	works	to	
their properties without the need for planning permission and are set out within the 
General Permitted Development Order (GPDO). 

Article 4 Directions served on properties within the Conservation Area would introduce 
the need to apply for planning permission for certain works and this would allow the 
Council	to	better	preserve	and	enhance	the	area	by	ensuring	high	quality	design	and	
use of traditional materials. 

An	example	of	an	Article	4	Direction	that	would	be	beneficial	would	be	the	removal	of	
Class	A	of	the	GPDO	which	would	limit	changes	to	front	elevations	of	buildings	such	
as replacement windows and doors. 

P
age 166



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3333

Heritage	 Statements,	 Heritage	 Impact	 Assessments	 and	 Archaeological	
Assessments	

In	accordance	with	the	NPPF	(Para.194),	applicants	must	describe	the	significance	
of	any	heritage	assets	affected,	including	any	contribution	made	by	their	setting.	The	
level	of	detail	should	be	proportionate	to	the	assets’	importance	and	no	more	than	
is	sufficient	to	understand	the	potential	impact	of	the	proposal	on	their	significance.	

All applications within the Conservation Area and immediate setting require an 
appropriately detailed Heritage Statement. Any application without a Heritage 
Statement	 should	 not	 be	 validated.	 This	 includes	 development	 outside	 the	
Conservation	Area.	Where	 appropriate,	 views	must	 be	 considered	within	Design	
and	Access	 or	 Heritage	 Statements.	 This	 should	 be	 in	 accordance	 with	 Historic	
England’s Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 3: The Setting of Heritage Assets 
(2017). Applications which fail to have assessed any impact upon views and setting 
should	not	be	validated.	

The key views analysed within this document are in no way exhaustive. The impact 
of	any	addition,	alteration	or	removal	of	buildings,	structures,	trees	or	highways	on	
key	views	should	be	considered	to	aid	decision	making.	This	includes	development	
outside	the	Conservation	Area.	Where	appropriate,	views	must	be	considered	within	
Design	 and	Access	 or	 Heritage	 Statements.	 This	 should	 be	 in	 accordance	 with	
Historic England’s Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 3: The Setting of Heritage 
Assets (2017). Applications which fail to have assessed any impact upon views and 
setting	should	not	be	validated.	This	is	particularly	important	for	the	development	of	
any sites allocated for development as part of the Local Plan process as the change 
to	the	setting	of	the	Conservation	Area	should	be	fully	assessed,	understood	and,	
where necessary, mitigated.

Neutral	Elements	and	Negative	Elements

The	 dilution	 of	 positive	 buildings	 amongst	 those	 which	 are	 neutral	 leads	 to	 an	
underwhelming and indistinctive overall character. Tendring District Council must not 
allow	 for	 the	quality	of	design	 to	be	 ‘averaged	down’	by	 the	neutral	and	negative	
elements	 of	 the	 built	 environment.	Officers	must,	where	 possible,	 seek	 schemes	
which	enhance	the	built	environment.

New	Development	

There is limited opportunity for development within the Conservation Area and its 
immediate	environs.	To	be	successful,	any	future	development	needs	to	be	mindful	
of the local character of the Conservation Area, while at the same time addressing 
contemporary	issues	such	as	sustainability.	

Historic England and CABE guidelines state that successful new development will: 

• Relate to the geography and history of the place and the lie of the land; 

•  Sit happily in the pattern of existing development and routes through and around 
it	(including	public	footpaths);	

•  Respect important views; 

• 	Respect	the	scale	of	neighbouring	buildings;	

• 	Use	materials	and	building	methods	as	high	in	quality	of	those	used	in	existing	
buildings;	and	

•  Create new views and juxtapositions which add to the variety and texture of their 
setting. 

P
age 167



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3434

Tendring	District	Council	should	guide	development	in	a	positive	manner	by:	

•  Engaging with developers at an early stage through the Pre-Application Process 
and Local Plan Process to ensure modern development is high quality in design, 
detail and materials. 

•  Ensuring medium-large scale development schemes are referred to a Design 
Review	(or	similar)	to	ensure	that	new	buildings,	additions	and	alterations	are	
designed	 to	 be	 in	 sympathy	with	 the	 established	 character	 of	 the	 area.	 The	
choice	of	materials	and	the	detailed	design	of	building	features	are	important	in	
making sure it’s appropriate to a conservation area. 

• 	Seeking	opportunities	for	developers	to	make	a	positive	contribution	to	the	wider	
historic environment through Section 106 Agreements. 

Tree	Management

In line with the Town and Country Planning Act, all trees in Conservation Areas are 
afforded	the	same	protection	as	a	Tree	Preservation	Order.	Trees	which	have	a	trunk	
diameter	of	more	than	75mm,	at	a	height	of	1.5m	from	the	ground,	may	not	be	felled	
or	lopped	unless	six	weeks	written	notice	has	been	given	to	the	Council.	Six	weeks’	
notice	has	to	be	given	to	the	council	under	S211	of	the	Act.

It is also considered that any prominent trees, and trees with amenity value on 
private	land	throughout	the	Conservation	Area	should	be	monitored	and	maintained	
appropriately. This will maintain the green character of the area. Any tree that makes 
a	positive	contribution	to	the	area	should	be	retained,	maintained	and,	if	felled	(only	
if dead, dying or dangerous) replaced with an appropriate new tree. 

5.2 Positive	Management:	Longer	Term

These	proposals	are	focused	around	positive	management	but	either	take	longer	to	
implement	or	are	better	suited	to	a	longer	time	frame.

Conservation	Area	Boundary

Revisions	 to	 the	 Conservation	 Area	 boundary	 have	 been	 proposed	 within	 this	
appraisal in accordance with the NPPF (2021) and Historic England Advice Note 1: 
Conservation Area Appraisal, Designation and Management (2019).

The	Conservation	Area	should	be	reviewed	regularly	to	monitor	change	and	inform	
management	proposals.	The	boundary	should	be	assessed	as	part	of	this	review	to	
ensure	it	is	robust	and	adequately	protects	the	significance	of	the	area.

Character	Appraisal	and	Management	Plan	

The	Conservation	Area	Character	Appraisal	should	be	reviewed	regularly	to	monitor	
change and inform amendments and additions to the Management Plan. 

Public	Realm	and	Highways	

Collaboration	between	the	Highways	Department	and	Local	Planning	Authority	should	
ensure the maintenance and replacement programme for street furniture (including 
lampposts)	and	hard	surfacing	reflects	the	character	and	local	distinctiveness	of	the	
Conservation Area. 

P
age 168



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3535

Improved	Understanding	and	Awareness	

At	present	 there	 is	 no	 interpretation	 (information	boards,	 signage,	 interactive	QR	
Codes) within the Conservation Area aimed at improving understanding and 
awareness.	This	would	be	an	effective	way	to	improve	awareness	and	establish	the	
identity	of		Bradfield	as	a	historic	settlement.

5.3 Funding	Opportunities

Much	of	 the	Conservation	Area	 is	 formed	of	private	residential	buildings	with	 little	
opportunity	 for	 funding.	 Dependant	 on	 future	 use,	 Bradfield	 Windmill	 may	 be	 a	
consideration for future funding proposals. There are three main sources of funding: 

National	Heritage	Lottery	Fund	(NLHF)

The NLHF is the single largest dedicated funder of heritage in the UK and therefore 
is	the	most	obvious	potential	source	of	funding.	Funding	is	often	targeted	at	schemes	
which	preserve,	enhance	and	better	 reveal	 the	special	 interest	of	 the	area	whilst	
also	 improving	 public	 awareness	 and	 understanding.	 Grant	 opportunities	 and	
requirements change over time, for up-to-date information on NHLF schemes 
Tendring District Council should consult their appointed Heritage Specialist.

Section	106	Agreements

Planning	obligations,	also	known	as	Section	106	agreements,	can	be	used	by	the	
local	authority	to	ensure	any	future	development	has	a	positive	impact	upon	Bradfield.	
These	agreements	could	be	used	to	fund	public	realm	or	site	specific	improvements.

Partnership	Schemes	in	Conservation	Areas	(Historic	England)

Partnership	Schemes	in	Conservation	Areas	is	a	programme	run	by	Historic	England	
to target funding for the preservation and enhancement of conservation areas. As 
the name suggests, the scheme forms partnerships with local authorities (along with 
any additional funding partners) to facilitate the regeneration of an area through the 
conservation	of	its	built	heritage.	The	scheme	makes	funds	available	to	individuals	to	
enable	them	to	carry	out	repairs	or	improvement	works	to	their	property	to	enhance	
the area.  

P
age 169



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3636

6. Appendices

6.1 Bibliography

Publications

J	Bettley	and	N	Pevsner,	Essex	(Pevsner	Architectural	Guides:	Buildings	of	England),	
(Yale University Press), 2007 

The	Friends	of	St	Lawrence	Church.	Bradfield-	a	history	of	an	Essex	village.	Bradfield,	
2013.

Essex Place-names Project (Essex Society for Archaeology & History). The Place-
Names	of	Bradfield.	Chelmsford,	2013.

Tendring	District	Council	Conservation	Area	Review:	Bradfield	Conservation	Area	
(March 2006)

Tendring District Historic Environment Characterisation Project, Essex County 
Council	(2008)	

Tendring Geodiversity Characterisation Report, Essex County Council (2009) 

Archives

Essex	Record	Office	(ERO)

Historic Environment Record (Essex County Council)

P
age 170



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3737

6.2 Frequently	Asked	Questions

What	is	a	conservation	area?

Conservation	 areas	 are	 designated	 by	 the	 Local	 Planning	 Authority	 as	 areas	
of	 special	 architectural	 or	 historic	 interest.	 There	 are	 many	 different	 types	 of	
conservation area, which vary in size and character, and range from historic town 
centres to country houses set in historic parks. Conservation area designation 
introduces additional planning controls and considerations, which exist to protect an 
area’s special character and appearance and the features that make it unique and 
distinctive. Although designation introduces controls over the way that owners can 
develop	their	properties,	it	is	generally	considered	that	these	controls	are	beneficial	
as they preserve and/or enhance the value of properties within conservation areas.

The designation process includes detailed analysis of the proposed Conservation 
Area	 and	 adoption	 by	Tendring	Council.	A	 review	 process	 should	 be	 periodically	
undertaken, and the Conservation Area assessed to safeguard that it retains 
special	architectural	or	historic	interest.	Threats	can	be	identified,	and	the	boundary	
reviewed, to ensure it is still relevant and appropriate. This is in line with Section 69 
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

The National Planning Policy Framework regards conservation areas as ‘designated 
heritage assets’. 

How	are	conservation	areas	managed?

Conservation	Area	can	be	supported	by	an	appraisal	and	management	plan.	This	
document	 is	 the	 appraisal	 and	management	 plan	 for	 the	 Bradfield	 Conservation	
Area.	The	appraisal	describes	the	importance	of	an	area	in	terms	of	its	character,	

architecture, history, development form and landscaping. The management plan, 
included within the appraisal, sets out various positive proposals to improve, enhance 
and protect the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 

The	 1990	 Planning	 (Listed	 Buildings	 and	 Conservation	Areas)	Act	 specifies	 the	
general duty of Local Authorities, in the exercise of planning functions (Sections 71 
and	72).	The	1990	Act	states	that	special	attention	shall	be	paid	to	the	desirability	of	
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a conservation area. 

How	can	I	find	out	if	I	live	in	a	Conservation	Area?

Boundary	maps	of	conservation	areas	can	be	found	on	Tendring	District	Council’s	
website.	You	can	also	contact	your	Tendring	Council	directly	to	find	out	if	you	reside	
within a conservation area. 

What	are	the	Council’s	duties	regarding	development	in	conservation	areas?

The Local Authority must follow the guidance in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG). These 
set out in clear terms how development proposals within Conservation Areas should 
be	considered	on	the	basis	of	whether	they	preserve	and	enhance	the	character	and	
appearance of the area. Applications which fail to preserve or enhance the character 
or	appearance	of	 the	Conservation	Area	are	 likely	 to	be	 refused	as	a	 result.	The	
Local	Plan	also	typically	includes	a	specific	policy	on	Conservation	Areas;	for	more	
information, please see Section 1.5 which includes an outline of Tendring’s local 
policy. 

P
age 171



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3838

What	is	an	Article	4	Direction?

Under the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
Order	2015,	certain	minor	works,	such	as	domestic	alterations,	can	normally	be	carried	out	
without	planning	permission.	However,	some	conservation	areas	are	covered	by	an	Article	4	
Direction,	which	brings	certain	types	of	development	back	under	the	control	of	a	local	planning	
authority.	 This	 allows	 potentially	 harmful	 proposals	 to	 be	 considered	 on	 a	 case	 by	 case	
basis	through	planning	applications.	Article	4	Directions	are	used	to	control	works	that	could	
threaten	the	character	or	appearance	of	an	area	and	a	planning	application	may	be	required	
for	development	 that	would	otherwise	have	been	permitted	development.	Historic	England	
provides	information	on	Article	4	Directions	on	their	website.

There	are	currently	no	Article	4	Directions	in	place	within	the	Bradfield	Conservation	Area.	

Do	I	need	permission	to	alter	a	property	in	a	conservation	area?

Many conservation areas have an Article 4 Direction which relate to alterations such as the 
painting,	 rendering	 or	 cladding	 of	 external	 walls.	Alterations	 or	 extensions	 to	 buildings	 in	
conservation	areas	will	generally	need	planning	permission.	Your	Local	Authority	should	be	
consulted for advice as to how to proceed. 

Do	I	need	to	make	an	application	for	routine	maintenance	work?

If	routine	maintenance	works	are	to	be	carried	out	using	authentic	materials	and	traditional	
craft	techniques,	on	a	like-for-like	basis,	it	is	unlikely	that	you	will	need	to	apply	for	permission	
from the Council. However, it is recommended that you contact Tendring Council for 
clarification	before	commencing	any	works.	The	use	of	a	contractor	with	the	necessary	skills	
and	experience	of	working	on	historic	buildings	is	essential.	Inappropriate	maintenance	works	
and	the	use	of	the	wrong	materials	will	cause	damage	to	the	fabric	of	a	historic	building.	

Will	I	need	to	apply	for	permission	for	a	new	or	replacement	garage,	fence,	boundary	
wall	or	garden	structure?

Any demolition, development or construction in conservation areas will generally need 
planning	permission.	A	replacement	boundary,	garage,	cartlodge	or	greenhouse	will	need	to	
be	designed	with	 the	special	historic	and	architectural	 interest	of	 the	Conservation	Area	 in	
mind. Your Local Authority will provide advice as to how to proceed with an application.

Can	I	demolish	a	building	in	a	conservation	area?

Demolition	or	substantial	removal	of	part	of	a	building	within	a	conservation	area	will	usually	
require	permission	from	the	Council.	 It	 is	 important	to	speak	to	them	before	beginning	any	
demolition works, to clarify if permission is required.

Can	I	remove	a	tree	within	a	conservation	area?

If you are thinking of cutting down a tree or doing any pruning work, the local planning authority 
must	be	notified	6	weeks	before	any	work	begins.	This	enables	the	authority	to	assess	the	
contribution	the	tree	makes	to	the	character	of	the	conservation	area	and,	if	necessary,	create	
a	Tree	Preservation	Order	(TPO)	to	protect	it.	Consent	will	be	required	for	any	works	to	trees	
that	are	protected.	Further	information	on	TPOs	can	be	found	on	Historic	England’s	website.	

How	do	I	find	out	more	about	a	conservation	area?

Historic	 England’s	 website	 has	 information	 on	 conservation	 areas	 and	 their	 designation.	
Further information on the importance of conservation areas, and what it means to live in one, 
can	also	be	accessed	via	their	website.

Historic	England	has	also	published	an	advice	note	called	Conservation	Area	Designation,	
Appraisal and Management which sets out advice on the appraisal of conservation areas and 
managing change in Conservation Areas. 

In	addition,	Tendring	Council	has	information	on	the	conservation	areas	within	their	boundaries	
available	on	their	website.	They	have	information	pertaining	to	when	the	Badfield	Conservation	
Area was designated, how far it extends and the reason for its designation.

P
age 172



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3939

6.3 Legislation,	Policy	and	Guidance

LEGISLATION/POLICY/GUIDANCE DOCUMENT SECTION/POLICY
Primary Legislation Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 

Act 1990
66:	General	duty	as	respects	listed	buildings	in	
exercise of planning functions.

72: General duty as respects conservation areas in 
exercise of planning functions.

National Planning Policy National Planning Policy Framework (2021) DLUGH Section 16;

Annex 2
National Guidance National Planning Practice Guidance (2014) DLUGH ID:	18a
National Guidance Historic England (2017) Good Practice Advice in 

Planning Note 3 (Second Edition): The Setting of 
Heritage Assets

National Guidance English Heritage (2019) Conservation Principles, 
Policies and Guidance

Local Policy Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond 
(2022)

Section 2

P
age 173



Bradfield Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4040

6.4 Glossary

Term Description
Archaeological interest There	will	be	archaeological	interest	in	a	heritage	asset	if	it	holds,	or	potentially	may	hold,	evidence	of	past	human	activity	

worthy of expert investigation at some point. Heritage assets with archaeological interest are the primary source of evidence 
about	the	substance	and	evolution	of	places,	and	of	the	people	and	cultures	that	made	them.

Conservation (for heritage policy) The process of maintaining and managing change to a heritage asset in a way that sustains and, where appropriate, 
enhances	its	significance.

Designated heritage asset A World Heritage Site, Scheduled Monument, Listed Building, Protected Wreck Site, Registered Park and Garden, 
Registered	Battlefield	or	Conservation	Area	designated	under	the	relevant	legislation.

Heritage asset A	building,	monument,	site,	place,	area	or	landscape	identified	as	having	a	degree	of	significance	meriting	consideration	
in	planning	decisions,	because	of	its	heritage	interest.	Heritage	asset	includes	designated	heritage	assets	and	assets	
identified	by	the	local	planning	authority	(including	local	listing).

Historic environment All	aspects	of	the	environment	resulting	from	the	interaction	between	people	and	places	through	time,	including	all	surviving	
physical	remains	of	past	human	activity,	whether	visible,	buried	or	submerged,	and	landscaped	and	planted	or	managed	
flora.

Historic environment record Information services that seek to provide access to comprehensive and dynamic resources relating to the historic 
environment	of	a	defined	geographic	area	for	public	benefit	and	use.

Setting of a heritage asset The	surroundings	in	which	a	heritage	asset	is	experienced.	Its	extent	is	not	fixed	and	may	change	as	the	asset	and	its	
surroundings	evolve.	Elements	of	a	setting	may	make	a	positive	or	negative	contribution	to	the	significance	of	an	asset,	may	
affect	the	ability	to	appreciate	that	significance	or	may	be	neutral.

Significance	(for	heritage	policy) The	value	of	a	heritage	asset	to	this	and	future	generations	because	of	its	heritage	interest.	That	interest	may	be	
archaeological,	architectural,	artistic	or	historic.	Significance	derives	not	only	from	a	heritage	asset’s	physical	presence,	but	
also from its setting.

P
age 174



Place Services
County Hall, Essex CM1 1QH

T: +44 (0)3330 136 844
E: enquiries @placeservices.co.uk

www.placeservices.co.uk

 @PlaceServices

P
age 175



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Ramsey Conservation Area
Character Appraisal and Management Plan
Client:
Tendring District Council

Date:
March 2023

P
age 177



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 22

Disclaimer

All reasonable efforts have been made to obtain permission for use of images within this report.  Materials and 
images used in this report which are subject to third party copyright or require reproduction permissions have 
been reproduced under licence from the copyright owner. This is except in the case of material or works of 
unknown authorship (as defined by the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988)  or the copyright holder is 
unknown after all reasonable effort has been made to seek licence to reproduce. 

All maps within this document are subject to copyright. © Crown copyright 2019 OS 100019602. You are permitted 
to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the 
data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Any person who wishes to apply to reproduce any part of this work or wishing to assert rights in relation to material 
which has been reproduced as work of unknown authorship in this document should contact Place Services at 
enquiries@placeservices.co.uk 

P
age 178



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 33

Contents

1. Introduction     5

1.1  Summary     5

1.2 Purpose of Appraisal    6

1.3 Planning Policy and Guidance   6

1.4 Designation of the Conservation Area  9

1.5 Boundary Revision    9

2. Ramsey Conservation Area   11

2.1 Context and General Character   11

2.2 Origin and Evolution    11

2.3 Designated Heritage Assets   18

2.4 Non-Designated Heritage Assets   19

2.5 Heritage at Risk     20

2.6 Archaeological Potential    20

3.	 Assessment	of	Significance	 	 	 22

3.1 Summary     22

3.2	 Significance	of	buildings		 	 	 23

3.3 Character Analysis    25

3.4 Views      30

3.5 Setting of the Conservation Area    33

4. Opportunities for Enhancement   35

4.1	 Road	Traffic	and	Parking		 	 	 35

4.2 Interpretation     35

4.3 Loss of Architectural Details   35

4.4	 Public	Realm		 	 	 	 	 42

4.5 Unsympathetic additions    42

4.6 Opportunities for Development   42

5. Management Proposals    43

5.1 Positive Management    43

5.2 Positive Management: Longer Term  45

5.3 Funding Opportunities    46

6. Appendices     48

6.1	 Bibliography	 	 	 	 	 48

6.2 Legislation, Policy and Guidance   49

6.3 Glossary     50

P
age 179



Ramsey Conservation Area

4 © Place Services 2023 

Meadows

Misty

Belmont
Noyna

Sub

Old Barn

Old BakeryEl

3.4
m

Sta

2

FB

Swan Ho

Meadow

Cott
ag

e

MillOld

Sixty Five
Rose Cottage

Shelter

Revan

2BACK
Mill Field

Valley
Cottage

LANE

(PH)

6.6m

1

Netherlea

M
ar

sh
 V

iew

Hart

MAIN ROAD

School

GP

2.3m

Nelson

21

Bunnyfields

Cottage

The Castle

Ramsey

Bridge

1

Cotswood

1

1

8

18

17

12

Ch

29

28

M
ills

to
ne

Sunnybank

Little Acre

Hollytrees

2

THE STREET

1

10

6 Tabarly

View

Denrosa

Coldrennick

Kasadoro

Mill View

Cottages

Flam
borough

Cottage

Andalucia Old

Cherries

Four Seasons
Ambleside

A 120

The Hide House

2

Abbeyfield

19
20

Drain

Drain

Ppg Sta

Drain

Bridgefoot Farm

Track

Brook House

Track

W
illowfields

24

27

W
RA

BN
ES

S 
RO

AD

Ford

Eboli House

Primrose Cottage

RECTO
RY LA

NE

FB

12

2.5m

House

Gracelands
Farm

WIX ROAD

W
INDM

ILL CLO
SE

3

The

6

Windmill

Windmill

W
albeth

18.3m

2

White

5

1

14.3m

The
Lodge

House
Farm

Ramsey Proposed
Conservation Area

±0 40 80
Metres

P
age 180



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 55

1. Introduction

1.1  Summary

This Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan provides an overview of 
the Ramsey Conservation Area, outlining its designation history, alterations to the 
boundary,	and	a	description	of	its	special	interest.	This	appraisal	also	considers	
buildings,	green	spaces	and	features	which	contribute	to	the	Conservation	Area’s	
character	and	appearance.	It	also	highlights	the	significance	of	heritage	assets	
within	the	Conservation	Area	and	the	contribution	that	these,	along	with	their	
setting,	make	to	its	character.	The	understanding	of	significance	can	be	used	to	
help inform future change.

Conservation	Area	designation	provides	broader	protection	than	the	listing	of	
individual	buildings	as	it	recognises	all	features	within	the	area	which	form	part	
of its character and appearance. This ensures that planning decisions take the 
enhancement and preservation of the area into consideration. 

Ramsey	Conservation	Area’s	significance	is	predominantly	derived	from	its	
historic and architectural interest. Late eighteenth-century cartography shows 
the settlement of Ramsey around the twelfth century Church of St Michael at 
the top of a hill to the east of the Conservation Area, the area now designated is 
identified	as	Ramsey	Street	at	this	time.	The	character	of	Ramsey	is	defined	as	a	
linear	settlement	formed	of	tightly	developed	village	street.	The	buildings	are	of	a	
domestic scale with larger structures including the landmark post mill and former 
Methodist Church. 

Figure 1 View of Ramsey Windmill

P
age 181



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 66

1.2 Purpose of Appraisal

This	appraisal	should	be	used	as	a	baseline	to	inform	future	change,	development	
and design with regard to the sensitivities of the Conservation Area and its unique 
character and appearance. 

The appraisal recognises designated and non-designated heritage assets within 
the	Conservation	Area,	which	contribute	to	its	special	interest,	along	with	their	
setting.	It	considers	how	the	area	developed,	in	terms	of	its	building	styles,	forms,	
materials, scale, density, roads, open spaces, views, landscape, landmarks, and 
topography. These qualities are used to assess the key characteristics of the 
area, highlighting the potential impact future developments may have upon the 
significance	of	heritage	assets	and	the	character	of	Ramsey.	This	assessment	is	
based	on	information	derived	from	documentary	research	and	survey	of	the	area.

This appraisal enhances understanding of the Conservation Area and its 
development, informing future design. Applications that demonstrate an 
understanding of the character of a Conservation Area are more likely to produce 
appropriate designs and positive outcomes for agents and their clients. 

It is expected that applications for planning permission will also consult and follow 
the	best	practice	guidance	outlined	in	Section	6.2.	

1.3 Planning Policy and Guidance

The legislative framework for the conservation and enhancement of conservation 
areas	and	listed	buildings	is	set	out	in	the	Planning	(Listed	Buildings	and	
Conservation	Areas)	Act	1990	(HMSO	1990).	In	particular,	Section	69	of	this	act	
requires	Local	Planning	Authorities	to	designate	areas	which	they	consider	to	be	of	
architectural or historic interest as Conservation Areas, and Section 72 requires that 
special	attention	should	be	paid	to	ensuring	that	the	character	and	appearance	of	
these areas is preserved or enhanced. Section 71 also requires the Local Planning 
Authority	to	formulate	and	publish	proposals	for	the	preservation	and	enhancement	
of these areas. 

The	National	Planning	Policy	Framework	(NPPF)	highlights	good	design	as	one	
of	twelve	core	principals	of	sustainable	development.	Sustainable	development	
relies on sympathetic design, achieved through an understanding of context: the 
immediate and larger character of the area in which new development is sited.   

National planning policy in relation to the conservation and enhancement of 
heritage	assets	is	outlined	in	Chapter	16	of	the	Government’s	National	Planning	
Policy	Framework	(2021).

This	assessment	follows	best	practice	guidance,	including	Historic	England’s	
revised Historic England Advice Note 1: Conservation Area Appraisal, Designation 
and Management (2019) and Good Practice Advice in Planning 3: The Setting of 
Heritage Assets (2017). 

P
age 182



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 77

Ramsey Conservation Area is located within Tendring District. Local planning policy 
is set out in the Tendring District Local Plan 2013-2033 and Beyond Section 2 
(2022).		Policies	which	are	relevant	to	the	historic	environment	include:

Policy	SPL	3	-	Sustainable	Design	

Policy PP 8 - Tourism 

Policy PPL 3 - The Rural Landscape 

Policy PPL 7 - Archaeology 

Policy PPL 8 - Conservation Areas

Policy PPL 9 - Listed Buildings 

Policy	PPL	10	-	Renewable	energy	generation	and	energy	efficiency	

Figure 2 View of Wix Road at west extent of the Conservation Area

P
age 183



Ramsey Conservation Area

8 © Place Services 2023 

Centre

Ha
ll

W
ar

 M
em

l

Ra
m

se
y

Vicarage

CHURCH HILL

St Michael's
Church

1

Whinny Grove

6

Vicarage
Old

Colville

Tenby

Ivydale

Roborough

Chevy C
hase

Ra
m

se
y 

C
re

ek

Fieldrise

PW

Pa
th

Pa
th

Windmill

As
hr

id
ge

Ch
es

hu
nt

Be
ec

hr
id

ge

Ha
le

sb
ur

y

Path (um)

Pond

1

Shelter

Som
e View

10

7

2

W
INDMILL VIEW

Curfew

Meadows

Misty

Belmont
Noyna

Sub

Old Barn

Old BakeryEl

3.4
m

Sta

2

FB

Swan Ho

Bridge Bungalow

Meadow

Glaslyn

Cott
ag

e

MillOld

Sixty Five
Rose Cottage

Mill Hall

Shelter

Revan

2

2

BACK

Mill Fie ld

Valley
Cottage

LANE

(PH)

6.6m

1

Netherlea

Ma
rs

h 
Vi

ew

3.1m

Hart

MAIN ROAD

School

GP

2.3m

8

O
R

C
H

AR
D

Kingsford

Riverdale

Bridgefoot

Nelson

21

CL
O

SE

Farm

Bunnyfields

Nuestra Casa

Cottage

The Castle

Ramsey

Bridge

1

Drain

Lord Nelson

Cotswood

1

1

4.9m

B 1352

8

MP

18

17

12

Ch

29

28

Mills
to

ne

Sunnybank

Little Acre

Hollytrees

2

THE STREET

1

10

6 Tabarly

View

Denrosa

Coldrennick

Kasadoro

Mill View

Cottages

Flam
borough

Cottage

Andalucia Old

Cherries

Four Seasons
Ambleside

FB

A 120

Willowdene

Rainbert

The Hide House

2

Abbeyfield

Brookfields

House

The Anchorage
Hillview

19
20

Drain

Drain

Ppg Sta

Drain

Bridgefoot Farm

Bridge

Track

2.7m

Brook House

Track

Willowfields

Ramsey

24

27

W
RA

BN
ES

S 
RO

AD

WRABNESS ROAD

Ford

Eboli House

The Bungalow

Primrose Cottage

RE
CTO

RY 
LA

NE

FB

Drain

Path

GP

Drain

1

12

2.5m

3.7m

WASH

Wash

CORNER

House

Cottage
TINKER STREET

Gracelands
Farm

Pond

WIX ROAD

5.7m

W
INDM

ILL CLO
SE

3

25.6m

The

6

24.4m

Windmill

19.1m

Pool

Windmill

Drain

W
albeth

Stagecoach Stud

Playing Field

Track

Play Area

Mast (Telecommunication)

18.3m

School House

2
White

5

1

14.3m

8.1m

The
Lodge

House
Farm

Ramsey Proposed
Conservation Area

±0 100 200
Metres

Figure 3 Aerial view of the Ramsey Conservation Area and its wider context

P
age 184



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 99

1.4 Designation of the Conservation Area

Ramsey	Conservation	Area	was	first	designated	in	1981	and	a	designation	map	
was produced. The latest adopted appraisal was in the form of a Conservation Area 
Review, produced in 2006. This document included some recommendations which 
were not implemented.  

Upon	adoption	the	boundary	and	appraisal	produced	in	this	document	will	
supersede the existing review and map.   

1.5 Boundary Revision

This	appraisal	has	resulted	in	a	number	of	boundary	revisions.	Consolidation	of	
the	Conservation	Area	boundary	has	been	undertaken	to	exclude	areas	which	lack	
special	interest.	The	boundary	revisions	are	outlined	succinctly	below:

• The	modern	properties	in	Windmill	Close	have	been	excluded.	The	west	
boundary	of	the	designation	has	been	moved	to	the	lane	adjacent	to	White	
House Harm. Windmill Close, and the properties within it, are not considered to 
contribute	to	special	interest	nor	do	they	form	part	of	the	historic	settlement.

• A	large	portion	of	the	Conservation	Area	has	been	removed	to	the	south	of	the	
village. This area holds no architectural or historic interest in its own right and is 
better	considered	as	part	of	the	settlement’s	setting.

• Three	modern	properties	at	the	east	of	the	Conservation	Area	have	been	
removed from the designation.     

• The	junction	of	The	Street,	Main	Road	and	Wrabness	Road	has	been	added.	
This	confluence	of	roads,	and	the	triangular	junction,	have	been	in	place	since	
at least the mid-nineteenth century and form the gateway to this part of the 
Conservation	Area.	Marsh	View	and	Revans	have	also	been	incorporated	into	
the	extension	of	the	designation	here.	Whilst	altered,	the	buildings	form	part	
of	the	historic	building	stock	and	termination	of	the	former	village	envelope.	
Revans	was	also	formerly	the	village	store	and	one	of	the	commercial	buildings	
located	on	this	road	junction.	

• Other	minor	changes	to	the	boundary	have	resulted	from	a	tightening	of	the	
designation	to	take	account	of	property	boundaries	which	makes	for	more	
practical management of the designation. 

P
age 185



Ramsey Conservation Area

10 © Place Services 2023 

Meadows

Misty

Belmont
Noyna

Sub

Old Barn

Old BakeryEl

3.4
m

Sta

2

FB

Swan Ho

Meadow

Cott
ag

e

MillOld

Sixty Five
Rose Cottage

Shelter

Revan

2BACK
Mill Field

Valley
Cottage

LANE

(PH)

6.6m

1

Netherlea

M
ar

sh
 V

iew

Hart

MAIN ROAD

School

GP

2.3m

Nelson

21

Bunnyfields

Cottage

The Castle

Ramsey

Bridge

1

Cotswood

1

1

8

18

17

12

Ch

29

28

M
ills

to
ne

Sunnybank

Little Acre

Hollytrees

2

THE STREET

1

10

6 Tabarly

View

Denrosa

Coldrennick

Kasadoro

Mill View

Cottages

Flam
borough

Cottage

Andalucia Old

Cherries

Four Seasons
Ambleside

A 120

The Hide House

2

Abbeyfield

19
20

Drain

Drain

Ppg Sta

Drain

Bridgefoot Farm

Track

Brook House

Track

W
illowfields

24

27

W
RA

BN
ES

S 
RO

AD

Ford

Eboli House

Primrose Cottage

RECTO
RY LA

NE

FB

12

2.5m

House

Gracelands
Farm

WIX ROAD

W
INDM

ILL CLO
SE

3

The

6

Windmill

Windmill

W
albeth

18.3m

2

White

5

1

14.3m

The
Lodge

House
Farm

Ramsey Proposed
Conservation Area
Ramsey Conservation
Area Existing
Boundary

±0 40 80
Metres

Figure 4 Proposed boundary revisions

P
age 186



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1111

2. Ramsey Conservation Area

2.1 Context and General Character

The Conservation Area forms the southern part of Ramsey Village. The Street 
is	located	off	the	B1352	between	Dovercourt	and	Mistley.	The	street	through	the	
Conservation	Area	was	once	a	main	route	but	has	been	bypassed	by	the	A120.	
The	Conservation	Area	is	located	in	Ramsey	Creek,	between	a	ridge	carrying	the	
main road to Mistley and the high ground where the Parish Church of St Michael is 
located.

The	main	character	of	the	Conservation	Area	is	defined	by	the	tightly	developed	
buildings	flanking	The	Street.	This	presents	a	very	enclosed	character	in	the	centre	
of	the	Conservation	Area.	Some	groups	of	buildings	are	set	back	from	the	road	
and	on	lanes	adjacent	to	the	windmill.	The	principal	landmark	structure	within	the	
Conservation	Area	is	the	windmill.	Set	far	back	from	The	Street	on	high	ground,	this	
building	is	prominent	in	wider	views	of	the	settlement	afforded	by	the	topography.

The Conservation Area terminates in the locations of White House Farm at the 
west and Bridge Foot Farm at the east. These historic farm holdings, which include 
listed structures, together with the windmill reinforce the agrarian character and 
historic economy of this settlement. Nineteenth century development in the village 
included the construction of workers cottages and a Methodist Church. Whilst 
Ramsey was once located directly on the main arterial road to Harwich it has never 
significantly	grown.	This	may	be	due	to	the	fact	that	the	settlement	was	never	
afforded	a	rail	connection	in	the	second	half	of	the	nineteenth	century.	During	the	
twentieth	century	a	relatively	large	number	of	structures	in	the	Conservation	Area	
have	been	constructed	and	the	external	appearances	of	many	historic	buildings	
have	been	significantly	altered.	This	has	changed	the	character	in	terms	of	material	

palette	and	layout	as	many	modern	structures	are	set	further	back	from	the	road	in	
contrast to the historic grain.

2.2 Origin and Evolution

The following section provides an overview of the history of the Conservation Area 
its environs.

Prehistory and Roman (-500000BC – 410AD)

Evidence for prehistoric occupation is scarce within the environs of the 
Conservation	Area,	although	stray	finds	of	prehistoric	flint	tools	have	been	found	
within the environs of the settlement. During the Bronze Age, farming, settlement 
and ritual activity was prevalent across the Tendring plateau. Cropmark features 
in	the	wider	area	suggest	that	ritual	and	agricultural	activity,	of	possible	prehistoric	
origin,	was	focussed	upon	the	higher	ground.		Ramsey	Creek	would	have	been	a	
source of food and water for prehistoric, and later, communities as well as providing 
access to the River Stour and coastal areas. Roman farmsteads and villas were 
located	in	the	wider	area	though	settlement	and	activity	appear	to	be	concentrated	
upon the gravel ridges to the south. The origin of a crossing over Ramsey Creek in 
this	area	is	unknown	but	may	have	been	utilised	from	the	Roman	period	or	earlier.

P
age 187



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1212

Early Medieval (410 – 1066)

The	name	Ramsey	may	derive	from	Old	English,	possibly	hræfn,	ramm	or	hramsa	
with meanings interpreted as ravens, rams, wild-garlic and well-watered land. 
The	later	may	correspond	to	the	location	of	the	village	on	the	valley	sides	above	
Ramsey Creek.1

The	Domesday	Survey	(1086)	records	Ramsey	with	18	villagers,	a	mill,	salthouse,	
and	over	100	sheep	held	by	Aelfric	Kemp.	Aelfric	was	a	landowner	with	24	holdings	
across	Essex,	Suffolk	and	Cambridgeshire.2 The parish appears to have had a 
number	of	manors,	the	closest	of	which,	Michaelstowe	Manor,	was	located	on	the	
opposite side of Ramsey Creek and accessed from the village via a ford. 

Medieval (1066 – 1540)

The	Domesday	Survey	recorded	‘Rameseia’	as	a	large	settlement	which	comprised	
seven manors including Roydon Hall, Ramsey Hall,  Michaelstowe, East New Hall, 
Strond-land, Le Ray and Foulton manor.3	Ramsey	was	held	by	Roger	from	Ralph	
Baynard	who	was	tenant	in	chief	in	1086.	Michaelstowe	Hall	was	located	adjacent	
to	the	Church	of	St	Michael’s	and	the	village	appears	to	have	developed	at	a	
distance from the manorial hall and Church complex. The church dates from the 
twelfth century.

1	 Essex	Place-names	Project	(Essex	Society	for	Archaeology	&	History),	2014	(e-book)
2 https://opendomesday.org/place/TM1829/ramsey/
3	 Essex	Place-names	Project	(Essex	Society	for	Archaeology	&	History),	2014	(e-book).

Figure 5 View of Church of St Michael

P
age 188



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1313

Post Medieval (1540 – 1901)

The only evidence for post medieval activity within, and surrounding, the village 
survives	in	built	form.	A	small	number	of	listed	buildings	survive	from	the	sixteenth	
century.

By the time of the 1777 Chapman and André map the settlement was known as 
‘Ramsey	Street’,	with	Michealstowe	Hall	and	St	Michaels	Church	on	the	eastern	
side of Ramsey Creek, in what is now Upper Dovercourt.

There	is	limited	information	about	the	eighteenth	century	settlement.	Mapping	
evidence	suggests	this	was	very	agrarian	with	the	farmhouses	being	the	principal	
structures. The settlement was further developed in the nineteenth century with 
additional	workers	cottages,	agricultural	buildings	and	ecclesiastical/commercial	
buildings.	The	growth	was	limited	and	mapping	shows	the	linear	character	of	the	
settlement was retained. Whilst the settlement was located on the main road to 
Harwich,	it	was	never	afforded	a	rail	connection	which	may	be	one	reason	it	was	
not extensively developed further like other settlements in Tendring. 

Ramsey	Windmill	is	thought	to	have	been	moved	to	the	village	in	1842	from	
Woodbridge	in	Suffolk.	The	post	mill	has	a	round	base	of	red	brick;	the	buck	is	
timber-framed	and	weatherboarded,	with	fabric	roofs.	The	buck	is	fixed	with	the	
sails	to	the	north-west.	The	fan	is	now	missing,	but	the	remainder	of	the	drive	
survives.	The	former	bakery,	located	on	The	Street	to	the	south-east	of	the	mill,	is	
thought	to	have	been	associated	with	it	and	remained	in	use	until	the	1970s.

The	Methodist	Chapel,	to	the	north-west	of	The	Street,	is	a	traditional	built	Victorian	
chapel	of	red-brick	construction	(with	a	modern	extension	to	the	south-west).	
The	chapel	was	constructed	in	the	nineteenth	century	and	is	the	only	(former)	
ecclesiastical	building	within	the	Conservation	Area.

Figure 6 Extract from 1777 Chapman and André map of Essex

P
age 189



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1414

±0 40 80
Metres

Figure 7 First edition 25-inch Ordnance Survey map, surveyed in 1875

±0 40 80
Metres

Figure 8 Second edition 25-inch OS map, surveyed in 1896

The second edition Ordnance Survey map of 1896 shows the village with some 
changes;	additional	buildings	have	been	constructed	surrounding	the	windmill	and	
a	beer-house	(B.H.)	has	been	labelled	opposite	the	Smithy.

The	first	edition	Ordnance	Survey	map	of	1875	shows	the	village	in	detail,	with	the	
chapel	and	windmill	both	visible	and	with	several	commercial	buildings	labelled	
along	The	Street,	including	a	Post	Office,	a	Smithy,	a	Saw	Pit	and	the	Castle	
Inn.	The	floodplain	of	Ramsey	Creek	was	in	use	as	grazing	marsh	prior	to	the	
eighteenth century when it was divided into paddocks.

P
age 190



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1515

Modern

Many coastal villages were provided with defensive 
features during World War II and Ramsey was no 
exception;	road	barriers	were	erected	across	The	
Street	and	a	pillbox	was	located	at	the	road	junction	
between	The	Street,	Main	Road	and	Wrabness	Road.	
No evidence of these defences survive.

During	the	late	twentieth	century	there	has	been	
extensive change in the settlement. This has included 
further development to the east and west although this 
has	been	undertaken	in	the	same	ribbon/linear	grain.	
A	large	amount	of	the	historic	building	stock	in	the	
settlement	has	also	been	demolished	and	replaced	
with post war development. 

A series of early twentieth-century photographs from 
postcards	(provided	by www.harwichanddovercourt.
co.uk), shows the Conservation Area at the turn of the 
century and highlights the changes in the character 
and extent of the village since that time.

The	multitude	of	commercial	properties	visible	on	
both	the	historic	mapping	and	early	twentieth-century	
photographs,	including	a	Post	Office,	Smithy,	Beer	
House and a local store, shows that the Conservation 
Area’s	character	changed	markedly	over	the	late	
nineteenth and twentieth centuries. The area is now 
effectively	entirely	residential	apart	from	the	Castle	Inn	
public	house.

Figure 9 Postcard image showing The Street in 1907, looking north. Grade II 
Listed Building “Owl Cottages” visible in centre frame, with exposed brick 
gable. In foreground is the former “Prince of Wales” beer-house, with its 
imitation timber-framing and front-facing gables

Figure 10 Postcard image showing the Castle Inn in 1914, after a renovation 
of its front elevation with render and a new sign

Figure 11 Image from a Christmas postcard showing the The Street in 1905, 
looking west. The timber-framed building in the foreground has since 
been demolished, while the gambrel-roofed buildings beyond survive 
within the Conservation Area as Positive Buildings

Figure 12 Postcard image of The Street, looking north-east. Date uncertain 
but later than previous photograph, given electricity poles along street 
– possibly 1920s. “Ramsey Cash Stores” is at extreme left of frame. Brick 
building to right of frame is the demolished “Cellar Houses”, two-storey 
buildings in centre frame with catslide-roofs survive, although heavily 
altered

P
age 191

http:// www.harwichanddovercourt.co.uk
http:// www.harwichanddovercourt.co.uk


Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1616

Figure 13 Postcard photograph showing Ramsey Village in 1920, taken from the eastern side of the creek. Ramsey Windmill is visible on high ground above the village

P
age 192



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1717

The	third	edition	Ordnance	Survey	map	(surveyed	in	1922)	appears	to	show	this	
change	in	character,	with	none	of	the	above	commercial	properties	labelled.

±0 40 80
Metres

Figure 14 Third edition 25-inch OS map, surveyed in 1922

As	the	twentieth	century	progressed,	the	amount	of	motorised	traffic	arriving	at	
Harwich port increased precipitously, and as a result in 1939 work was started on 
a	new	road	bypassing	Ramsey	village,	which	would	become	the	A120.	Work	on	
the	bypass	was	halted	during	the	Second	World	War,	and	the	road	was	not	opened	
until 1961. The road cuts across Ramsey Creek to the south-east of the village 
and	wraps	around	to	the	north	of	Dovercourt	and	Harwich.	This	had	the	effect	of	
severing Ramsey village from its Parish Church on the eastern side of the creek.

Historic photographs suggest the windmill at Ramsey fell into a state of disrepair 
in	the	mid	twentieth	century,	but	was	repaired	by	the	time	of	a	photograph	taken	in	
1985.

Figure 15 Ramsey Windmill in 1974, viewed from the 
south. Note deteriorated state of weatherboarding and 
access stairs

Figure 16 Ramsey Windmill in 1985, viewed from the 
south. Weatherboarding has been repaired and 
repainted, as have the stairs

P
age 193



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1818

2.3 Designated Heritage Assets

There are four designated heritage assets located 
within	the	Conservation	Area	which	contribute	to	
its special architectural and historic interest. These 
assets include:

• Grade	II*	Listed	White	House	Farmhouse	(List	
Entry	ID:	112106);

• 	Grade	II*	Listed	Ramsey	Windmill	(List	Entry	ID:	
1147549);

• 	Grade	II	Listed	Owl	Cottage	(List	Entry	ID:	
1391465);	and

• 	Grade	II	Listed	Bridgefoot	Farm	Stables	(List	
Entry ID: 1112105).

These	buildings	have	been	listed	due	to	their	
special	historic	and	architectural	interest	as	defined	
by	Section	1	of	the	Planning	(Listed	Buildings	and	
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

Further	information	about	the	listing	process	can	be	
found on the Historic England website.

Listed	buildings	are	protected	by	government	
legislation and there are policies in place to ensure 
that	any	alterations	to	a	listed	building	will	not	affect	
its	special	interest.	It	may	be	possible	to	alter,	extend	
or	demolish	a	listed	building	but	this	requires	listed	
building	consent	and	sometimes	planning	permission.	

Meadows

Misty

Belmont
Noyna

Sub

Old Barn

Old BakeryEl

3.4
m

Sta

2

FB

Swan Ho

Meadow

Cott
ag

e

MillOld

Sixty Five
Rose Cottage

Shelter

Revan

2BACK

Mill Field

Valley
Cottage

LANE

(PH)

6.6m

1

Netherlea

M
ar

sh
 V

iew

Hart

MAIN ROAD

School

GP

2.3m

Nelson

21

Bunnyfields

Cottage

The Castle

Ramsey

Bridge

1

Cotswood

1

1

8

18

17

12

Ch

29

28

M
ills

to
ne

Sunnybank

Little Acre

Hollytrees

2

THE STREET
1

10

6 Tabarly

View

Denrosa

Coldrennick

Kasadoro

Mill View

Cottages

Flam
borough

Cottage

Andalucia Old

Cherries

Four Seasons
Ambleside

A 120

The Hide House

2

Abbeyfield

19
20

Drain

Drain

Ppg Sta

Drain

Bridgefoot Farm

Track

Brook House
Track

W
illowfields

24

27

W
RA

BN
ES

S 
RO

AD

Ford

Eboli House

Primrose Cottage

RECTO
RY LA

NE

FB

12

2.5m

House

Gracelands
Farm

WIX ROAD

W
INDM

ILL CLO
SE

3

The

6

Windmill

Windmill

W
albeth

18.3m

2

White

5

1

14.3m

The
Lodge

House
Farm

Grade II* Listed
Building
Grade II Listed
Building
Ramsey Proposed
Conservation Area

±0 40 80
Metres

Figure 17 Map showing designated heritage assets

P
age 194

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/apply-for-listing/listing-process/


Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 1919

2.4 Non-Designated Heritage Assets

Every	building,	space	and	feature	within	a	Conservation	Area	makes	a	contribution	
to	its	character	and	special	interest,	be	it	positive,	neutral	or	negative.	

Heritage	assets	are	defined	in	Planning	Policy	as	‘A	building,	monument,	site,	
place,	area	or	landscape	identified	as	having	a	degree	of	significance	meriting	
consideration	in	planning	decisions,	because	of	its	heritage	interest.’4

Not	all	heritage	assets	are	listed,	and	just	because	a	building	is	not	included	on	the	
list does not mean it is of no heritage value. Buildings and other structures of the 
built	environment	such	as	fountains,	railings,	signs	and	landscaping	can	make	a	
positive	contribution	to	the	appreciation	of	an	area’s	historic	interest	and	its	general	
appearance.

Local listing is an important tool for local planning authorities to identify non-listed 
buildings	and	heritage	assets	which	make	a	positive	contribution	to	the	locality.	
At present there is no approved local list for Tendring District. This document has 
identified	heritage	assets	which	make	a	positive	contribution	to	the	Conservation	
Area	and	could	be	considered	for	local	listing	in	the	future.	This	list	is	not	
exhaustive,	and	further	buildings	may	be	identified	as	non-designated	heritage	
assets through the planning application process. 

Ramsey	is	more	unusual	in	that	it	retains	a	high	number	of	historic	buildings	that	
have	been	altered	to	such	an	extent	that	their	original	external	characteristic	is	no	
longer	apparent.	The	buildings	highlighted	in	this	document	have	been	suggesed		

4 NPPF, p.67.

from	external	assessment	only.	As	such	there	may	be	buildings,	within	the	
Conservation	Area,	that	when	viewed	internally	(or	further	research	is	undertaken)	
would	be	considered	non-designated	heritage	assets.	As	such	it	is	important	
that future proposals in the Conservation Area consider the dearth of information 
pertaining	to	some	of	the	known	historic	buildings	which	have	not	been	fully	
assessed to ascertain if they are considered non-designated heritage assets.  

Buildings	and	features	within	the	Conservation	Area,	which	are	considered	to	be	
non-designated heritage assets from initial assessment, include:

• The	Castle	Public	House;

• 	12-14	The	Street	(excluding	Owl	Cottage	which	is	Grade	II	Listed);

• 	18	The	Street	(The	Gables);

• 	24-27	The	Street;

• 	The	former	Methodist	Chapel;

• 	Old	Mill	Cottage;

• 	28-29	The	Street	(The	Old	Ramsey	Cash	Stores);	

• 	The	Windmill	House;	and

• Swan House.

P
age 195



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2020

2.5 Heritage at Risk

There	are	no	buildings	or	features	in	the	Ramsey	Conservation	Area	which	are	on	
Historic	England’s	Heritage	at	Risk	Register.	However,	Grade	II*	listed	Ramsey	
Windmill	appears	to	have	been	unoccupied	for	several	years	and	this	building	could	
be	considered	at	risk.

Given	the	condition	of	the	Conservation	Area,	and	the	issues	identified,	this	
appraisal	recommends	the	inclusion	of	Ramsey	on	Historic	England’s	Heritage	at	
Risk Register. 

2.6 Archaeological Potential

Within the Conservation Area there is potential for the preservation of 
archaeological remains dating from the prehistoric to post-medieval period. The 
majority	of	the	archaeological	remains	are	likely	to	comprise	medieval	and	post-
medieval	features,	structures	and	finds,	related	to	the	establishment	and	growth	of	
the village from the Late Saxon period onwards. 

No archaeological investigations have taken place within the Conservation Area, 
however immediately to the south are large areas of open ground within the 
former	floodplain	of	Ramsey	Creek,	which	has	good	potential	for	the	survival	of	
archaeological remains.

The origin of a ford across Ramsey Creek is unknown and may predate the 
medieval period. Cropmarks on the higher ground surrounding the Conservation 
Area	suggest	possible	prehistoric	ritual	activity	and	field	systems.	A	fording	point	
may	have	been	utilised	by	prehistoric	and	later	communities	to	access	the	more	
fertile	and	workable	soils	on	the	higher	ground.

The manor of Ramsey is Saxon in origin, however the location of the original 
settlement is uncertain. The isolated nature of the Church and Hall, which are 
outside the Conservation Area, are a common medieval settlement pattern where 
they are located at some distance from the main settlement area and a Saxon 
origin for the village is likely.

Medieval	and	later	settlement	evidence	is	more	likely	to	be	sited	along	the	street	
frontage, the garden areas may also contain evidence for ancillary activity, such as 
wells, cess-pits, yards and middens, as well as small-scale industrial activity. 

There are large open areas to the south of the Conservation Area are close to the 
former	course	of	Ramsey	Creek.	The	river	has	been	culverted	however	a	drainage	
channel	survives.		Rich	grassland	would	have	flanked	the	creek	which	would	have	
been	good	grazing	land	in	the	medieval	period,	the	marsh	appears	to	have	been	
reclaimed	by	the	early	post-medieval	period	and	used	for	agriculture.

Soil-conditions	are	variable,	with	London	Clay	upon	the	slopes	and	alluvial	deposits	
within	the	floodplain.		Artefacts	such	as	ceramics,	bone,	building	materials	and	
metal	would	be	expected	to	survive	on	both.	Within	clayey	soils	waterlogged	
deposits	can	survive,	and	should	be	anticipated	in	deeper	features	such	as	wells	
and	cess-pits.	Environmental	remains	could	be	preserved	in	deeper	features	and	
within alluvial deposits, and provide information on the wider landscape as well as 
evidence for food and cereal production. 

P
age 196



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2121

Figure 18 View of Ramsey in the snow, c.1980s

P
age 197



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2222

3. Assessment	of	Significance

3.1 Summary

The	Ramsey	Conservation	Area	is	notable	for	its	historic	village	character	and	
appearance which largely derives from its enclosed street and tight grain of 
development.	The	existing	building	stock	is	typically	of	two	storeys	and	residential.	
The principal part of the Conservation Area is The Street which terminates at a road 
junction	at	the	east	and	Wix	Road,	a	country	lane	in	character,	at	the	west.	

The	earliest	buildings	within	the	Conservation	Area	are	located	at	the	east	and	west	
extent of the designation. These historic former farmhouses reinforce the agrarian 
function	of	the	village.		Whilst	the	settlement	has	earlier	origins,	the	existing	building	
stock	is	post	medieval.	Unfortunately,	late	twentieth	century	development	has	been	
intrusive	to	the	historic	building	stock	with	many	structures	being	demolished.	There	
has	also	been	intrusive	alteration	to	many	of	the	existing	historic	buildings	which	
detracts from character and appearance. 

Much of the modern development within the Conservation Area and its immediate 
environs have eroded the historic character.

Figure 19 View towards Ramsey windmill

P
age 198



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2323

3.2 Significance of buildings

Where	visible	from	areas	of	public	realm,	the	buildings	within	the	Conservation	
Area	have	been	assessed.	The	map	on	page	24	should	be	read	in	conjunction	with	
the	key	notes	opposite.	These	outline	the	broad	descriptions	of	positive,	neutral	and	
negative	attributed	to	buildings	within	the	Conservation	Area.	It	should	be	noted	that	
just	because	a	building	is	positive	it	does	not	mean	it	cannot	be	enhanced.	Some	
positive	buildings	may	have	intrusive	aspects	(such	as	inappropriate	windows)	and	
are	addressed	in	the	management	plan.	The	buildings	identified	as	‘Positive	with	
opportunity	for	enhancement’	tend	to	have	more	bespoke	or	fundamental	issues	
that	are	not	generally	observed,	or	widespread,	across	the	area.

Positive:	these	are	buildings	that	have	been	identified	as	positive	
contributors	to	the	character	or	appearance	of	the	Conservation	Area.	
Whilst	identified	as	positive	there	are	likely	to	be	enhancements	which	
can	be	made	to	better	reveal	the	architectural	interest	of	the	building	
and	improve	its	contribution	to	the	character	and	appearance	of	the	
Conservation Area. These general enhancements are noted in the 
management	plan.	One	example	would	be	the	replacement	of	windows	
where	the	buildings	have	uPVC.	The	upgrade	of	these	items	would	be	
beneficial	as	a	general	rule.	

Positive with opportunity for enhancement:	these	are	buildings	
have	been	highlighted	as	they	are	positive	contributors,	however,	they	
have	been	compromised	due	to	intrusive	alterations	or	additions.	These	
buildings	can	be	enhanced	through	the	removal,	replacement	or	redesign	
of intrusive or unsympathetic alterations. 

Neutral:	These	buildings	make	no	beneficial	or	adverse	contribution	to	the	
character or appearance of the Conservation Area. 

Negative:	These	buildings	make	an	adverse	or	intrusive	contribution	to	the	
character or appearance of the Conservation Area. 

Other:	It	was	not	possible	to	view	these	buildings	from	the	public	realm	to	
ascertain	their	contribution	to	the	Conservation	Area.	

Figure 20 1909 view looking north, with 12-14 The Street on left of frame. The gable of the Castle Inn visible beyond

P
age 199



Ramsey Conservation Area

24 © Place Services 2023 

Meadows

Misty

Belmont
Noyna

Sub

Old Barn

Old BakeryEl

3.4
m

Sta

2

FB

Swan Ho

Meadow

Cott
ag

e

MillOld

Sixty Five
Rose Cottage

Shelter

Revan

2BACK
Mill Field

Valley
Cottage

LANE

(PH)

6.6m

1

Netherlea

M
ar

sh
 V

iew

Hart

MAIN ROAD

School

GP

2.3m

Nelson

21

Bunnyfields

Cottage

The Castle

Ramsey

Bridge

1

Cotswood

1

1

8

18

17

12

Ch

29

28

M
ills

to
ne

Sunnybank

Little Acre

Hollytrees

2

THE STREET

1

10

6 Tabarly

View

Denrosa

Coldrennick

Kasadoro

Mill View

Cottages

Flam
borough

Cottage

Andalucia Old

Cherries

Four Seasons
Ambleside

A 120

The Hide House

2

Abbeyfield

19
20

Drain

Drain

Ppg Sta

Drain

Bridgefoot Farm

Track

Brook House

Track

W
illowfields

24

27

W
RA

BN
ES

S 
RO

AD

Ford

Eboli House

Primrose Cottage

RECTO
RY LA

NE

FB

12

2.5m

House

Gracelands
Farm

WIX ROAD

W
INDM

ILL CLO
SE

3

The

6

Windmill

Windmill

W
albeth

18.3m

2

White

5

1

14.3m

The
Lodge

House
Farm

Positive Building
Positive Building, in
need of enhancement
Neutral Building
Negative Building
Other Building or
Structure (Not Seen)
Ramsey Proposed
Conservation Area

±0 40 80
Metres

Figure 21  Map showing significance of buildings within and neighbouring the Conservation Area

P
age 200



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2525

3.3 Character Analysis

Summary of character 

The character of this small Conservation Area derives from its historic village form 
with	a	tight	urban	grain	of	historic	street	fronting	buildings.	The	settlement	is	linear	
in	form	with	some	back	land	development	in	the	area	of	the	windmill,	which	is	set	
upon	high	ground	and	visible	in	wider	views.	

Land usage

Land use within the Conservation Area is almost entirely residential with exception 
of	The	Castle	public	house.	Historically	there	were	other	commercial	structures	
located	on	The	Street	but	these	have	either	been	converted	to	residential	use	
or	demolished.	Where	buildings	have	been	converted	to	residential	use	this	has	
tended to include the removal of features and paraphernalia associated with their 
original	use,	and	as	a	result	has	changed	their	character	beyond	recognition	of	the	
original design.  

There	is	limited	public	realm	in	the	Conservation	Area.	Many	residences	front	
directly	onto	the	road	and	as	such	there	is	little	public	footpath.

Landmark buildings

Due to its height and placement overlooking the village, the windmill is the only 
landmark	building	that	has	prominence	and	visibility	from	a	distance	from	both	
inside and outside the Conservation Area, particularly in views from higher ground 
to the west or on the eastern side of the creek.

Figure 22 Conservation area viewed from eastern side of Ramsey Creek

P
age 201



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2626

From	within	the	Conservation	Area	views	of	the	windmill	are	blocked	in	places	by	
the	dense	streetscape,	but	it	can	still	be	viewed	from	multiple	locations	along	The	
Street.

The	Castle	public	house	and	the	listed	Bridgefoot	Farm	Stables	are	prominent	at	
the	north-eastern	end	of	the	Conservation	Area	and	define	the	junction	of	between	
The	Street,	Wrabness	Road,	and	Main	Road.

The	former	Methodist	Church	is	an	important	building	in	the	Conservation	Area.	Set	
back	from	The	Street,	it	is	not	a	prominent	building,	but	it	is	one	of	the	few	buildings	
that,	whilst	converted	to	residential	use,	has	an	architectural	form	which	differs	from	
the residential aesthetic found throughout this area. 

Local Building Materials, Details and Boundary Treatments

The windmill is a unique structure in the Conservation Area.

Almost	all	of	the	buildings	in	the	Conservation	Area	are	rendered	or	brick	in	external	
treatment.	Some	buildings	were	originally	rendered	and	there	are	some	examples	
of	brick	masonry	buildings	which	have	later	been	rendered.	Much	of	the	historic	
building	stock	in	the	Conservation	Area	has	been	adversely	altered	which	has	
resulted in either the removal of traditional features or the installation of items which 
detract from the character and appearance of the street scene.

Most	of	the	historic	windows	in	the	Conservation	Area	would	have	been	timber	
sash	or	casement.	A	large	proportion	of	these	fixtures	have	been	replaced	with	
UPVC presenting a traditional aesthetic.   

The	majority	of	buildings	within	the	Conservation	Area	are	roofed	in	clay	tiles	or	
slate,	but	several	of	the	more	recent	buildings,	or	historic	structures	that	have	been	
the	subject	of	alteration,	are	roofed	in	concrete	tiles.

There	has	always	been	a	variety	of	boundary	treatments	in	the	Conservation	Area.	
Many	buildings	front	directly	adjacent	to	The	Street	which	is	a	main	contribution	
to	the	character.	Historically	there	were	also	examples	of	brick	walls	and	timber	
fences	flanking	the	road	through	the	settlement.	Brick	walls	and	fences	erected	
in	recent	years	have	not	been	traditional	in	form	or	in-keeping	with	the	character.	
This has led to an increased mixed aesthetic in what was an already varied street 
scene.	The	electrical	substation	has	a	metal	gate	fronting	on	The	Street	which	
detracts from the street scene. 

There are instances of inappropriate materials and features added to historic 
structures,	including	membranes	to	slate	roofs,	artificial	timber	weather	boarding	
and solar panels on prominent pitches. These features detract from the 
appreciation	of	the	historic	building	stock	and	the	wider	holistic	aesthetic.			

Landscaping, Open Spaces and Public Realm

Almost	all	of	the	public	realm,	with	exception	of	a	public	footpath,	in	the	
Conservation Area is located on The Street and Wix Road. The road is tarmacked 
and has sections of paving in areas as a result of the road fronting structures.

There	is	no	open	public	space	with	exception	of	the	centre	of	the	road	junction,	at	
the	east	of	the	Conservation	Area,	where	a	bench	is	located.	

P
age 202



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2727

Contribution by Key Un-Listed Buildings

The following non-designated heritage assets are considered to make a positive 
contribution	to	the	character	and	appearance	of	the	Conservation	Area:

The Castle public house is important as the only 
property in the Conservation Area which is not in 
residential	use.	Historically	the	pub	formed	an	important	
part	of	the	settlement’s	social	history	and	still	functions	
today.	Architecturally	the	pub	retains	its	character	
defining	features	and	is	prominent	at	the	east	gateway	to	
the Conservation Area.  

Numbers 12-14 The Street (including	Herb	Cottage	
and Bridge House) is an eighteenth/nineteenth century 
1½-storey  range running along the north-western side 
of	The	Street,	with	a	gambrel	roof	and	three	front-facing	
dormers. It has a single-storey extension with a catslide 
roof	to	the	rear	(north-west),	and	a	taller	gabled	cross-
wing	at	the	southern	end	of	the	range	(no.	14).	Both	of	
these	are	likely	later	additions.	The	building	is	roofed	in	
clay	tiles	and	the	cross-wing	is	brick-built.	The	remainder	
of	the	building	is	rendered	and	so	its	fabric	is	unknown.	
Despite	modern	fittings	(including	windows	and	doors)	
this	building	makes	a	positive	contribution	to	the	street	
scene. 

Figure 23 The Castle 

Figure 24 12 - 14 The Street

Figure 25 18 The Street

Number 18 The Street (The	Gables)	is	situated	
approximately in the centre of the Conservation 
Area, on the north-west side of The Street. It is an 
impressive	two-storey	former	beer	house	dating	to	
the second half of the nineteenth century, constructed 
of	brick	laid	in	Flemish-bond.	It	is	built	in	an	‘Arts	
and	Crafts’	style,	with	imitation	timber-framing	on	
the	upper-storey	(infilled	with	pebbledash	render),	
prominent	bargeboards,	a	front-facing	gable	and	with	
a small section of the upper storey suspended over 
an	original	entranceway.	It	is	set	back	slightly	from	
the street frontage, with a small area of patio in front 
of	the	building	which	has	been	adopted	as	a	garden;	
it was likely a drinking area originally. Unlike many of 
the	other	historic	buildings	within	the	Conservation	
Area, it appears to have at least some surviving 
original	windows	and	this,	combined	with	its	generally	
aesthetically pleasing appearance, means it makes a 
positive	contribution	to	the	Conservation	Area.

Numbers 24-27 The Street are a terrace located 
on	the	north-western	side	of	The	Street,	set	back	
from	the	roadside	and	immediately	adjacent	to	the	
former	Methodist	Chapel	(see	below).	The	terrace	is	
in two halves, with three smaller properties forming 
the north-eastern extent and one larger property 
(no.	27)	at	the	south-western	end.	The	three	smaller	
properties are roofed in slate and have wide central 

Figure 26 24 - 27 The Street

P
age 203



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2828

chimneys, while the larger property is roofed in 
concrete tiles and has a smaller chimney at each 
gable	end.	The	windows	and	doors	on	the	properties	
are	all	modern	replacements,	but	Number	27	has	
evidence	of	a	fanlight	over	its	entrance	and	a	blocked	
window	above.	Numbers	24	and	25	have	small	timber	
porches	over	their	front	doors.	The	buildings	are	all	
rendered	but	appear	to	be	brick-built.	Although	altered	
this	terrace	appears	to	be	a	range	of	nineteenth-
century	agricultural	workers	cottages	and	contributes	
positively to the Conservation Area.

The former Methodist Chapel is	a	brick-built	hall	
constructed	in	1854,	set	back	from	The	Street	to	
the	north-west	and	behind	the	former	Old	Ramsey	
Cash	Stores	(see	opposite).	It	has	a	substantial	
modern	extension	projecting	from	its	south-western	
elevation.	The	original	building	is	largely	constructed	
of	red	brick,	with	quoins,	decorative	features	and	
window/door surrounds all constructed of yellow 
London	stock	bricks.	A	plaque	on	the	front	elevation	
contains	the	date	of	construction,	and	the	building	is	
roofed	in	slate.	The	building’s	windows	have	all	been	
replaced	with	modern	examples	but	its	unique	form	
and	historical	associations	with	the	village	contribute	
positively to the Conservation Area.

Old Mill Cottage is a single-storey thatched cottage 
in the south-western end of the Conservation Area, 
set	back	from	The	Street	on	the	track	leading	to	the	
windmill.	It	is	gabled	with	whitewashed	pebbledash	
render,	and	has	a	brick-built	open	porch	projecting	
from	its	front	elevation.	The	building	is	double-piled	
but	the	rear	range	is	a	large	modern	extension	with	a	
gambrel	roof.	Although	its	significance	is	negatively	
impacted	by	the	modern	extension,	the	cottage	
still	has	sufficient	historical	character	to	contribute	
positively to the Conservation Area.

Numbers 28-29 The Street (Poppy	Cottage	and	
Keebles)	are	a	pair	of	eighteenth/nineteenth-century	
1½-storey	brick	buildings	located	on	the	north-western	
side of The Street, in front of the former Methodist 
Chapel	(see	opposite).	The	buildings	form	a	single	
range	but	are	visually	distinct	structures,	with	Number	
28	having	a	gambrel	roof	and	being	slightly	higher	
and	larger	than	Number	29,	which	is	gabled.	Both	
buildings	are	roofed	in	clay	tiles,	rendered	and	have	
dormers	projecting	from	their	front	elevations	(2	
on	Numbers	28,	3	on	Number	29).	A	single-storey	
extension	projects	from	the	rear	of	the	buildings,	
covered	in	a	catslide	roof.	Both	buildings	are	entered	
through modern porches on their front elevations, and 
the	buildings	are	set	back	slightly	from	The	Street,	
with	a	low	brick-wall	and	chain	fence	forming	the	

Figure 27 Methodist Chapel

Figure 28 Old Mill Cottage

Figure 29 28 - 29 The Street

P
age 204



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 2929

boundary	of	Number	28	and	a	brick	wall	boundary	
to	Number	29.	In	the	early	twentieth	century	Number	
28 contained the Ramsey Cash Stores, a shop in the 
centre of the village. Historic photographs show a 
projecting	square	bay	window	and	an	associated	shop	
sign facing the street, neither of which survive today. 
The	location	of	the	square	bay	window	is	now	filled	
by	a	much	shallower	circular	bay	window.	As	these	
buildings	were	a	historic	centre	of	village	activity,	with	
a	functional	social	history,	they	contribute	positively	to	
the Conservation Area.

The Windmill House	is	a	substantial	nineteenth-
century two-storey house located at the western 
end of the Conservation Area, in close proximity to 
the Grade II* listed windmill and within the same 
complex.	The	building	double-piled,	hipped	and	
roofed in slate. Although currently appearing uniform, 
historical mapping suggests the southern range is a 
later	addition.	The	building	has	a	modern	projecting	
hipped	porch	on	its	front	elevation,	the	entire	building	
is	rendered	and	the	upper-storey	is	covered	in	fibre-
cement	weatherboarding.	Despite	the	unsympathetic	
addition	of	the	weatherboarding	the	building	is	
still	historically	significant	and	a	landmark	within	
the	village,	surpassed	in	size	only	by	the	adjacent	
windmill.	As	such	it	positively	contributes	to	the	
Conservation Area.

Figure 30 Swan House

Swan House is an eighteenth/nineteenth-century 
1½-storey	brick-built	dwelling	on	the	south-eastern	
side of The Street, to the immediate south of No 18 
(see	opposite).	As	with	many	other	buildings	within	
the	Conservation	Area	it	is	has	a	gambrel	roof,	and	
is	double-piled,	with	two	parallel	connected	ranges.	
Projecting	from	the	south-east	of	the	building	is	a	
brick-built	flat	roofed	modern	extension.	The	building	
is roofed in clay tiles and the front range has a wide 
central chimney, as well as two dormers on its front 
elevation.	The	building	is	partially	weatherboarded,	
partially	rendered	and	has	some	brickwork	visible	laid	
in	monk-bond	(a	variation	of	Flemish-bond	with	two	
stretchers	between	each	header).	Although	heavily	
altered,	the	building’s	historic	nature	and	visual	links	
to	others	in	the	village	means	it	positively	contributes	
to the Conservation Area.

Figure 31 Windmill House

P
age 205



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3030

Figure 32 View 1 Figure 33 View 2

Figure 34 View 3 Figure 35 View 4

3.4 Views

Key	views	are	identified	on	Figure	40.	Note	that	the	views	included	are	a	
selection	of	key	views;	this	list	is	not	exhaustive	and	there	may	be	other	views	of	
significance.	Any	proposals	for	development	within	the	Conservation	Area,	or	its	
environs,	should	consider	the	views	below	and	any	others	which	may	be	relevant	
or	highlighted	as	part	of	a	bespoke	assessment	of	that	proposal.

Views of the windmill are important to understanding the historic village character 
of	Ramsey	and	its	significance.	The	windmill	is	largely	screened	from	view	when	
approaching the Conservation Area from the south-west or north-east along the 
A120,	due	to	substantial	hedgerow	planting	and	the	line	of	the	road	in	this	location	
following the valley of the creek. However, from higher-ground, particularly to the 
west and east, on the opposite side of the creek, the windmill is very prominent and 
serves as a marker for the settlement.

Viewed	from	the	west,	from	the	fields	rising	above	the	village,	the	windmill	is	
extremely	conspicuous	and	visually	depicts	the	village’s	link	with	its	surrounding	
rural agrarian landscape, and its strong association with historical agricultural 
industry	(Figure	32).	

Views	of	the	windmill	from	the	east,	across	the	creek,	again	show	Ramsey’s	
agricultural	setting,	but	also	clearly	depict	the	windmill’s	relationship	with	the	village	
as	whole;	located	on	a	rise	above	The	Street	and	set	back	from	the	linear	plan	form	
of	the	settlement	(Figure	33).

Views	of	the	windmill	from	the	public	realm	within	the	Conservation	Area	are	
obscured	in	many	places	by	the	tight	development	of	building	frontages	adjacent	
The	Street,	but	there	are	several	locations	where	the	windmill	is	visible,	usually	in	

P
age 206



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3131

Figure 36 View 5

gaps	between	buildings	or	in	areas	where	structures	are	set	back	from	the	road.	
As with views of the windmill from outside the settlement, these views highlight the 
essentially agrarian nature of the village and its connection to the surrounding rural 
landscape. 

This view also includes the former mill house which has a functional connection 
with	the	windmill	and	landholding	(Figure	34).

General views of the Conservation Area from higher-ground to the west serve to 
highlight	the	village’s	intentional	topographical	relationship	with	Ramsey	Creek	and	
the	associated,	but	disconnected,	hall	and	church	complex	to	the	east	(Figure	35).

Views	of	the	Castle	public	house	and	the	listed	Bridgefoot	Farm	Stables	are	
prominent	from	Main	Road,	and	these	two	buildings	define	the	eastern	approach	
to	the	village	from	Dovercourt.	This	important	view	survives	today	but	would	have	
been	even	more	evident	historically,	prior	to	the	construction	of	the	A120	and	the	
associated	increase	in	hedgerow	planting	(Figure	36).

View	6	is	important	for	the	same	reason,	including	this	historic	road	junction	at	the	
gateway	to	the	Conservation	Area	(Figure	37).	

The	south-west	view	down	The	Street	from	outside	Number	12	contains	largely	
historic	buildings	and	highlights	the	winding	nature	of	the	road,	the	linear	nature	of	
the	village	and	its	historic	development	as	a	ribbon	settlement	(Figure	38).

The view looking north-east from White House Farm is of a narrow, enclosed 
country lane. This is largely due to the lack of development on the south-eastern 
side of The Street at this end of the Conservation Area, again serves to highlight 
the	essentially	rural,	agrarian	nature	of	the	village	(Figure	39).

Figure 37 View 6

Figure 38 View 7 Figure 39 View 8

P
age 207



Ramsey Conservation Area

32 © Place Services 2023 

Ha
ll

W
ar

 M
em

l

Ra
m

se
y

Vicarage

CHURCH HILL

1

Whinny Grove

6

Colville

Tenby

Ivydale

Roborough

Chevy C
haseFieldrise

PW

Pa
th

As
hr

id
ge

C
he

sh
un

t

Be
ec

hr
id

ge

H
al

es
bu

ry

Path (um)

Pond

1

Som
e View

10

7

2

W
INDMILL VIEW

Curfew

Meadows

Misty

Belmont
Noyna

Sub

Old Barn

Old BakeryEl

3.4
m

Sta

2

FB

Swan Ho

Meadow

Cott
ag

e

MillOld

Sixty Five
Rose Cottage

Mill Hall

Shelter

Revan

2BACK

Mill Field

Valley
Cottage

LANE

(PH)

6.6m

Netherlea

M
ar

sh
 V

ie
w

Hart

MAIN ROAD

School

GP

2.3m

21

Bunnyfields

Cottage

The Castle

Ramsey

Bridge

1

Drain

1

1

8

18

17

12

Ch

29

28

Mills
ton

e

Sunnybank

Little Acre

Hollytrees

THE STREET

1

10

6 Tabarly

View

Kasadoro

Mill View

Flam
borough

Cottage

Andalucia Old

Cherries

Four Seasons
Ambleside

FB

A 120

2

19
20

Drain

Drain

Ppg Sta

Drain

Bridgefoot Farm

Bridge

Track

Brook House

Track

Willowfields

Ramsey

24

27

Ford

Eboli House

The Bungalow

Primrose Cottage

RECTORY LA
NE

FB

Drain

1

12

2.5m

House

TINKER STREET

Gracelands
Farm

WIX ROAD

5.7m

W
INDM

ILL CLOSE

3

The

6

Windmill

19.1m

Pool

Windmill

W
albeth

Stagecoach Stud

Playing Field

Play Area

18.3m

School House

2

White

5

1

14.3m

The
Lodge

House
Farm

2

8

7

3

6

5

4

1

Ramsey Proposed
Conservation Area

±0 90 180
Metres

Views

Figure 40 Key Views Map

P
age 208



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3333

3.5 Setting of the Conservation Area 

The	NPPF	describes	the	setting	of	a	heritage	asset	as:	

“The	surroundings	in	which	a	heritage	asset	is	experienced.	Its	extent	is	not	fixed	
and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting 
may	make	a	positive	or	negative	contribution	to	the	significance	of	an	asset,	may	
affect	the	ability	to	appreciate	that	significance	or	may	be	neutral.”

Historic England Good Practice Advice Note on the Setting of Heritage Assets 
(2017) indicates that the setting of a heritage asset is the surroundings in which the 
asset	is	experienced.	It	notes	‘Where	that	experience	is	capable	of	being	affected	
by	a	proposed	development	(in	any	way)	then	the	proposed	development	can	be	
said	to	affect	the	setting	of	that	asset’.	Historic	England’s	advice	note	on	setting	
includes	a:	“(non-exhaustive)	check-list	of	potential	attributes	of	a	setting	that	may	
help	to	elucidate	its	contribution	to	significance’.		As	the	advice	note	states,	‘only	a	
limited	selection	of	the	attributes	listed	will	be	of	a	particular	relevance	to	an	asset.”	
This	checklist	has	been	used	to	inform	this	assessment.	

Despite	several	areas	of	modern	development	extending	beyond	the	Conservation	
Area’s	boundaries,	both	to	the	north-east	and	south-west	of	the	village,	the	
historically rural and agricultural setting of the Conservation Area remains almost 
entirely intact. 

The	historic	village	grew	as	a	ribbon	settlement	along	the	main	road	from	Harwich	
to Colchester, and the areas of modern development continue this trend. The 
village	is	still	visibly	distinct	and	separate	from	any	larger	nearby	settlements,	it	has	
not	been	coalesced	into	the	growing	residential	areas	of	Harwich	in	the	same	way,	
for example, that Dovercourt or Parkeston have. 

The	agrarian	landscape	surrounding	Ramsey	has	not	been	impinged	upon,	with	
the	notable	exception	of	the	A120,	which	runs	to	the	south-east	of	the	Conservation	
Area,	and	detracts	from	its	setting,	both	audibly	and	visually.	The	A120	also	
physically	severs	the	village’s	historic	connection	with	the	church	and	hall	complex	
to	the	east	(although	the	location	of	the	road	in	the	valley	of	the	creek	prevents	it	
from	being	a	visual	barrier).	When	within	the	Conservation	Area	the	A120	is	also	
experienced to a lesser extent. 

The wider setting of the Conservation Area further reinforces its agrarian location 
and	the	functional	relationship	its	agricultural	industry	(specifically	the	windmill)	had	
with	the	surrounding	landscape.	Multiple	footpaths	through	the	village	led	to	nearby	
farms;	Radfords	Farm	to	the	north,	Stourwood	Farm	to	the	north-west	and	Mill	
Farm	to	the	south	are	all	connected	to	the	village	in	this	manner	on	the	first	edition	
Ordnance Survey map.

The	setting	of	the	Conservation	Area	contributes	substantially	to	its	significance,	
and	the	topography	contributes	to	how	that	significance	is	revealed.	The	village’s	
presence	on	the	western	side	of	the	creek	valley,	as	described	above,	provides	
key views of the windmill and the Conservation Area generally, all of which further 
highlight and underline its agrarian setting and historical context.

P
age 209



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3434

Although linear and elongated in form, the Conservation Area is quite enclosed 
and	feels	secluded,	despite	the	nearby	A120.	The	Street	is	narrow	and	winding,	
and	many	of	the	historic	buildings	are	tight	up	against	it,	with	only	occasional	
development	set	further	back	from	the	roadside.	The	exception	to	this	is	the	
windmill and its associated complex, which, as discussed previously, is positioned 
on	higher-ground	above	the	village.

Although detrimental to the setting of the Conservation Area, the construction of the 
A120	has	contributed	to	the	character	and	layout	of	the	area	surviving	as	it	has.	If	
The	Street	had	remained	the	main	road	between	Harwich	port	and	Colchester	it	is	
difficult	to	imagine	the	narrow,	enclosed	nature	of	the	Conservation	Area	surviving	
as it does today.

Figure 41 View towards the Conservation Area from its setting from the south

P
age 210



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3535

4. Opportunities for Enhancement

The	following	opportunities	for	enhancement	have	been	identified	and	are	
summarised	below	in	brief.	The	list	is	in	no	way	exhaustive	and	neither	are	some	
of	the	opportunities	identified	unique	to	Ramsey	with	many	being	shared	with	other	
Conservation Areas.

4.1 Road Traffic and Parking

The	A120	bypasses	Ramsey	and	as	a	result	there	is	little	traffic	travelling	through	
the	village.	Many	of	the	buildings	front	directly	onto	the	street	which	results	in	a	high	
amount of on-street parking. Cars parked in the road detract from the character 
and	appearance	of	the	Conservation	Area.	This	is	considered	to	be	an	issue	and	
one where there is no apparent solution. The lack of transport connections, such 
as	rail,	to	the	settlement	means	reliance	on	the	car	will	likely	be	required	for	the	
foreseeable	future.	

One	of	the	future	challenges	for	the	Conservation	Area,	as	there	will	be	a	transition	
to	electric	cars,	is	the	siting	of	charging	points.	As	many	of	the	buildings	in	the	
Conservation Area do not have driveways, the siting of charging points will require 
consideration	and	a	suitable	bespoke	solution	that	does	not	detract	from	the	
streetscene.  

4.2 Interpretation

There	is	no	interpretation	offered	within	the	settlement.	However,	with	exception	
of	the	public	footpath,		it	is	unlikely	Ramsey	receives	many	visitors.	As	such	
there is a limited need for interpretation within the settlement. Furthermore there 
are few locations in the settlement which could accommodate features such as 

interpretation	boards,	one	possible	location	may	include	the	triangular	land	in	the	
centre	of	the	road	junction.			

Ramsey	does	suffer	from	a	dearth	of	easily	accessible	history.	As	many	of	the	
historic	buildings	in	the	Conservation	Area	have	been	altered,	it	is	not	apparent	
what	many	buildings	functioned	as	or	their	origins.	Research	into	Ramsey,	and	its	
post	medieval	history,	would	further	reveal	the	significance	of	this	settlement	which	
may	assist	in	its	significance	being	further	valued	in	managing	future	change	here.			

4.3 Loss of Architectural Details

Many	of	the	buildings	in	Ramsey	have	been	adversely	altered	which	has	resulted	
in	loss	of	architectural	details.	Where	possible,	opportunities	should	be	considered	
for reinstatement of traditional features. This will incrementally enhance the 
Conservation Area.    

Many	windows	in	the	Conservation	Area	are	of	a	traditional	timber	framed	form	but	
there	are	a	regrettably	high	number	of	uPVC	replacement	windows.	These	are	of	
a	poor	quality	material	which	cannot	be	used	to	sympathetically	reflect	traditional	
detailing	and	profiles,	and	often	historic	glazing	patterns	are	lost	when	windows	
are replaced. This detracts from the historic character and appearance of individual 
buildings	and	from	that	of	the	Conservation	Area	as	a	whole.	

Poor quality plastic, rather than traditional painted metal rainwater goods, are also 
found	on	many	buildings	in	the	Conservation	Area.	As	well	as	having	a	poor	quality	
appearance,	they	are	also	less	robust	than	traditional	metal	rainwater	goods	and	
may	be	at	higher	risk	of	failure	leading	to	the	risk	of	water	ingress	and	damage	to	
historic	fabric.

P
age 211



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3636

Traditional	slate	roofs	have	been	replaced	in	some	places	with	concrete	tiles	which	detracts	from	the	
architectural quality of the area. There are also unfortunate instances in the Conservation Area where historic 
chimneys	have	been	partially	or	fully	removed.

Elevation	treatments	have	been	intrusively	altered	on	some	buildings	which	has	included	rendering	of	brick	such	
as	at	Numbers	1-6	The	Street.	

There are three terraces of nineteenth century workers cottages in the Conservation Area. These would have 
been	constructed	with	a	uniform	aesthetic.	Many	of	the	properties,	within	these	terraces	have	been	individually	
altered	externally,	detracting	from	the	group	composition.	Where	possible	there	would	be	an	enhancement	to	
reinstate uniform elevational treatments.  

The	windmill	is	one	of	the	key	structures	of	the	Conservation	Area	and	its	environs	could	be	enhanced.	The	
former	Miller’s	House,	adjacent	to	Ramsey	Windmill,	has	been	subject	to	extensive	change	in	recent	years	which	
has changed the character of the structure and adversely altered its traditional aesthetic in prominent views of 
windmill. Boundary fencing to the windmill is also intrusive to the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area.  

The	reinstatement	and	replacement	or	recent	additions	with	more	traditional	forms	of	timber	and	brick	boundary	
treatments would have a positive impact on the street scene.

Enhancement	can	be	realised	through	incremental	changes	when	opportunities	are	presented,	likely	through	
maintenance. This could include appropriate window replacement and addressing inappropriate render.

The images on the following pages show a comparison of the Conservation Area in the early twentieth century 
and today. The images show the extent to which the area has changed. The images can also help identify what 
character	defining	feature	and	architectural	details	could	be	reinstated	as	enhancements	to	individual	buildings	
and the wider aesthetic.  

Figure 42 View A

P
age 212



Ramsey Conservation Area

37 © Place Services 2023 

Meadows

Misty

Belmont
Noyna

Old Barn

Old BakeryEl

3.4
m

2

Swan Ho

Meadow

Cott
ag

e

MillOld

Sixty Five
Rose Cottage

Shelter

Revan

2BACK

Mill Field

Valley
Cottage

LANE

(PH)

6.6m

1

Netherlea

M
ar

sh
 V

ie
w

Hart

MAIN ROAD

School

GP

2.3m

Nelson

21

Bunnyfields

Cottage

The Castle

Ramsey

Bridge
1

Cotswood

1

1

8

18

17

12

Ch

29

28

Mills
ton

e

Sunnybank

Little Acre

Hollytrees

2

THE STREET

1

10

6 Tabarly

View

Denrosa

Coldrennick

Kasadoro

Mill View

Cottages

Flam
borough

Cottage

Andalucia Old

Cherries

Four Seasons
Ambleside

The Hide House

2

Abbeyfield

19
20

Drain

Bridgefoot Farm

Track

Brook House

Willowfields

24

27

W
RA

BN
ES

S 
RO

AD

Ford

Eboli House

Primrose Cottage

FB

House

The
Windmill

Windmill

18.3m

White

14.3m

The
Lodge

House

I J

L

F

B

E

A

K

C

D

H

G

Ramsey Proposed
Conservation Area

±0 30 60
Metres

Historic Views

Figure 43 Historic Views Map

P
age 213



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3838

Figure 44 View B Figure 45 View C Figure 46 View D

P
age 214



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 3939

Figure 47 View E Figure 48 View F Figure 49 View G

P
age 215



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4040

Figure 50 View H Figure 51 View I Figure 52 View J

P
age 216



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4141

Figure 53 View K Figure 54 View L Figure 55 View M

P
age 217



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4242

4.4 Public Realm 

Street Furniture

There is minimal street furniture in the Conservation Area. This is positive and 
the lack of modern features such as signs, lampposts and other paraphernalia 
contributes	to	the	character	of	the	street	scene.	Unless	required	for	safety,	or	
compliance	with	highways	regulations,	additional	street	furniture	should	be	resisted.				

Hard Landscaping 

Road and pavement surfaces are generally of tarmac throughout the Conservation 
Area. The narrow and secondary nature of Wix Road/The Street has meant it is 
largely	void	of	road	markings.	There	is	also	limited	paving	flanking	the	road.	The	
underdeveloped	road	makes	a	positive	contribution	to	the	Conservation	Area	and	is	
similar	to	the	track/lane	that	would	have	historically	been	observed	here.	

Buck Lane and Cherry Lane are roughly surfaced. Should the surface treatment 
be	upgraded	in	the	future,	this	should	be	in	keeping	with	the	character	of	the	
streetscape.  

4.5 Unsympathetic additions 

There	are	some	instances	where	solar	panels	have	been	applied	to	either	front	
or	prominent	pitches	of	buildings	in	the	Conservation	Area.	The	ability	to	retrofit	
buildings	and	take	advantage	of	renewable	energy	is	becoming	increasingly	
important.	When	future	proposals	come	forward,	these	should	be	approached	in	

a manner which causes the least harm, and ideally no harm, to the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area.

There are few instances of modern paraphernalia, such as satellite dishes, 
attached	to	buildings	in	the	Conservation	Area	and	this	should	be	resisted	in	
prominent or street-facing locations.

4.6 Opportunities for Development

Not all modern development in and around the Conservation Area is inappropriate, 
however,	there	are	a	number	of	examples	of	post-war	infill	and	back	land	
development within the Conservation Area, and within its immediate setting, which 
have had a negative impact on its historic village character and appearance. 
One of the adverse characteristics of post war development is the relationship 
to	The	Street.	Traditionally	buildings	fronted	direct	onto	the	street	and	modern	
development	is	in	contrast	setback,	mainly	to	accommodate	driveways,	which	
detracts from the streetscene and general character.  

There are limited opportunities for redevelopment in the Conservation Area, largely 
due	to	the	lack	of	vacant	plots	and	the	tight-knit	development	flanking	the	road.	

The car park to the Castle Inn is one of the few vacant plots in the Conservation 
Area. There is opportunity to aesthetically enhance this space which would likely 
include	the	introduction	of	boundary	treatment	and	landscaping.	

P
age 218



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4343

5. Management Proposals

This section seeks to recommend management proposals which address these in 
both	the	short	and	long	term.

5.1 Positive Management

The	first	set	of	proposals	relate	to	positive	management	and	focus	on	good	
practice and improved ways of working with the Local Planning Authority. These 
are	generally	low	cost	and	can	be	implemented	within	a	short	timeframe,	typically	
within one or two years. 

Local Resident Engagement

The	main	issue	identified	with	the	Conservation	Area	is	the	adverse	alterations	
which	have	happened	to	a	large	proportion	of	the	building	stock.	Because	of	the	
lack	of	public	realm,	the	main	enhancements	to	the	Conservation	Area	are	in	
control	of	the	local	residents	and	as	such	will	only	be	realised	incrementally.

It is recommended that Tendring District Council provide a workshop for residents 
of	the	Conservation	Area	where	they	can	discuss	bespoke	aesthetic	changes	to	
historic properties that would encourage improvements to the wider character and 
appearance.		This	could	be	partnered	with	a	leaflet	for	residents	informing	them	of	
maintenance	and	general	improvements	which	can	be	achieved.			

Local Heritage List

Tendring District Council is in the process of developing the local heritage list. 
Suggestions	have	been	made	within	this	document	of	buildings	to	be	considered	
for inclusion on this list.

Article 4 Directions 

Article	4	Directions	are	additional	planning	controls	which	can	be	introduced	
by	a	Local	Planning	Authority	to	revoke	certain	Permitted	Development	Rights.	
Permitted	Development	Rights	allow	building	owners	to	carry	out	certain	works	to	
their properties without the need for planning permission and are set out within the 
General	Permitted	Development	Order	(GPDO).	

Article 4 Directions served on properties within the Conservation Area would 
introduce the need to apply for planning permission for certain works and this would 
allow	the	Council	to	better	preserve	and	enhance	the	area	by	ensuring	high	quality	
design and use of traditional materials. An example of an Article 4 Direction that 
would	be	beneficial	would	be	the	removal	of	Class	A	of	the	GPDO	which	would	limit	
changes	to	front	elevations	of	buildings	such	as	replacement	windows	and	doors.	

Enforcement 

Where the necessary permission is not sought for alterations which are not 
contained within the General Permitted Development Order, the Local Planning 
Authority should consider its enforcement powers. This could assist in reinstating 
any lost character or architectural features whose loss may have a negative 
cumulative	effect	on	the	Conservation	Area,	as	well	as	avoiding	a	precedent	being	
set for similar, uncharacteristic works. 

P
age 219



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4444

Heritage Statements, Heritage Impact Assessments and Archaeological 
Assessments 

In	accordance	with	the	NPPF	(Para.194),	applicants	must	describe	the	significance	
of	any	heritage	assets	affected,	including	any	contribution	made	by	their	setting.	
The	level	of	detail	should	be	proportionate	to	the	assets’	importance	and	no	
more	than	is	sufficient	to	understand	the	potential	impact	of	the	proposal	on	their	
significance.	

All applications within the Conservation Area and immediate setting require an 
appropriately detailed Heritage Statement. Any application without a Heritage 
Statement	should	not	be	validated.	This	includes	development	outside	the	
Conservation	Area.	Where	appropriate,	views	must	be	considered	within	Design	
and	Access	or	Heritage	Statements.	This	should	be	in	accordance	with	Historic	
England’s	Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 3: The Setting of Heritage Assets 
(2017). Applications which fail to have assessed any impact upon views and setting 
should	not	be	validated.	

The key views analysed within this document are in no way exhaustive. The impact 
of	any	addition,	alteration	or	removal	of	buildings,	structures,	trees	or	highways	on	
key	views	should	be	considered	to	aid	decision	making.	This	includes	development	
outside	the	Conservation	Area.	Where	appropriate,	views	must	be	considered	
within	Design	and	Access	or	Heritage	Statements.	This	should	be	in	accordance	
with	Historic	England’s Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 3: The Setting 
of Heritage Assets (2017). Applications which fail to have assessed any impact 
upon	views	and	setting	should	not	be	validated.	This	is	particularly	important	for	
the development of any sites allocated for development as part of the Local Plan 
process	as	the	change	to	the	setting	of	the	Conservation	Area	should	be	fully	
assessed, understood and, where necessary, mitigated.

New Development 

There is limited opportunity for development within the Conservation Area and its 
immediate	environs.	To	be	successful,	any	future	development	needs	to	be	mindful	
of the local character of the Conservation Area, while at the same time addressing 
contemporary	issues	such	as	sustainability.	

Historic England and CABE guidelines state that successful new development will: 

• Relate	to	the	geography	and	history	of	the	place	and	the	lie	of	the	land;	

•  Sit happily in the pattern of existing development and routes through and 
around	it	(including	public	footpaths);	

• 	Respect	important	views;	

• 	Respect	the	scale	of	neighbouring	buildings;	

• 	Use	materials	and	building	methods	as	high	in	quality	of	those	used	in	existing	
buildings;	and	

• 	Create	new	views	and	juxtapositions	which	add	to	the	variety	and	texture	of	
their setting. 

• Tendring	District	Council	should	guide	development	in	a	positive	manner	by:	

•  Engaging with developers at an early stage through the Pre-Application 
Process and Local Plan Process to ensure modern development is high quality 
in design, detail and materials. 

P
age 220



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4545

•  Ensuring medium-large scale development schemes are referred to a Design 
Review	(or	similar)	to	ensure	that	new	buildings,	additions	and	alterations	are	
designed	to	be	in	sympathy	with	the	established	character	of	the	area.	The	
choice	of	materials	and	the	detailed	design	of	building	features	are	important	in	
making	sure	it’s	appropriate	to	a	conservation	area.	

• 	Seeking	opportunities	for	developers	to	make	a	positive	contribution	to	the	
wider historic environment through Section 106 Agreements. 

Neutral Elements 

The	dilution	of	positive	buildings	amongst	those	which	are	neutral	leads	to	an	
underwhelming and indistinctive overall character. Tendring District Council must 
not	allow	for	the	quality	of	design	to	be	‘averaged	down’	by	the	neutral	and	negative	
elements	of	the	built	environment.	Officers	must,	where	possible,	seek	schemes	
which	enhance	the	built	environment.

Publically Accessible Resources 

The	preservation	and	enhancement	of	private	properties	can	be	improved	through	
the	publication	of	resources	aimed	to	inform	property	owners	and	members	of	the	
public.	An	introductory	summary	of	the	Conservation	Area	Appraisal	in	the	form	
of	a	leaflet	or	factsheet(s)	is	a	simple	way	to	communicate	the	significance	of	the	
area	and	ensure	members	of	the	public	are	aware	of	the	implications	of	owning	a	
property within a Conservation Area. Poor maintenance leads to the deterioration 
of	the	fabric	of	the	built	environment	and	results	in	a	loss	of	architectural	details.	
Improved	awareness	of	simple	maintenance	and	repair	would	be	conducive	to	the	
preservation	of	Ramsey’s	built	heritage.

5.2 Positive Management: Longer Term

These	proposals	are	focused	around	positive	management	but	either	take	longer	to	
implement	or	are	better	suited	to	a	longer	time	frame.

Conservation Area Boundary

Revisions	to	the	Conservation	Area	boundary	have	been	proposed	within	this	
appraisal	in	accordance	with	the	NPPF	(2021)	and	Historic	England	Advice	Note	1:	
Conservation	Area	Appraisal,	Designation	and	Management	(2019).

The	Conservation	Area	should	be	reviewed	regularly	to	monitor	change	and	inform	
management	proposals.	The	boundary	should	be	assessed	as	part	of	this	review	to	
ensure	it	is	robust	and	adequately	protects	the	significance	of	the	area.

Character Appraisal and Management Plan 

The	Conservation	Area	Character	Appraisal	should	be	reviewed	regularly	to	
monitor change and inform amendments and additions to the Management Plan. 

Public Realm and Highways 

Collaboration	between	the	Highways	Department	and	Local	Planning	Authority	
should ensure the maintenance and replacement programme for street furniture 
(including	lampposts)	and	hard	surfacing	reflects	the	character	and	local	
distinctiveness of the Conservation Area. 

P
age 221



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4646

Improved Understanding and Awareness 

At	present	there	is	no	interpretation	(information	boards,	signage,	interactive	
QR Codes) within the Conservation Area aimed at improving understanding and 
awareness.	This	would	be	an	effective	way	to	improve	awareness	and	establish	the	
identity of  Ramsey as a historic settlement.

5.3 Funding Opportunities

Much	of	the	Conservation	Area	is	formed	of	private	residential	buildings	with	little	
opportunity	for	funding.	Dependant	on	future	use,	Ramsey	Windmill	may	be	a	
consideration for future funding proposals. There are three main sources of funding: 

National Heritage Lottery Fund (NLHF)

The	NLHF	is	the	single	largest	dedicated	funder	of	heritage	in	the	UK	and	therefore	
is	the	most	obvious	potential	source	of	funding.	Funding	is	often	targeted	at	
schemes	which	preserve,	enhance	and	better	reveal	the	special	interest	of	the	area	
whilst	also	improving	public	awareness	and	understanding.	Grant	opportunities	
and requirements change over time, for up-to-date information on NHLF schemes 
Tendring District Council should consult their appointed Heritage Specialist.

Section 106 Agreements

Planning	obligations,	also	known	as	Section	106	agreements,	can	be	used	by	
the local authority to ensure any future development has a positive impact upon 
Ramsey.	These	agreements	could	be	used	to	fund	public	realm	or	site	specific	
improvements.

Partnership Schemes in Conservation Areas (Historic England)

Partnership	Schemes	in	Conservation	Areas	is	a	programme	run	by	Historic	
England to target funding for the preservation and enhancement of conservation 
areas. As the name suggests, the scheme forms partnerships with local authorities 
(along	with	any	additional	funding	partners)	to	facilitate	the	regeneration	of	an	area	
through	the	conservation	of	its	built	heritage.	The	scheme	makes	funds	available	
to	individuals	to	enable	them	to	carry	out	repairs	or	improvement	works	to	their	
property to enhance the area.  

P
age 222



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4747

Figure 56 Ramsey viewed from the creek, c.1980s

P
age 223



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4848

6. Appendices

6.1 Bibliography

Publications

J	Bettley	and	N	Pevsner,	Essex	(Pevsner	Architectural	Guides:	Buildings	of	England),	(Yale	University	Press),	2007	

Tendring	District	Council	Conservation	Area	Review:	Ramsey	Conservation	Area	(March	2006)

Tendring	District	Historic	Environment	Characterisation	Project,	Essex	County	Council	(2008)	

Tendring	Geodiversity	Characterisation	Report,	Essex	County	Council	(2009)	

Webpages

www.harwichanddovercourt.com

Archives

Essex	Record	Office	(ERO)

Historic	Environment	Record	(Essex	County	Council)

P
age 224



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 4949

6.2 Legislation, Policy and Guidance

LEGISLATION/POLICY/GUIDANCE DOCUMENT SECTION/POLICY
Primary Legislation Planning	(Listed	Buildings	and	Conservation	Areas)	

Act 1990
66:	General	duty	as	respects	listed	buildings	in	
exercise of planning functions.

72: General duty as respects conservation areas in 
exercise of planning functions.

National Planning Policy National	Planning	Policy	Framework	(2021)	DLUGH Section	16;

Annex 2
National Guidance National	Planning	Practice	Guidance	(2014)	DLUGH ID: 18a
National Guidance Historic	England	(2017)	Good	Practice	Advice	in	

Planning	Note	3	(Second	Edition):	The	Setting	of	
Heritage Assets

National Guidance English	Heritage	(2019)	Conservation	Principles,	
Policies and Guidance

Local Policy Tendring	District	Council	Local	Plan	(2007)	 QL9 – Design of New Development 

QL11	–	Environmental	Impacts	and	Compatibility	of	
Uses

EN1- Landscape Character 

EN17- Conservation Areas 

EN20- Demolition within Conservation Areas 

EN21- Demolition of Listed Buildings 

EN22- Extension and Alterations to Listed Buildings 

EN23- Development within the Proximity of a Listed 
Building

P
age 225



Ramsey Conservation Area

© Place Services 2023 5050

6.3 Glossary

Term Description
Archaeological interest There	will	be	archaeological	interest	in	a	heritage	asset	if	it	holds,	or	potentially	may	hold,	evidence	of	past	human	activity	

worthy of expert investigation at some point. Heritage assets with archaeological interest are the primary source of evidence 
about	the	substance	and	evolution	of	places,	and	of	the	people	and	cultures	that	made	them.

Conservation	(for	heritage	policy) The process of maintaining and managing change to a heritage asset in a way that sustains and, where appropriate, 
enhances	its	significance.

Designated heritage asset A World Heritage Site, Scheduled Monument, Listed Building, Protected Wreck Site, Registered Park and Garden, 
Registered	Battlefield	or	Conservation	Area	designated	under	the	relevant	legislation.

Heritage asset A	building,	monument,	site,	place,	area	or	landscape	identified	as	having	a	degree	of	significance	meriting	consideration	
in	planning	decisions,	because	of	its	heritage	interest.	Heritage	asset	includes	designated	heritage	assets	and	assets	
identified	by	the	local	planning	authority	(including	local	listing).

Historic environment All	aspects	of	the	environment	resulting	from	the	interaction	between	people	and	places	through	time,	including	all	surviving	
physical	remains	of	past	human	activity,	whether	visible,	buried	or	submerged,	and	landscaped	and	planted	or	managed	
flora.

Historic environment record Information services that seek to provide access to comprehensive and dynamic resources relating to the historic 
environment	of	a	defined	geographic	area	for	public	benefit	and	use.

Setting of a heritage asset The	surroundings	in	which	a	heritage	asset	is	experienced.	Its	extent	is	not	fixed	and	may	change	as	the	asset	and	its	
surroundings	evolve.	Elements	of	a	setting	may	make	a	positive	or	negative	contribution	to	the	significance	of	an	asset,	may	
affect	the	ability	to	appreciate	that	significance	or	may	be	neutral.

Significance	(for	heritage	policy) The	value	of	a	heritage	asset	to	this	and	future	generations	because	of	its	heritage	interest.	That	interest	may	be	
archaeological,	architectural,	artistic	or	historic.	Significance	derives	not	only	from	a	heritage	asset’s	physical	presence,	but	
also from its setting.

P
age 226



Place Services
County Hall, Essex CM1 1QH

T: +44 (0)3330 136 844
E: enquiries @placeservices.co.uk

www.placeservices.co.uk

 @PlaceServices

P
age 227



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	5 Public Speaking
	6 Report of the Director (Planning) - A.1 - Conservation Area Character Appraisal and Management Plans for Great Clacton, Lawford, Bradfield and Ramsey
	A.1.  CONSERVATION AREA CHARACTER APPRAISAL AND MANAGEMENT PLANS FOR Great Clacton, Lawford, Bradfield and Ramsey
	(Report prepared by William Fuller)
	PART 1 – KEY INFORMATION
	PART 2 – IMPLICATIONS OF THE DECISION
	PART 3 – SUPPORTING INFORMATION
	A1 Appendix 1 Great Clacton Conservation Area
	1.	Introduction
	1.1	Summary
	1.2	Purpose of Appraisal
	1.3	Planning Policy and Guidance
	1.4	Designation of the Conservation Area
	1.5	Proposed Boundary Revision

	2.	Great Clacton Conservation Area
	2.1	 Context and General Character
	2.2	 Origin and Evolution
	2.3	Designated Heritage Assets
	2.4	Non-Designated Heritage Assets
	2.5	Heritage at Risk
	2.6	Archaeological Potential

	3.	Assessment of Significance
	3.1	Summary
	3.2	Significance of buildings
	3.3	Character Analysis
	3.4	Views
	3.5	Setting of the Conservation Area 

	4.		Opportunities for Enhancement
	4.1	Road Traffic
	4.2	Interpretation
	4.3	Vacant Buildings
	4.4	Loss of Architectural Details
	4.5	Public Realm
	4.6	Unsympathetic additions
	4.7	Inappropriate Modern Development
	4.8	Neutral Contributors

	5.	Management Proposals
	5.1	Positive Management
	5.2	Positive Management: Longer Term
	5.3	Funding Opportunities

	6.	Appendices
	6.1	Designated Heritage Assets
	6.2	Bibliography
	6.3	Legislation, Policy and Guidance
	6.4	Glossary 


	A1 Appendix 2 Lawford Conservation Area
	A1 Appendix 3 Bradfield Conservation Area
	1.	Introduction
	1.1	 Summary
	1.2	Purpose of Appraisal
	1.3	Planning Policy and Guidance
	1.4	Designation of the Conservation Area
	1.5	Boundary Revision

	2.	Bradfield Conservation Area
	2.1	Context and General Character
	2.2	Origin and Evolution
	2.3	Designated Heritage Assets
	2.4	Non-Designated Heritage Assets
	2.5	Heritage at Risk
	2.6	Archaeological Potential

	3.	Assessment of Significance
	3.1	Summary
	3.2	Significance of buildings
	3.3	Character Analysis
	3.4	Views
	3.5	Setting of the Conservation Area 

	4.	Opportunities for Enhancement
	4.1	Car Parking
	4.2	Unsympathetic Alterations and Development
	4.3	Maintenance
	4.4	Interpretation
	4.5	Public Realm 
	4.6	Opportunity Sites

	5.	 Management Proposals
	5.1	Positive Management
	5.2	Positive Management: Longer Term
	5.3	Funding Opportunities

	6.	Appendices
	6.1	Bibliography
	6.2	Frequently Asked Questions
	6.3	Legislation, Policy and Guidance
	6.4	Glossary


	A1 Appendix 4 Ramsey Conservation Area
	1.	Introduction
	1.1	 Summary
	1.2	Purpose of Appraisal
	1.3	Planning Policy and Guidance
	1.4	Designation of the Conservation Area
	1.5	Boundary Revision

	2.	Ramsey Conservation Area
	2.1	Context and General Character
	2.2	Origin and Evolution
	2.3	Designated Heritage Assets
	2.4	Non-Designated Heritage Assets
	2.5	Heritage at Risk
	2.6	Archaeological Potential

	3.	Assessment of Significance
	3.1	Summary
	3.2	Significance of buildings
	3.3	Character Analysis
	3.4	Views
	3.5	Setting of the Conservation Area 

	4.	Opportunities for Enhancement
	4.1	Road Traffic and Parking
	4.2	Interpretation
	4.3	Loss of Architectural Details
	4.4	Public Realm 
	4.5	Unsympathetic additions 
	4.6	Opportunities for Development

	5.	Management Proposals
	5.1	Positive Management
	5.2	Positive Management: Longer Term
	5.3	Funding Opportunities

	6.	Appendices
	6.1	Bibliography
	6.2	Legislation, Policy and Guidance
	6.3	Glossary




